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1                THE COURT:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. 

2                THE ATTORNEYS:  Good morning. 

3                THE COURT:  Thanks.  The mother in me appreciates 

4  your response. 

5                We're going to handle this as best we can, one 

6  client at a time.  We are going to observe all the normal 

7  courthouse rules that I have, and I think they've been 

8  explained to you.  But my staff will be glad to help you out in 

9  explaining that if it's necessary. 

10                Since it would take us till tomorrow to call each 

11  case name individually, we will try to do things where we can 

12  as a block.  Where we cannot, we will do them individually. 

13  Bear with us as we work through this process.  It is absolutely 

14  essential that we give everyone the opportunity to have their 

15  information provided to the Court so the Court can do its job. 

16                I want to thank the lawyers for working 
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17  together.  I want to thank my staff for working under these 

18  unusual circumstances.  And with that, I want to make sure that 

19  the attorneys in the city auditorium understand that they will 

20  be given the opportunity to ask questions.  They may have to do 

21  it from there, but we're going to work with that.  And I think 

22  that the procedure for that has been explained to them in the 

23  auditorium.  And the District Clerk for Tom Green County is 

24  standing by over there to assist the Court in processing 

25  attorneys and questioning that they need to do.
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1                With that, the Court will call Cause Numbers 2779 

2  through 2904, styled, "In the Interest of a Child," filed 

3  within the 51st Judicial District Court of Schleicher County. 

4  Court is sitting today in Tom Green County pursuant to its 

5  enabling statute. 

6                The purposes of today's hearing is for the Court 

7  to conduct the statutory required 14-day hearing.  With that, 

8  will all the parties that intend to testify please rise. 

9                All right.  Wait.  No, no, raise your right 

10  hands. 

11                MR. BANKS:  Judge -- 

12                THE COURT:  We'll swear them when they come in. 

13                Raise your right hands.  Do you solemnly swear 

14  that the evidence you may give in the cause now on trial will 

15  be the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so 

16  help you God?  I will? 

17                THE WITNESSES:  (Affirmative responses.) 

18                THE COURT:  Thank you very much.  Please have a 

19  seat. 
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20                The Department has the burden of proof.  With 

21  that, the Court will ask the Department's lead attorney, please 

22  take position at the podium.  And we will use a podium instead 

23  of the counsel table.  As attorneys approach the podium, and 

24  when they begin their examination, I will ask them to please 

25  state their name for the record.  Thank you.
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1                MS. GRIFFITH:  Ellen Griffith for the Department 

2  of Family and Protective Services.  Your Honor, very briefly, 

3  the Department is asking the Court to continue the Department 

4  as the temporary managing conservator of the children; asking 

5  that genetic samples be collected from each adult in this case 

6  and be compared to each child in this case; asking that each of 

7  the parents undergo, be ordered to participate in certain 

8  services, including psychiatric or psychological evaluations, 

9  family or individual counseling and parenting instruction, and 

10  asking for an order permitting the Department to place children 

11  outside of the five-county area that we are currently under. 

12                And with that, Your Honor, I'd like to call my 

13  first witness.  Marc Connelly. 

14                THE COURT:  Mr. Connelly. 

15                MR. TABET:  Judge, if I may. 

16                THE COURT:  I'm sorry, sir, would you tell me who 

17  you are, please. 

18                THE WITNESS:  My name is Charles Tabet. 

19  T-A-B-E-T.  I represent two of the children and I have a not 

20  ready motion.  May I have it heard before we begin the case? 

21                THE COURT:  Would you approach the podium, 

22  please. 
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23                MR. TABET:  Thank you. 

24                THE COURT:  If you would just have a seat up 

25  here, please.
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1                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Sure.  Your Honor, as he 

2  approaches -- 

3                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  I will recognize 

4  individuals.  Have a seat, ma'am.  I'm -- we're taking with 

5  this. 

6                Now, let me make it very clear.  Unless I 

7  recognize you, you may stand up as any lawyer may, to indicate 

8  that you have an objection.  Only the lawyers can stand up.  If 

9  you stand up, I will get to you as quickly as I can.  But we're 

10  not going to have people just jumping up and down and shouting 

11  out at the Court. 

12                Sir, you may approach the podium. 

13                MR. TABET:  Thank you. 

14                May I approach the bench for a second, Judge? 

15                THE COURT:  Well, approaching the bench creates 

16  all sorts of problems. 

17                MR. TABET:  I just wanted to give -- 

18                THE COURT:  If you have something you want the 

19  Court to have, if you will give it to the Clerk, please, or the 

20  Bailiff. 

21                MR. TABET:  Thank you. 

22                Hold on, sir.  One more. 

23                (Bailiff handed papers to the Court.) 

24                THE COURT:  Your motions are overruled. 

25                MR. TABET:  I would like for all three motions,
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1  Judge. 

2                THE COURT:  I said your motions are overruled. 

3  Please have a seat. 

4                MR. TABET:  Thank you, Judge. 

5                MS. O'TOOLE:  Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am? 

7                MS. O'TOOLE:  May I approach?  My name is Polly 

8  Ray O'Toole and I represent one of the children, and a group of 

9  other attorney ad litems who have asked me to make certain 

10  objections on their behalf. 

11                THE COURT:  All right. 

12                MS. O'TOOLE:  Your Honor, as I stated, my name is 

13  Polly Ray O'Toole, and I'm the attorney ad litem for Viola 

14  Spencer Barlow. 

15                Subject to any appearances that have been filed, 

16  both general and special, I'm representing to the Court that 

17  the attorney ad litems who have signed exhibit one purple now 

18  tender to the Court, assert the following objections. 

19                We object to jurisdiction, defects in service and 

20  lack of notice, denial of due process and equal protection for 

21  our clients under the Constitution.  As an officer of the 

22  Court, I've been advised by the attorney ad litem on exhibit 

23  one purple that they join me in making the following objection. 

24                We object to the format of this hearing on the 

25  ground that it does not meet the requirements of Texas Family
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1  Code Section 262.201.  Section 262.201 entitles each individual 

2  child that we represent to a full adversarial hearing.  There 

3  is no exception to this requirement in the statute. 

4                The format of this hearing does not satisfy the 

5  requirement of the statute, and consequently deprives my 

6  eight-year-old client and the minor clients of the attorneys 

7  representing the children listed on exhibit one purple. 

8                This hearing is not fully adversarial for the 

9  following non-existent, non-exhaustive lists of reasons.  Each 

10  child is not being provided the opportunity to present evidence 

11  and each child's attorney is not being provided an opportunity 

12  to present evidence on behalf of their -- 

13                THE COURT:  Wait. 

14                MS. O'TOOLE:  -- individual clients. 

15                THE COURT:  Wait.  Could you -- how do you know 

16  you're not going to have that opportunity? 

17                MS. O'TOOLE:  Well, Your Honor, some of the 

18  attorneys aren't even permitted to be in the courtroom.  We're 

19  not being offered the opportunity to call witnesses. 

20                THE COURT:  No.  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  Who's told 

21  you you don't have the opportunity to call witnesses? 

22                MS. O'TOOLE:  From the -- 

23                THE COURT:  Just.  Let me -- just stop. 

24                MS. O'TOOLE:  Yes. 

25                THE COURT:  I understand my courtroom has limited
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1  space.  We have set up an alternative courtroom that has 

2  communication between the Court.  There are microphones and the 

3  ability for lawyers to call witnesses and to present evidence. 
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4                It is my intention to allow the attorneys to have 

5  that opportunity.  And I think that maybe your objections are a 

6  bit premature.  I've not -- have I prevented anyone from 

7  calling a witness yet -- 

8                MS. O'TOOLE:  No, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  -- at this point?  And I am in 

10  control of the order of the trial, is that not correct? 

11                MS. O'TOOLE:  Yes, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you.  And the first order of 

13  business would be for the Department to be calling their 

14  witnesses.  It is not an appropriate time for any lawyer to be 

15  saying they've been denied any rights, because I've not called 

16  your side of the case yet -- 

17                MS. O'TOOLE:  Yes, Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  -- other than the case in chief by 

19  the Department to begin. 

20                MS. O'TOOLE:  We simply, Your Honor, wanted to 

21  make our objections to the format of the hearing for the record 

22  before it began. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you very much.  Have a seat. 

24                MS. O'TOOLE:  May I be excused? 

25                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.
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1                Any other objections of that nature probably are 

2  premature and will not be entertained by the Court. 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  It's not an objection, 

4  Judge, it's a request made -- the other ad litems who weren't 

5  on her list, necessarily, can we be considered to have made the 

6  same objection and to have gotten the same ruling? 

Page 13



4-17-08 

7                THE COURT:  Well, you know, we have to balance 

8  the requirements in the statute that this hearing must be held 

9  within fourteen days.  Now, it's not a perfect solution and I 

10  wish I could give you a perfect solution, but there's not one. 

11                If you-all will bear with us, be patient, perhaps 

12  you will see that we do have a plan and that you will be 

13  allowed to represent your clients individually and to put on 

14  your client's best interest case as best you believe it.  And 

15  quite frankly, this is wasting time and preventing us to get to 

16  the point where you can do that very process. 

17                Now at the end of the day or the end of the week, 

18  we'll re-visit whether or not you think you've had an 

19  opportunity to adequately represent your child.  But it is my 

20  understanding that the Department's case in chief is applicable 

21  to every child.  And so because of judicial efficiency, we will 

22  hear the evidence from the Department and en masse.  The Court 

23  will then advise you of what we're going to do next.  So please 

24  have a seat. 

25                With that, are we ready to begin on behalf of the
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1  Department?   Where's -- sir? 

2                MR. TOWNS:  I apologize, Your Honor.  Cody Towns. 

3  I represent one of the children.  For the sake of efficiency, I 

4  would ask that the Court entertain that an objection made to 

5  any of the State's evidence by one be good for the -- all for 

6  the purposes of allowing us to proceed without several 

7  interjections -- objections, I'm sorry, to -- to the questions. 

8                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

9                Yes, ma'am? 
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10                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor, with all due respect, I 

11  am one of the ad litems representing the orange group.  And we 

12  would like to be able to assert objections on behalf of our 

13  group of similarly situated clients.  But we would not like to 

14  be considered that every objection applies to our group of 

15  similarly situated clients. 

16                THE COURT:  I understand.  I fully expect that 

17  every lawyer that feels that they need to make an objection 

18  will be standing and will have to, whether recognized for that 

19  purpose.  I don't know how to say, "me too" for you guys, but 

20  if that's what you want to do, to a certain extent, you can do 

21  that. 

22                Let's -- let's just see how this works, guys. 

23  Just give us a chance to get this going.  And as we go along, I 

24  admit it's not going to be perfect, and it may not be the way I 

25  would prefer to do it, but let's just try to start this process
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1  before you start saying it's not going to work. 

2                So to saying that you have a blanket objection, 

3  if anybody stands up, I don't know how I can do it.  Let's just 

4  wait till we get to that first objection and then we'll handle 

5  it.  Okay? 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I apologize, Your Honor. 

7                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Have a seat. 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Are you overruling 

9  my objection, Your Honor? 

10                THE COURT:  I don't think you made an objection. 

11  You requested to be allowed to have what's, in effect, a 

12  running objection.  And I don't know how to do that.  Please 
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13  have a seat. 

14                Yes, ma'am? 

15                MS. BALOVICH:  Your Honor, on behalf of Texas Rio 

16  Grande Legal Aid, Legal Aid of Northwest Texas, we did file a 

17  number of special exceptions this morning. 

18                THE COURT:  Ladies and gentlemen, this is an 

19  emergency temporary hearing.  You have not waived all of your 

20  rights.  The law requires that I hold this hearing within 

21  fourteen days of the removal of the children.  You still have 

22  the final hearings, if I keep the children. 

23                So let's -- let's get to what we have to do.  We 

24  will deal with those special exceptions.  I don't know that I 

25  can rule on them at this point in time.  Let's -- let's begin
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1  this process.  Quite honestly, I've not seen your special 

2  exceptions or any of the other motions that you all have filed 

3  today. 

4                So let's just try to begin this process for the 

5  adversarial hearing of the temporary, based upon the statute. 

6  All right? 

7                MS. BALOVICH:  Your Honor, I do want to bring to 

8  the Court's attention -- I understand that about eight of our 

9  attorneys have not been able to come into the courtroom.  I 

10  would just like to ask that someone direct them to the other 

11  courtroom. 

12                It was my understanding that only the ad litems 

13  for the children were represented in the courtroom.  There are 

14  mother's attorneys. 

15                THE COURT:  The instructions were that when this 

Page 16



4-17-08 

16  courtroom filled up, people would be told to go to the city 

17  auditorium. 

18                MS. BALOVICH:  Okay. 

19                THE COURT:  Not just lawyers, but the general 

20  public and the press.  I think that's been communicated.  I -- 

21  you know, I -- I hope that it has.  If you know that it hasn't, 

22  then -- 

23                MS. BALOVICH:  I didn't understand that 

24  communication.  I just got this list of people that were 

25  outside the courtroom.  I just wanted --
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1                THE COURT:  They're outside this courtroom right 

2  now? 

3                MS. BALOVICH:  I just got a list of people.  I 

4  was told they were outside the courtroom.  So I wanted to make 

5  sure that they had instructions of where to go. 

6                THE COURT:  Will the bailiff please insure that 

7  the individuals, if there are any outside, that wish to be 

8  present for the hearing go to the auxillary courtroom at the 

9  city auditorium. 

10                THE BAILIFF:  Yes, ma'am. 

11                THE COURT:  Thank you very much. 

12                Yes, please. 

13                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, at this time I would 

14  like to invoke the rule and ask that the witnesses be placed 

15  under the rule.  The Department designates Ms. Angie Voss as 

16  our representative.  And we also ask that Dr. Bruce Perry be 

17  exempt, as he is a witness consulting with the Department and 

18  is essential to the presentation of our case, that he be 
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19  allowed to remain in the courtroom. 

20                THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Edwards. 

21                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  If may 

22  briefly be heard.  I confess that I was caught by surprise.  I 

23  thought the Court was going to take announcements.  Although, I 

24  realize that would kill precious time. 

25                I have filed as of this morning a motion to
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1  dismiss for lack of due process prior to April 17, 2008.  It's 

2  a lengthy motion.  In the interest of time, simply call the 

3  Court's attention to the fact that the -- the primary elements 

4  of the motion to dismiss, which we allege violate the due 

5  process, began on page ten of the motion and go to -- 

6                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards, I know you're familiar 

7  with the applicable section of the Family Code.  And it does 

8  say because of the emergency nature of this hearing, some of 

9  the notice requirements may be not quite what they are for 

10  other hearings. 

11                Now, I'm not going to rule on your motion at this 

12  time. 

13                MR. EDWARDS:  Okay. 

14                THE COURT:  And I should have explained to you- 

15  all the reason every attorney was asked to sign-in and enter 

16  their appearance, and all the parties were asked to sign-in and 

17  enter their appearances, by doing that was so that when I get 

18  to the individual docket sheets, I will know who's here and who 

19  is not here. 

20                If you have signed in, if you leave, I have no 

21  way of checking off that you've left.  And just as it applies 
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22  in every other case, if you voluntarily leave during the 

23  proceedings, you waive any rights you have to object to what 

24  happens when you're not present. 

25                If you have not signed in nor entered an
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1  appearance, it will be presumed that you are in default. 

2  That's pretty much the way it's going.  If you want to at some 

3  point in time check and make sure that you have signed in, then 

4  you need to check with Peggy Williams, if you're in this 

5  courtroom, or check with Sheri Woodfin if you're in the 

6  courtroom at the city hall. 

7                So, with that -- yes, sir? 

8                MR. JARVIS:  I have the sheets in my -- in my 

9  briefcase that I thought I was going to give to somebody, and I 

10  haven't gotten them given yet.  And I don't want to be in 

11  default.  And my name is Billy Drift Jarvis and I'm from 

12  Sherman, Texas.  So where would you like me to put this piece 

13  of paper, ma'am? 

14                (Laugher in the courtroom.) 

15                THE COURT:  Okay, well...  At some point in time 

16  I'll ask you to give those to the Clerk.  But I think she had a 

17  sign-in sheet when you got those pieces of paper.  Did you sign 

18  it? 

19                MR. JARVIS:  Yes, ma'am, I did. 

20                THE COURT:  And you signed your name there? 

21                MR. JARVIS:  Last night. 

22                THE COURT:  Last night you signed -- 

23                MR. JARVIS:  I got them last night. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay.  Before you leave the 
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25  courthouse, Peggy Williams is here, or her deputy, and they
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1  will make sure that we have your name on the sheets so that we 

2  know that you're here.  Okay? 

3                MR. JARVIS:  Thank you. 

4                THE COURT:  Thank you very much. 

5                Yes, Mr. Edwards? 

6                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  May I 

7  clarify for the record to confirm that the Court's decision on 

8  the motion to dismiss was to carry it along, not to rule on it 

9  at this time? 

10                THE COURT:  The Court is not ruling on your 

11  motion.  It would be impossible and imprudent for me to rule on 

12  a motion that I have not seen, Mr. Edwards. 

13                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

14                THE COURT:  You know I don't do that. 

15                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you. 

16                THE COURT:  Have a seat. 

17                Go ahead. 

18                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  Now I'm not sure this witness has 

20  been sworn.  Have you been sworn? 

21                THE WITNESS:  No, I have not. 

22                THE COURT:  So you're not familiar with my 

23  procedures, I will ask each witness whether they've been sworn 

24  or not.  And so I will check on that. 

25                Just one moment, apparently -- yes, Ms.
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1  Hennington? 

2                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I heard counsel for 

3  the State say they would like to invoke the rule.  We do have 

4  some witnesses in the courtroom that I need to have removed, 

5  since she's invoking the rule. 

6                THE COURT:  Let me just ask about invoking the 

7  rule, ladies and gentlemen.  I don't know how you have an in 

8  mass hearing and invoke the rule. 

9                I -- I think that that probably -- every -- every 

10  parent or Respondent that's in this room is possibly a witness 

11  in the other case.  I just don't see how that works.  So you 

12  tell me how you think that would work, so that we could 

13  continue to have the fair trial and hearing for everybody. 

14                Would you like to withdraw your request? 

15                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor, I'll withdraw my 

16  request. 

17                THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right. 

18                Oh, Mr. Stewart. 

19                MR. STEWART:  Your Honor, I have an oral not 

20  ready motion that I would like to make. 

21                THE COURT:  Not ready on 14-day hearing? 

22                MR. STEWART:  Yes, Your Honor. 

23                THE COURT:  Overruled.  Have a seat. 

24                Would you raise your right hand. 

25                (Witness sworn.)
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1                THE WITNESS:  I do, Your Honor. 
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2                THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, my understanding is the 

3  cameras are activated when the mike is activated, so if you 

4  would be sure and speak up loud enough so that we get everybody 

5  heard. 

6                THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

7                THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may begin. 

8                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

9                        MARC ALLEN CONNELLY 

10  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

11                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

12  BY MS. GRIFFITH: 

13      Q.   Please state your name. 

14      A.   My name is Marc Allen Connelly. 

15      Q.   And how are you employed? 

16      A.   I'm Deputy General Counsel for the Texas Department of 

17  State Health Services. 

18      Q.   And for the purposes of today's hearing, have you been 

19  designated as the custodian of the records for what was called 

20  Stable's Medical Clinic? 

21      A.   Yes. 

22      Q.   And what was Stable's Medical Clinic? 

23      A.   Stable's Medical Clinic is a -- was a medical provider 

24  providing medical services to the Department of State Health 

25  Services in the screening of some of the children and adults
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1  involved in this case. 

2      Q.   And in your capacity as the custodian of records, did 

3  you bring to court today records pertaining to a Margaret 

4  Barlow, Elizabeth Steed and Cynthia Jessop? 
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5      A.   Hum -- 

6      Q.   Did I get the wrong names? 

7      A.   Actually, no, those aren't the right names. 

8      Q.   Did you bring records today that you were requested to 

9  bring in regards to this litigation? 

10      A.   Yes, I did. 

11                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, may I approach the 

12  witness? 

13                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

14                UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

16                UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I'm having difficulty 

17  hearing the witness. 

18                THE COURT:  We're working on turning up the 

19  microphone.  You're going to have to shout for us. 

20                THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

21                THE COURT:  Think projection. 

22                THE WITNESS:  These are the original. 

23      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Sir, you've brought both originals and 

24  copies of medical records to the Court today, correct? 

25      A.   That's correct.
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1      Q.   And I'm showing you what has been marked Petitioner's 

2  1, which is a file folder indicating Rebecca Keate, date of 

3  birth 8/9/90; petitioner's -- what's been marked as 

4  Petitioner's 2, Rachel Keate, date of birth 7/25/90; and 

5  Petitioner's 3, a file folder marked Sarah Johnson, date of 

6  birth 11/28/89. 

7      A.   That's correct. 
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8      Q.   And you have the originals with you and in my hands 

9  the marked copies are copies of these records, correct? 

10      A.   That is correct. 

11      Q.   And are these exhibits copies of the records that were 

12  maintained by Stable's Medical Clinic? 

13      A.   Yes. 

14      Q.   They true and correct copies of the originals? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16      Q.   And are these records kept in the ordinary course of 

17  business of Stable's Medical Clinic? 

18      A.   Yes. 

19                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Yes, sir? 

20                MR. TABET:  I'm going to object, unless he is the 

21  custodian of the records of -- 

22                THE COURT:  You know, right now's a little 

23  premature for the objection.  Just hang on.  When she offers 

24  it, under the way I do it, then you can make your objection. 

25  So just let her -- let her get this.
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1                THE REPORTER:  Judge, I need them to say their 

2  names. 

3                THE COURT:  If you don't say your names -- I'm 

4  sorry, if you rise, you need to say your name.  My court 

5  reporter is great -- 

6                MR. TABET:  That's fine. 

7                THE COURT:  -- but she, just because you 

8  introduced yourself one time is not going to be able to keep up 

9  with you. 

10                MR. TABET:  I apologize. 
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11                THE COURT:  There is a proper time for your 

12  objection.  Just hold your horses. 

13                Go ahead. 

14      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Were these records in the regular 

15  course of the business of Stable's Medical Clinic or the 

16  Department of State Health Services?  Were these records 

17  created by an employee of Stable's Medical Clinic or the 

18  Department of State Health Services? 

19      A.   That is correct. 

20      Q.   And were the records and the events recorded, in these 

21  records, recorded by a state employee? 

22      A.   Yes. 

23      Q.   And were they recorded at or near the time that the 

24  event occurred? 

25      A.   Yes, they were.
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1                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, at this time I would 

2  offer Petitioner's Exhibit 1, 2 and 3 to the Court. 

3                THE COURT:  Would you tender them to -- to some 

4  of the lawyers.  We'll start with -- all right, the ad litems. 

5                Just hang on. 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor -- 

7                THE COURT:  Yes, sir? 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Can I talk to -- I'm an 

9  attorney for some of the respondents.  May I come look at the 

10  documents? 

11                THE COURT:  Hang on for just one second, okay? 

12                All right.  Now all the counsels in the well have 

13  had a chance to look at this.  Now, in fairness, we've got 
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14  lawyers out in the gallery and they need to have an opportunity 

15  to see that if they want. 

16                Now as a practical matter, I don't want to cut 

17  anybody off from looking at this, but the objection is going to 

18  be, I'm assuming, is that these are not proper business 

19  records.  So if -- if you-all look at it, please do that. 

20                I understand there are attorneys at the city 

21  auditorium that wish to make the same objection and they -- 

22  they have some concerns that they are not able to view the 

23  exhibit. 

24                Let's -- let's work with the lawyers that are in 

25  this room right now.  I have allowed you-all in this instance
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1  to have some form of communication with the lawyers over there. 

2  And we're going to take up the lawyers in the auditorium in 

3  just a minute.  But I'll ask the bailiff to pass those back. 

4  So before you make an objection, at least look at what they've 

5  got. 

6                Is that what you were asking for, sir? 

7                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                THE COURT:  Thank you.  If you would just do 

9  that. 

10                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor, so that we're not 

11  mixed up, I'm handing 1, 2 and 3- and my name is Tip Hargrove- 

12  to the bailiff. 

13                THE COURT:  All right. 

14                Ladies and gentlemen, we're going to do the 

15  following, so that we can -- and aid all of you and give you an 

16  opportunity to review these documents.  When the lawyers in 
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17  this courtroom have had an opportunity to look at these 

18  documents, the bailiff will deliver these documents to the 

19  lawyers at the city hall.  They will have the opportunity to 

20  review it. 

21                If you-all have the ability to come up with some 

22  sort of group and form objection, that's fine.  If you feel 

23  like you can't, we'll try to work through it in groups.  But 

24  I'm going to step off the bench, let you-all look at all of 

25  this.  Then when you-all have looked at it, we will send it
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1  over to the lawyers at the city hall and then we'll reconvene. 

2                (Recess.) 

3                THE COURT:  All right.  I will recognize -- I 

4  see an attorney at the podium, or close to the podium, over at 

5  the city hall.  If you will state your name for me and who you 

6  represent for me, I will recognize you.  Oops, they sat down. 

7  Okay.  Works for me. 

8                All right.  We can go on now and admit these 

9  exhibits.  I -- we -- you have to come up here to this podium 

10  or the folks over there are denied the privilege of hearing 

11  what you have to say. 

12                MR. PEAK:  Judge, my name -- 

13                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  To the podium.  All the 

14  way up here. 

15                MR. PEAK:  My name is -- 

16                THE COURT:  State your name, please. 

17                MR. PEAK:  Gary Peak, P-E-A-K.  I represent two 

18  of the children, one Merrill Nielsen, the other Ammon Jeffs. 

19                THE COURT:  Could you just help us out by telling 

Page 27



4-17-08 
20  us which case your children are in. 

21                MR. PEAK:  2902. 

22                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

23                MR. PEAK:  Judge, I would like to request to take 

24  the witness on voir dire. 

25                THE COURT:  Over business records?
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1                MR. PEAK:  Judge, I don't believe he's properly 

2  been shown to be a proper custodian of these business records, 

3  and I believe the voir dire will further show that. 

4                THE COURT:  Very well, sir. 

5                MR. PEAK:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

6                       VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION 

7  BY MR. PEAK: 

8      Q.   It was kind of hard to hear in the back, so if I 

9  repeat anything, I apologize, but I want to make sure I'm 

10  clear.  Okay? 

11      A.   All right. 

12      Q.   All right.  You are a general counsel for who? 

13      A.   I am the Deputy General Counsel for the Department of 

14  State Health Services. 

15      Q.   Okay.  And who actually prepared these medical records 

16  that you're attesting to be the custodian for? 

17      A.   I believe the medical records were prepared by either 

18  doctors under contract or volunteer doctors or doctors that are 

19  employed by the Department of State Health Services. 

20      Q.   But you're not sure? 

21      A.   No. 

22      Q.   You can't tell this Court that the three specific 
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23  files that you are here to testify to right now were prepared 

24  by an employee of your department? 

25      A.   I can testify to the fact that I just told you they
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1  were provided by either an employee of the Department of State 

2  Health Services, a volunteer doctor on behalf of the Department 

3  of State Health Services or contracted doctor under the 

4  Department of State Health Services. 

5      Q.   You're not an employee of a specific doctor or clinic 

6  that prepared any of these records, are you? 

7      A.   No, I am not. 

8      Q.   You don't even know specifically which doctor or 

9  clinic prepared them, do you? 

10      A.   No, I do not. 

11      Q.   Then I can't see, sir, how you can attest to be the 

12  custodian of records for any of these people that you don't 

13  know who they are. 

14      A.   I'm the custodian of records for the Department of 

15  State Health Services, one of three attorneys designated as 

16  custodian of records for that agency. 

17      Q.   But you can't state for certainty sitting here today 

18  that, in fact, these records were prepared by an employee of 

19  that department, right? 

20      A.   No, I cannot. 

21                MR. PEAK:  Nothing further, Your Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  Anyone else would like to be 

23  recognized?  In this courtroom?  Anyone -- I see someone at the 

24  podium at the city auditorium. 

25                Would you state your name and please tell me the
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1  child you represent or the party you represent and the case 

2  that you are assigned to. 

3                MR. RICHARDSON:  Judge, my name is Lionel 

4  Richardson.  I represent Leland Keate, case number 2902.  I 

5  just wanted to get some clarification from the Court, if I 

6  may.  Earlier the Court addressed any attorneys who may have 

7  attempted to or filed a motion to transfer of venue or motion 

8  to sever early this morning. 

9                Is it the understanding, Judge, that all those 

10  motions are overruled at this time? 

11                THE COURT:  I have not seen any motions for 

12  transfer.  Tell me what your motion to transfer is, sir. 

13  What's the basis? 

14                MR. RICHARDSON:  The basis of the motion to 

15  transfer, Your Honor, is that there has been negative coverage 

16  here in this community that would not allow my client to have a 

17  fair hearing. 

18                THE COURT:  Sir, the Judge is the determiner of 

19  the fact.  And the Judge is the one that is faced with this. 

20  Are you saying that there's been coverage that it's going to 

21  affect my ability as the judge to make the decision at the 

22  14-day hearing? 

23                MR. RICHARDSON:  Judge, I was just saying that, 

24  based on the atmosphere in this community, the fact that the 

25  cases are being tried so close to the location where the
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1  children were removed from, there is a -- a very difficult time 

2  having a fair hearing in this particular community. 

3                THE COURT:  No, wait a minute.  This is not a 

4  matter for a jury, sir.  This is -- you're -- you're saying 

5  that the judge -- 

6                MR. RICHARDSON:  For the trier of fact, yes. 

7                THE COURT:  That would be me, right? 

8                MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, Judge. 

9                THE COURT:  And you're saying I am going to be 

10  negatively impacted by the media?  Is that really the point you 

11  want to make, sir? 

12                MR. RICHARDSON:  No, Judge. 

13                THE COURT:  Careful.  You're going to withdraw 

14  that; is that right?  Because I mean, you know, I go with this 

15  case no matter where it goes.  You're stuck with me.  I'm 

16  sorry. 

17                MR. RICHARDSON:  Judge -- no, Judge.  At the -- 

18  the basis of what I'm really trying to get through is a motion 

19  to sever, not necessarily a motion to transfer.  But I did 

20  attempt to file both of them this morning.  My question, 

21  primarily, is on the motion to sever. 

22                THE COURT:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I thought you were 

23  talking about other grounds, sir. 

24                Well, severed.  Now, we're not taking that up. 

25  We're not taking up your motion to sever at this time.  I'm not
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1  overruling it.  I'm -- 

2                MR. RICHARDSON:  That's what I wanted to get 

3  clarification on. 
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4                THE COURT:  I'm sorry? 

5                MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, Judge, that's what I wanted 

6  to get clarification on. 

7                THE COURT:  Well, I'm sorry, I thought I asked 

8  you to talk about the transfer motion.  So the way it works in 

9  my courtroom is I get to set which motions we're talking about. 

10  Are you withdrawing your motion -- 

11                MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes Judge. 

12                THE COURT:  -- to transfer?  You're withdrawing 

13  that.  Thank you very much. 

14                MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes Judge. 

15                THE COURT:  Oh, good.  I've got to remember to 

16  slow down and get the -- the lag time.  I apologize. 

17                Now, on your motion to sever, I know that 

18  there's, what, six hundred lawyers that have filed motions to 

19  sever.  I'm not going to rule on them right now. 

20                I am taking evidence and we're going to move 

21  along on that.  So I've got it under advisement.  Anything else 

22  I can do for you? 

23                Would you happen -- 

24                MR. RICHARDSON:  I just wanted clarification on 

25  that.
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1                THE COURT:  I'm sorry? 

2                MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, correct.  That's what I 

3  wanted clarification on, Judge. 

4                THE COURT:  It's under advisement. 

5                Now, I'm asking people to rise to whether or not 

6  this -- these exhibits should be admitted.  So unless you've 
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7  got something you want to add to that question, we're going to 

8  do this in the order that I perceive we need to do.  And I want 

9  all the lawyers to understand, I do not want -- and I 

10  understand your need to try to do stuff, but I do not want 

11  you-all to be talking about things that aren't on my plate 

12  right then. 

13                So right now, all motions to sever are under 

14  advisement.  We're talking about the admission of exhibits, 

15  Petitioner's Exhibits 1, 2 and 3.  Do you have anything on that 

16  matter, sir? 

17                MR. RICHARDSON:  Judge, only if those exhibits 

18  are admitted.  At this time you've addressed my concerns. 

19                THE COURT:  Okay.  Have a seat.  Thank you very 

20  much. 

21                Anybody else over there?   All right. 

22                MR. PEAK:  Your Honor, Gary Peak again.  I 

23  neglected before I left the podium to place my objection on the 

24  record to the introduction of these documents for lack of a 

25  proper proving up a custodian of records.
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1                THE COURT:  All right. 

2                MR. PEAK:  And would now be the time to urge a 

3  ruling on that, Judge, or -- 

4                THE COURT:  You know, I'm probably going to have 

5  about, I don't know, it's up to you-all how many objections to 

6  that, so could you just -- 

7                MR. PEAK:  Yes.  Yes, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, if that's an objection 

9  anybody else wants to make that's an attorney, I understand 
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10  that a ruling I might make would apply to all of you.  So 

11  unless you feel like there's something that he didn't bring up 

12  in his questioning or his objection that this is not a proper 

13  admission under -- under the business records act, I think -- 

14  or business records document exception, I think that 

15  objection's been made, and as far as I'm concerned, it probably 

16  has been made for everybody. 

17                Is that -- can I have kind of a universal "yes, 

18  Judge"? 

19                THE ATTORNEYS:  Yes, Judge. 

20                THE COURT:  All right.  Now, I appreciate that. 

21  Now, it's my custom to at least let the offering lawyer 

22  respond. 

23                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you, Judge. 

24                Your Honor, I believe the proper predicate has 

25  been laid.  The rules do not require that the employee make the
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1  record.  An employee or agent may make the record. 

2                The witness has testified that these records were 

3  created in the regular course of business, that he was -- is 

4  with the State Health Services and has the authority to make 

5  that statement, and that they were made by an agent or employee 

6  in the regular course of business.  And, therefore, they are 

7  admissible. 

8                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

9                MR. PEAK:  May I respond? 

10                THE COURT:  I don't usually let a re-rebuttal on 

11  objections.  Thank you. 

12                MR. PEAK:  I'm sorry, Your Honor? 
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13                THE COURT:  I normally do not allow a 

14  re-objection or re-argument on objections. 

15                Come on down. 

16                MR. PEAK:  I'm sorry? 

17                THE COURT:  You can do it.  Come on, tell me what 

18  you want to say. 

19                MR. PEAK:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

20                Judge, you cannot attest to whether something is 

21  a true and accurate copy, that it was made at the time or near 

22  the time that it purports to be, if you don't know who actually 

23  prepared the records, and if they are actually an employee of 

24  the department that you're claiming to be a custodian of 

25  records for.
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1                It's simply impossible for this witness -- this 

2  witness to have the necessary information and knowledge to 

3  properly be a custodian of records. 

4                Thank you, Your Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

6                Would you state your name please. 

7                MR. HARKIEWICZ:  Steven Harkiewicz, and I 

8  represent two children in the 2902 case.  And I'd just add the 

9  additional objection from which was stated that the rebuttal 

10  was that these records were generated in the -- in the normal 

11  course of business.  And I would object that they were not 

12  generated in the normal course of business.  That clearly was 

13  in anticipation of litigation since these children were -- were 

14  examined after being removed.  And -- and I object with that 

15  additional objection. 
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16                THE COURT:  I will admit that normal doesn't 

17  really seem to apply to this case. 

18                Well, the Court is going to conditionally 

19  overrule your objections.  So that everybody can -- can get 

20  their say in this, I will tell you that you may, in writing, 

21  submit your objections to any of these documents that are 

22  admitted.  And I will review them and rule on them later.  But 

23  for purposes of this hearing, and at this time, the Court will 

24  allow testimony. 

25                Should I decide it's not proper to admit it, as
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1  the Judge I will disregard anything I have allowed to be 

2  presented as evidence that is improper. 

3                You may continue. 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  I pass this witness. 

5                THE COURT:  You pass the witness.  Well, I was 

6  afraid we'd get here. 

7                All right.  What we're going to do on this one is 

8  and this is how we're going to do it.  Y'all bear with me.  I'm 

9  going to start with attorneys for the respondents.  Generally, 

10  my courtroom, they have the next say with witnesses on these 

11  types of cases. 

12                Do we have an agreement amongst the attorneys 

13  representing respondents who they would like to go first in 

14  questioning this witness?  Keeping in mind the limited 

15  testimony that this witness has offered. 

16                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor -- 

17                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  You need to -- 

18                MS. HENNINGTON:  I sorry.  I'm not used to it, 
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19  Your Honor.  I apologize. 

20                Your Honor, Amy Hennington.  I'm an attorney for 

21  four of the men James Dockstader, Don Jessop, Leland Keates and 

22  Lamar Johnson.  And we have no questions for this witness. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Is there anyone else 

24  representing a respondent that at this time feels like they 

25  need to ask a question of this witness?
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1                MR. JACOBSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Roger 

2  Jacobson for Legal Aid of Northwest Texas. 

3                THE COURT:  You are so soft spoken.  If you 

4  would, shout at me. 

5                MR. JACOBSON:  Roger Jacobson, Legal Aid of 

6  Northwest Texas.  I represent three of the mothers, Nancy 

7  Fisher, Mary Ann Johnson and Melinda Jeffs.  And Legal Aid 

8  Northwest Texas represents about eighty of the mothers. 

9                THE COURT:  All right. 

10                MR. JACOBSON:  Should I proceed? 

11                THE COURT:  Yes, sir. 

12                MR. JACOBSON:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

13                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

14  BY MR. JACOBSON: 

15      Q.   Mr. Connelly? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   The records that I saw, you said they were for Rebecca 

18  Keate, Rachel Keate and Sarah Johnson; is that correct? 

19      A.   That's correct. 

20      Q.   So there were no medical records taken for any of the 

21  other children? 
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22                THE COURT:  No.  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  I 

23  recognized you for the limit purposes of the testimony that 

24  he's offered. 

25                MR. JACOBSON:  He hasn't offered any testimony
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1  yet. 

2                THE COURT:  There you go.  What do you want to 

3  question him about? 

4                MR. JACOBSON:  Well, if they've passed the 

5  witness, you know, I move to dismiss.  They haven't met their 

6  burden if they haven't put any witness -- any evidence on from 

7  this witness. 

8                THE COURT:  Move to dismiss the case? 

9                MR. JACOBSON:  Well, they haven't -- 

10                THE COURT:  I think that's kind -- they haven't 

11  rested, sir.  I know it's hard to hear back there, but they did 

12  not rest. 

13                MR. JACOBSON:  They haven't put on any evidence 

14  from this witness, either. 

15                THE COURT:  You're right.  But I kind of think 

16  they've got some other folks they might be calling soon.  Do 

17  you have a question about the exhibit that has been admitted? 

18      Q.   (MR. JACOBSON) Just that they're for those three 

19  children alone and they repr- -- they touch on none of the 

20  other children that are currently in CPS custody; is that 

21  correct, sir? 

22      A.   I believe there were health information taken 

23  regarding all of the children, but I do not know. 

24                MR. JACOBSON:  Thank you. 
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25                THE COURT:  Thank you.
 

43 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1                All right.  Over at city hall, do we have any 

2  lawyer that wishes for the respondents to address the Court or 

3  ask a question of the witness?  Seeing no one at the podium, we 

4  will now go to the ad litems. 

5                Is there an ad litem that wishes to address the 

6  Court?  Keeping in mind the limited nature of this witness's 

7  testimony.  Seeing none, any ad litems that the -- at the city 

8  auditorium?  Seeing none, sir, you may step down. 

9                THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

10                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, may this witness be 

11  excused? 

12                THE COURT:  May this witness -- I kind of think 

13  he probably maybe ought to hang around for just a little bit. 

14                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, may we approach? 

15                THE COURT:  You know, approaching is going to be 

16  kind of a problem, because that means every lawyer gets to come 

17  inside the well, Ms. Hennington. 

18                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, may I approach the 

19  podium to address the Court? 

20                THE COURT:  You may approach the podium. 

21                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, Amy Hennington for 

22  some of the men.  During the break it became clear that the 

23  State is intending to introduce several additional records or 

24  offer to admit several additional records.  And I have a sug- 

25  -- a request from the Court.
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1                THE COURT:  A request to the Court?  All right. 

2                MS. HENNINGTON:  Is -- if the Court could allow 

3  that these -- the State have these exhibits numbered and filed 

4  down at the Clerk's so that the numerous attorneys who want to 

5  look at them have a -- set a time and put their objections in 

6  writing, versus the continual delay of putting one document up, 

7  having such a long delay, numerous lawyers trying to get to it. 

8                They could file them, tell us what the numbers 

9  they are and we could file our written objections without 

10  having all this delay. 

11                THE COURT:  Just one -- Mr. Stout -- 

12                MR. STOUT:  May I approach, Your Honor? 

13                THE COURT:  -- if you'll approach the -- 

14                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor -- 

15                THE COURT:  State your name please, sir. 

16                MR. STOUT:  My name is Randol Stout.  I'm the 

17  attorney for anyone who doesn't have an ad litem specifically 

18  appointed.  And I am, as far as an ad litem for children.  And 

19  I am the ad litem specifically for Kaden Steed, Your Honor, in 

20  addition separately, as well as co-counsel for several 

21  attorneys who aren't present. 

22                Judge, in -- in certain types of litigation 

23  that's very complicated, the Court could -- and we're asking 

24  the Court to ask the -- the State's Attorney and the 

25  Respondents' that anything in reference to direct examination
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1  or cross examination, that if they have any -- any exhibits or 

Page 40



4-17-08 
2  documents to be introduced, that they be marked, that they be 

3  provided to the clerk that, the clerk would have them available 

4  for inspection by attorneys only, and -- and set some kind of 

5  time frame in reference to this.  And -- and a lot of times in 

6  tort litigation it's a week, but I would suggest a couple of 

7  hours, because if you're going to object, you're going to 

8  object. 

9                They make their objections in writing, submit 

10  them to the Court.  And if -- if they have any objections as 

11  to -- as to form or the possibility that -- that maybe they 

12  don't think the person's qualified, ask the Court to hear -- 

13  rule on the objections that are in writing.  As to the -- as to 

14  the admission, not admit the exhibits, but take it under 

15  advisement.  And then if anybody has anything as to form or -- 

16  or as to -- as to whether the person's qualified, authorized, 

17  that they put that in writing.  At the end of the day, the 

18  Court rule on all matters and -- and introduce or -- or deny 

19  introduction of the evidence the Court deems proper. 

20                And that way I think it would expedite the 

21  proceedings.  And even if we took two hours to do it, it would 

22  -- it will take two hours to get, it looks like, every exhibit 

23  in.  And -- and there are a lot of exhibits.  And, obviously, 

24  if there's something on rebuttal, then rebuttal is a different 

25  matter.  But direct examination and cross examination, when
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1  they know who their witnesses are or should know.  We -- we 

2  would ask also that -- that if -- if the State knows who the 

3  witnesses are, and some of the lawyers don't know, ask them to 

4  put their witness list downstairs for the -- for the attorneys 
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5  to have an inspection. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Stout. 

7                MR. STOUT:  Yes, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Well, with regards to possible 

9  medical records, it was my understanding that each ad litem had 

10  been furnished a copy of the medical records for their child. 

11  So that may or may not be true, but I -- I understood that was 

12  true.  I would urge the ad litems to remember that their focus 

13  is not -- and everybody wants to protect all of the children, 

14  but your focus is your individual child. 

15                Perhaps when you're looking at medical records, 

16  if it is not your individual child, you might want to step 

17  aside and let the folks that are representing that child focus 

18  on that exhibit. 

19                With regards to requiring that these documents be 

20  scanned and on some kind of server that's available, I don't do 

21  that on a regular case.  And I know that there might be some 

22  expediencies, but you know, my custodian of the record is 

23  sitting right down here.  And she's in charge of the exhibits 

24  when they get admitted.  And a lot of these records are highly 

25  personal.
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1                And I really trust that the lawyers involved in 

2  this case understand the sensitive nature of the information 

3  that they're seeing.  And that because of that, they're going 

4  to understand this may be a cumbersome process, but the Court 

5  is not about to put on any mass server these records. 

6                Thank you very much, Mr. Stout.  Next witness. 

7                MS. GRIFFITH:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Shawn 
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8  Richards representing the Department, as well.  We'd call Danny 

9  Crawford at this time. 

10                THE COURT:  Danny Crawford. 

11                Have a seat please, sir.  Would you state your 

12  name for the record, sir. 

13                THE WITNESS:  Danny Crawford. 

14                THE COURT:  Have you been sworn by the Court, 

15  sir? 

16                THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am. 

17                THE COURT:  Would you raise your right hand. 

18                (Witness sworn.) 

19                THE WITNESS:  I do. 

20                THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  You may proceed. 

21                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

22 

23 

24 

25
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1                          DANNY CRAWFORD 

2  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

3                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

4  BY MS. RICHARDS: 

5      Q.   Mr. Crawford, what type work do you do? 

6      A.   I'm a sergeant with the Motor Vehicle Theft Service 

7  for the Department of Public Safety, a state peace officer. 

8      Q.   Did you assist in a search conducted at the YFZ Ranch 

9  April 5th, 2008? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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11      Q.   And as a part -- was that part of your employment or a 

12  request upon your agency? 

13      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

14      Q.   And have you been trained to conduct searches? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   And is that something you do in the normal course of 

17  your business? 

18      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

19      Q.   While you were at the YFZ Ranch on April 5th, 2008, 

20  did you find some documents? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   Did you bring those documents to court today? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24                MS. RICHARDS:  May I approach the witness? 

25                THE COURT:  You may.
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1                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

3                MS. HENNINGTON:  May I approach the podium? 

4                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, Amy Hennington.  I 

6  represent some of the gentlemen in this case. 

7                Your Honor, at this time we're going to object to 

8  any introduction of any document that was procured during the 

9  search and seizure of the YFZ Ranch.  It is my understanding in 

10  a separate case that this Court has entered an order that all 

11  of those documents would be under seal until a -- someone, I'm 

12  not sure who, is going to go through those. 

13                THE COURT:  Ms. Hennington, could you at least 
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14  let them offer it before you make your objection? 

15                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes, ma'am. 

16                THE COURT:  Thank you, ma'am. 

17      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Are these the records you brought with 

18  you? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   At this time I'm going to be marking these as 

21  Petitioner's Exhibit Number 4.  How many -- approximately how 

22  many pages are included in this envelope? 

23      A.   I'm not sure of the pages, ma'am.  I have documents 

24  pertaining to, I believe, thirty-seven or thirty-eight 

25  families.
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1      Q.   And where did you find these? 

2      A.   These were in a safe in an office on the floor level 

3  of what we were told was the main office building at the ranch. 

4  And the office was identified as belonging to Richard Barlow. 

5      Q.   And these were kept in a secure place? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am, they were in a safe. 

7      Q.   And do the records -- show you the first one.  It 

8  indicates it's father's family information sheet, Bishop's 

9  Record -- 

10                THE COURT:  Wait a minute.  Wait a minute. 

11  Let's -- before we have any testimony about what they are, you 

12  need to at least offer them up. 

13                MS. RICHARDS:  I will, Your Honor.  Your Honor, 

14  at this time I would like to offer into evidence Petitioner's 

15  Exhibit Number 4. 

16                THE COURT:  All right.  Would you, starting with 
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17  the respondents, and let -- let them see what that is. 

18                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, during the break I had 

19  passed around packets of copies of these records for them to 

20  review. 

21                THE COURT:  All right.  All right.  Thank you. 

22                Anyone on behalf of the respondents wish to make 

23  an objection? 

24                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, if I may approach? 

25                THE COURT:  You may.
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1                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, again, Amy 

2  Hennington.  I represent some of the gentlemen in this case. 

3                Your Honor, first we would like to object to the 

4  introduction of any of these records that were seized during a 

5  search -- under another -- under a search warrant out at the 

6  YFZ Ranch. 

7                It is our understanding that the Court has sealed 

8  all of these records until they've gone through a process of -- 

9  see what is privileged and not privileged.  I've had the 

10  opportunity to review some of these records and I believe a 

11  good portion of these may qualify to be privileged under Rule 

12  505. 

13                So that's objection number one.  I have several 

14  to make. 

15                THE COURT:  Let's just -- objection 505.  First 

16  of all, would you concede, that because they're two ongoing 

17  separate cases here, that sometimes there's going to be what 

18  might appear to be inconsistent interests?  The Department was 

19  not a party to the hearing Wednesday, a week ago, was it not? 
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20                MS. HENNINGTON:  They were not, Your Honor. 

21                THE COURT:  All right.  Now, you are saying with 

22  regards to 505, the privileged communications, for -- for 

23  clergy? 

24                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  Now, remind me, but it seems to me
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1  that there's an exception to any type of clergy privilege if 

2  the evidence is offered in connection with sexual assault of a 

3  child.  Is that not correct? 

4                MS. HENNINGTON:  I absolutely agree, Your Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  So that's, I think, where they're 

6  going on some of this.  Is it possible you've looked at this -- 

7  what, in this record, since the Court hasn't seen it, would be 

8  excludable under the privilege, therefore, not connected to any 

9  issues of sexual assault or possible sexual assault, if that's 

10  what it is, specifically what would you want redacted from this 

11  document to preserve the priest penitent privilege? 

12                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, the documents that 

13  were provided to me, they're -- they're un-numbered so they 

14  don't have page numbers, but one includes several pages of 

15  records that were from some person to the bishop.  So I think 

16  that would be something that is protected. 

17                THE COURT:  Now, wait.  Not -- not something -- 

18  so it's -- 

19                MS. HENNINGTON:  It's unclear who's prepared 

20  them.  It's called a Bishop's Record.  And it -- it does not -- 

21  it's a -- it's a listing that has nothing to do with anything 

22  but a list.  And I can't tell who prepared it.  But it's 
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23  entitled Bishop's Record, and I think that would be protected. 

24                THE COURT:  So it's your position that anything 

25  that says "Bishop's Record" is automatically excluded?
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1                MS. HENNINGTON:  If I knew -- if -- if there was 

2  some way to identify who prepared it, I may -- I -- I don't 

3  know, but with it being so vague, and where he's describing 

4  he --  the law enforcement officer found it, I would be 

5  concerned that it is. 

6                THE COURT:  Well, assuming that this is a list 

7  of -- of names, what about a list of names would be a 

8  privileged communication? 

9                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I'm going with what 

10  the is the entitlement of this document that says it's a 

11  Bishop's Record that lists names and I don't know that -- that 

12  if it's a document under the church or under this bishop, or 

13  whoever prepared it, that it doesn't fall under Rule 505, then 

14  that -- it doesn't have anything to do with a sexual assault. 

15                THE COURT:  Now, to invoke privilege, the first 

16  prong is the communication must be made for spiritual advice. 

17                MS. HENNINGTON:  Uh-huh. 

18                THE COURT:  So you're telling me a list of names 

19  is made for purposes of spiritual advice? 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I don't know what 

21  this list was made for.  He's saying he's found it in a safe 

22  where someone had it, so obviously somebody thought it was 

23  important and confidential. 

24                It's entitled a Bishop's Record, so I think it -- 

25  it -- un- -- and so at this time it should not be admitted
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1  based on, for whatever person, or whoever created this.  If at 

2  a later time it was determined that it was created by someone 

3  who was not under that privilege, then I wouldn't have that 

4  argument.  But he's telling us under oath that it was found in 

5  a safe in somebody's office. 

6                THE COURT:  And it's your position that if it's 

7  in a locked up box, it's absolutely privileged communication. 

8                MS. HENNINGTON:  No, Your Honor.  I think that 

9  would be overbroad for me to say everything in the safe.  But 

10  if someone took -- had these records, it was in a safe, in a -- 

11  I think he said a ranch office or something like that, I think 

12  someone was taking extra precautions.  And I don't know if the 

13  bishop prepared this.  I don't know.  You can't tell from the 

14  records that I've observed right here. 

15                So I think that -- that even though the CPS or 

16  the Department of Protective Family Services was not present at 

17  that other hearing, the law enforcement was represented through 

18  the State District Attorney and those records, until -- until 

19  whoever that neutral person, that the Court had appointed that 

20  says those -- that's released, they should be under that. 

21                THE COURT:  Well, okay, let me -- not agreeing 

22  with the Court actually sealed those records, but under that 

23  assumption, you would take the position that this hearing 

24  should be delayed until your staff or your folks are able to go 

25  through these records and decide what's admissible and what's
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1  not.  So are you asking for a continuation of the 14-day 

2  hearing in the CPS case so that you-all can do that? 

3                MS. HENNINGTON:  No, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Okay. 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  I'm saying that the list that 

6  they are -- there's several things that they're asking to be 

7  introduced.  And I'm saying the specific list that they are 

8  saying, the Bishop Record, that until it is determined, should 

9  not be admitted at this time. 

10                THE COURT:  You -- I have not had the privilege 

11  of looking at this. 

12                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  But just tell me what in there is of 

14  a spiritual nature. 

15                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, unfortunately, I'm 

16  not familiar enough with the faith of this church to know what 

17  these -- this list may or may not have been for.  I haven't 

18  seen any of these records until today.  Because we can't leave 

19  and go out of the courtroom and come back, I couldn't go and 

20  ask anybody.  So I'm just looking at this, as on its face it 

21  says a Bishop's Record.  And it has this list of names.  They 

22  don't have -- and I'm only talking about this -- right now I'm 

23  only talking about the listing of names that are listed that 

24  says "Bishop's Record." 

25                THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else you want to add
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1  on that?  Do you have any case that would say just because it's 

2  on the letterhead of a church that that makes it automatically 

3  covered under -- because that's what essentially you're 
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4  saying.  The letterhead of this document automatically puts it 

5  in under 505.  That's -- that's your position. 

6                MS. HENNINGTON:  That is my position with that 

7  list, Your Honor.  And, no, I don't have a case that would go 

8  that broad of a statement. 

9                THE COURT:  But isn't that what you're asking 

10  here? 

11                MS. HENNINGTON:  I'm asking the Court to -- to 

12  not admit these at this time based on a previous ruling that 

13  says until this was looked at, and that person says it's okay. 

14  I mean -- 

15                THE COURT:  Was that actually the Court's ruling, 

16  Ms. Hennington? 

17                MS. HENNINGTON:  My -- 

18                THE COURT:  Or did the parties step aside and say 

19  that they would submit to the Court, which the Court has never 

20  signed, an agreement of how the masters would go through the 

21  process of looking at those documents? 

22                MS. HENNINGTON:  You're right, Your Honor, that 

23  was an agreement reached by the State and the parties. 

24                THE COURT:  Right.  Now, I'm going to let an ad 

25  litem respond.  You need to come up to the -- and I see you
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1  over there at the city hall.  We'll be getting to you.  Just 

2  hang on. 

3                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor, my name is an Andrea 

4  Sloan.  I am representing ten of the young women who were 

5  removed from the ranch.  I am also speaking on behalf of the 

6  clients who have been coded in the orange group.  And just 
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7  actually a matter of inquiry for the Court, whether or not 

8  attorneys for certain of the parents are in a position to raise 

9  an objection on behalf of the church, whether the church is the 

10  party that has standing to object to the records, or whether 

11  the respondents can't assert that objective on behalf of the 

12  church. 

13                THE COURT:  Interesting question.  You have any 

14  cases or anything you want to cite to the Court on that, other 

15  than the rules of evidence? 

16                MS. RICHARDS:  I do, Your Honor.  Your Honor, as 

17  our researching of it, have case law to support it, that the 

18  church is not a party to this case.  And the church, itself, 

19  would have to have standing in order to assert that privilege. 

20                And, additionally, the records, once reviewed, 

21  once the Court can see them, you'll clearly see that there's a 

22  hodgepodge in here.  There's school records, there's some 

23  little documents -- and then there's a lot of, basically, 

24  inventories and logs.  There's nothing in here where someone's 

25  making a confidential statement to a clergy.  So I think as far
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1  as any 505 restriction would not apply. 

2                THE COURT:  All right.  At the city hall, sir, if 

3  you would state your name for me. 

4                MR. GOLDSTEIN:  My name is Gerry Goldstein.  I 

5  represent the FLDS Church, nominally, and Lyle Jeffs, 

6  individually. 

7                THE COURT:  Mr. Goldstein -- 

8                MR. GOLDSTEIN:  I am not really -- yes, ma'am? 

9                THE COURT:  Are you in this case on the civil 
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10  case?  I thought it was clear that you were in this case on the 

11  criminal case. 

12                MR. GOLDSTEIN:  Your Honor is exactly right.  And 

13  that's my concern, if I may be heard in two seconds. 

14                THE COURT:  Have a seat, Mr. Goldstein. 

15                Yes, sir? 

16                MR. LOVE:  My name is Greg Love.  I represent one 

17  of the children in 2902.  I just wanted to offer the Court the 

18  law the Court is asking for with respect to 505. 

19                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

20                MR. LOVE:  The law is Koss versus State of Texas, 

21  15 SW3rd 633, Dallas appellate opinion, year 2000.  States:  In 

22  our view the Rule 505 requires more than just a clergyman to be 

23  acting in his professional capacity.  It also requires that the 

24  clergyman be acting as a spiritual advisor. 

25                The opinion goes further:  Other law is Maldanado
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1  versus State, 59 SW3d 251, Corpus Christi Court of Appeals. 

2  And finally, Your Honor, there is a 1985 Attorney General's 

3  opinion that is consistent with, that which is opinion Texas 

4  Attorney General number JM-3421985, which is consistent with 

5  both of those rulings and cited in both of those rulings saying 

6  there is no clergy privilege as it relates to child sexual 

7  abuse investigations or cases. 

8                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anyone else over at the 

9  city hall that wishes to be heard on this point?  Thank you. 

10                Anyone else here that needs to be heard on this 

11  point? 

12                MR. HARKIEWICZ:  Steven Harkiewicz, attorney ad 
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13  litem for two of the children in the 2902 case, Janell Barlow 

14  and Madison Jessop.  Two things, Your Honor.  First of all, I 

15  believe packets were maybe circulated among some of the 

16  respondents, but the -- I don't think any of the ad litems have 

17  seen the packet of what we're talking about, which is 

18  problematic of raising objections. 

19                But then, secondly, I believe there to be an 

20  objection of the fact that this witness has testified that he 

21  assisted in the search.  I don't believe that the petitioner's 

22  established the proper predicate to -- for the admission of 

23  this, because they haven't established the proper predicate 

24  that there was a proper search of the ranch to start with, 

25  which -- and none of the ad litems have actually been privy to
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1  the initial search warrant as to why the ranch was searched. 

2                We've been provided with a copy of a removal 

3  affidavit, which seems to indicate that the search was prompted 

4  by a call of a sixteen-year-old, and we haven't -- so that's 

5  problematic.  So we don't believe the Department has or the 

6  petitioner's established proper predicate to get to this 

7  point.  It seems like we should have some evidence of how we 

8  got to this point before we start admitting evidence as to what 

9  was seized from the ranch. 

10                THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you. 

11                MS. RICHARDS:  May I respond? 

12                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

13                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I think that this is 

14  not a criminal proceeding, so any evidence as to the search 

15  warrant is not relevant.  This is a civil proceeding.  I 
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16  believe I've laid the proper predicate for how these records 

17  were acquired. 

18                THE COURT:  The Court will overrule the 

19  objections.  You may continue. 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor -- 

21                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

22                MS. HENNINGTON:  You asked me to take my 

23  objections one at a time.  We do have -- 

24                THE COURT:  Come on over here to the microphone. 

25                THE WITNESS:  Your Honor, Amy Hennington.  Your
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1  Honor, you'd asked me to take my objections individually.  We 

2  also have objections to the school records of a Benjamin 

3  Jessop.  I was provided late yesterday afternoon a listing that 

4  detailed all the children that were the subject of -- of this. 

5  There is no Benjamin Jessop listed, so we would object as to 

6  any school records of a Benjamin Jessop as to relevancy. 

7                MS. RICHARDS:  May I respond, Your Honor?  Judge, 

8  as this case developed, what you will hear repeatedly is that 

9  the identity of these children has been secreted from us on 

10  occasion.  And the identity of children has changed from day to 

11  day.  So the fact that Benjamin may not be on our list right 

12  now doesn't mean he's not covered by this proceeding. 

13                THE COURT:  Court will overrule your objection. 

14  Is that it?  For now?  Court doesn't see anyone at the city 

15  hall.  Exhibit 4 is admitted. 

16                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

17      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Officer, let's start with the very 

18  first page in the folder that you found -- 
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19                THE COURT:  They can't hear you. 

20                I know this is going to be cumbersome, but you're 

21  really going to have to stay at the podium. 

22                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Judge. 

23      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Officer, the first document is a 

24  father's family information sheet, Bishop Record.  What's the 

25  name on the first line that is identified as "self"?
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1                THE COURT:  Could I stop -- you know, it would be 

2  helpful to the Court if the Court got to see the exhibits that 

3  are admitted.  Do you have a copy for the Court? 

4                MS. RICHARDS:  I certainly do, Your Honor.  Let 

5  me get it for you -- or I did at one point. 

6                (Handing copy to the Court.) 

7                MR. EDWARDS:  Did your -- Your Honor say the 

8  exhibit had been admitted? 

9                THE COURT:  Yes, Mr. Edwards.  I asked if anyone 

10  else had another objection.  No one rose.  I admitted it.  Do 

11  you have an objection you would like to make, Mr. Edwards? 

12                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  You better get to the podium. 

14                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

15                I will take them one at a time or all at once, 

16  however the Court -- 

17                THE COURT:  You know, I'm a -- I'm a simple 

18  country judge, and you just need to keep this one objection at 

19  a time -- 

20                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

21                THE COURT:  -- so I can be focused. 

Page 56



4-17-08 

22                MR. EDWARDS:  First, Your Honor, is good 

23  old-fashioned relevancy. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay.  They've raised the issue of 

25  relevancy.
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1                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I think that what is 

2  paramount through these documents is a pattern of showing that 

3  these -- these -- this household and the -- at the ranch kept 

4  good records about who lived there. 

5                And in these records you'll see clearly that they 

6  identify a head of household or -- in this thing, and then in 

7  it will identify wives and children.  And it is also kind 

8  enough to give us the ages of the individuals on the date that 

9  the document was created.  And so what it will clearly show is 

10  a pattern of many children and many wives.  And in this small 

11  section of the documents, there are a fair number of underaged 

12  wives. 

13                On the first document you'll see Mr. Steed, who 

14  is -- 

15                THE COURT:  Now, wait.  Wait.  Without going into 

16  the contents of the document, because -- 

17                MS. RICHARDS:  I agree, Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  -- I've allowed Mr. Edwards to jump 

19  back. 

20                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you. 

21                THE COURT:  So the relevance is, they're saying 

22  that this actually probably goes to the merits of their case. 

23                MR. EDWARDS:  They're saying, as I understand 

24  counsel's comments, that -- that what appears to be a listing 
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25  of some family groups is relevant for that reason.  There -- as
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1  she told the Court earlier, I believe her word was a hodgepodge 

2  of various other -- maybe I misheard counsel about that. 

3                But there are more things there than merely 

4  family groups.  There are some things, there are school 

5  records, or things that appear to be some handiwork of 

6  children.  And, certainly, with respect to the exhibit when 

7  offered in that way, with all of those other items that have 

8  been -- not been explained or justified as to their relevancy, 

9  I think my objection is good. 

10                THE COURT:  You know, doesn't -- how do you make 

11  an objection as to relevance when you haven't actually found 

12  out what's in the record? 

13                MS. RICHARDS:  Judge -- 

14                THE COURT:  How do you do that, Mr. Edwards? 

15                MR. EDWARDS:  I reviewed it, Your Honor, during 

16  the break. 

17                THE COURT:  Okay.  Generally, when you have an 

18  objection as to relevance, is the party that is wanting to 

19  offer that allowed some leeway to develop the relevance of a 

20  document, subject to it being stricken should it be proven to 

21  be not relevant? 

22                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

23                THE COURT:  I would kind of think that maybe 

24  that's something we ought to consider with this.  What do you 

25  think, Mr. Edwards?
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1                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Edwards. 

3                Now I see someone has risen over at the city 

4  hall.  What can I do for you? 

5                MS. ALVAREZ:  Good morning, Your Honor.  My name 

6  is Mary Lou Alvarez.  I'm from Texas Rio Grand Legal Aid.  I 

7  represent five of the respondents, Ms. Audrey Richter, Ms. 

8  Lucille Neilson, Ms. Sarah Nicholson, Ms. Sylvia Johnson, and 

9  Ms. Rosie Richter. 

10                And I want to object, first, just procedurally. 

11  Not all of the attorneys here at city hall have had an 

12  opportunity to review this exhibit before it has been admitted. 

13  And my second objection is whether or not these documents can 

14  truly be authenticated by the officer who is testifying about 

15  them, to the extent that the State is going to be using these 

16  records to identify members of a household, ages of those 

17  members of the household and the residence. 

18                There's no date of births on these records. 

19  There's no signature on the bottom of these records indicating 

20  who created them.  And there is a date, but there's no way to 

21  go back and determine whether or not these records are even 

22  authenticated. 

23                THE COURT:  Ma'am -- 

24                MS. ALVAREZ:  So that is my objection. 

25                THE COURT:  Some of what your objection is goes
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1  to the weight, does it not?  Whether some of the objections as 
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2  to who -- whether or not you can rely upon these dates or 

3  numbers being correct.  That -- that's a weight issue that 

4  maybe you could develop later on.  Business records, you know, 

5  he's really not -- I don't -- I don't think I understand that 

6  part of the objection or maybe I didn't understand what the 

7  objection was. 

8                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, my objection is the 

9  admissibility for the purposes which the State just said -- 

10  said that they were using these records to determine:  the 

11  number of people in the household, who was the wives, who were 

12  the children, and the ages of the wives and the children in a 

13  designated household. 

14                There is no way this person can testify regarding 

15  that information on these documents.  So if he -- if he were 

16  the person who had signed and created these documents, and I 

17  agree with the Court, it would be a matter of relevancy and 

18  weight of the evidence.  But there's no way he can even testify 

19  to the admissibility of these records for the stated purpose, 

20  which the State said they were going to be using them for. 

21                THE COURT:  Well, now, just -- this doesn't 

22  really apply to this case, but if we were in a, say, a criminal 

23  drug case.  And say they had confiscated records in connection 

24  with distribution lists from unlicensed pharmaceutical 

25  representatives.  Would the State be allowed to say:  We
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1  confiscated these records from there, and admit them that way? 

2  Not saying they're necessarily true and correct, just simply 

3  saying:  Found these records in a box.  Here they are, Judge. 

4                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, that's not what the 
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5  State is saying.  The State is saying:  We found these records. 

6  Here they are, Judge, and here's what they mean. 

7                THE COURT:  Well -- 

8                MS. ALVAREZ:  And they're trying to get to the 

9  stage of "here's what they mean" without even creating some 

10  type of authentication by what's written down.  There's no date 

11  of births.  So how are we going to even testify to the age 

12  that's listed on these records? 

13                THE COURT:  You know, for -- for a lawyer that 

14  didn't get to see these records, you're doing really good about 

15  what's in them.  What -- 

16                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, I was at the first of 

17  the line, so I have seen half of the records.  And when the 

18  Court admitted the record, I stepped out of line and I have not 

19  reviewed all of the record. 

20                THE COURT:  Okay. 

21                MS. ALVAREZ:  There are about twenty-five 

22  attorneys who still need to see the record. 

23                THE COURT:  All right.  What I am going to do at 

24  this point.  And it's against my nature, but I'm going to 

25  conditionally admit these.  I think many of your objections
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1  actually are matters that you will be entitled to examine the 

2  witness on and to put on evidence so that the Court can 

3  consider what weight, if any, to give the evidence that's 

4  before the Court, and whether or not it ultimately is admitted. 

5                So I would conditionally allow them to testify. 

6  You-all have all the right in the world to redact the 

7  information from it.  All right?  Thank you.  Next objection. 
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8                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I need to clarify 

9  something.  The documents which were given to counsel to review 

10  actually had more pages than what this witness has.  The pages 

11  that this witness is testifying to are a total of forty-one 

12  pages.  And they are all -- they go through the Bishop Records, 

13  and the extraneous documents of school records were not 

14  included. 

15                THE COURT:  So school records are not in 

16  Petitioner's Exhibit 4? 

17                MS. RICHARDS:  That's correct, Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  All right.  Yes, Mr. Edwards? 

19                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, I reiterate and re-urge 

20  Ms. Hennington's objection as to the search and seizure without 

21  probable cause under the Fourth Amendment of the United States 

22  Constitution. 

23                THE COURT:  Overruled. 

24                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I object 

25  under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution on
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1  the basis of religious freedom.  To my knowledge this is a 

2  unique situation.  Admittedly, my knowledge isn't vast, 

3  perhaps, but to my knowledge only this sect has been handled 

4  procedurally in the way this -- this -- this group has been -- 

5  this -- this church has been. 

6                THE COURT:  Flesh that out a little bit for me. 

7  Tell me, you're claiming First Amendment protection? 

8                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, ma'am. 

9                THE COURT:  To -- to what, the whole case? 

10                MR. EDWARDS:  Well, it goes back to the motion to 
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11  dismiss.  It goes back to the motions for separate trials, for 

12  the motion to sever.  The -- the way the case is being 

13  conducted is -- the Court acknowledged at the very outset is 

14  highly extraordinary.  And I think that has to do with the -- 

15  the group that is the subject and the individuals that are the 

16  subjects of this case. 

17                And the thrust of the State's argument is set out 

18  in its petitions and is set out in the affidavit in support of 

19  the -- the warrant for search of the premises, almost 

20  exclusively goes to the -- to the church, to its beliefs, to 

21  its alleged practices.  The -- I think that the -- the 

22  Department's case basically boils down to an attack on the 

23  church and its fundamentals. 

24                THE COURT:  But -- 

25                MS. RICHARDS:  Judge --
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1                THE COURT:  Would like -- the Department like to 

2  respond? 

3                MS. RICHARDS:  Yes, we would, Your Honor. 

4                This is not a case against the church.  This is 

5  against sexual abuse, in general.  And that's what the thrust 

6  of this case is.  We have no issue which will be presented to 

7  this Court about this organization's belief system, its 

8  religious acts.  What we have are its behaviors with regard to 

9  its minor children.  We believe it's a pattern of sexual 

10  assault. 

11                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards. 

12                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  We object 

13  on the basis of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 
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14  Constitution.  As I told the Court -- 

15                THE COURT:  Could we just -- could we just 

16  focus -- I haven't gotten past the First Amendment objection. 

17  Before you throw anything else at me -- 

18                MR. EDWARDS:  Thank you. 

19                THE COURT:  -- let's focus on that. 

20                Do you want to respond to -- to why this isn't a 

21  compelling State interest that allows the State to, if this is 

22  a religious argument case, to come here representing children 

23  that the State or the Department believes have been abused? 

24  Which I haven't heard any evidence of yet, we haven't gotten to 

25  what the meat of the matter is.  But your position is that
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1  under First Amendment freedoms of religion, the State has no 

2  compelling interest to protect the children of the State? 

3                MR. EDWARDS:  I'm not saying that, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Okay. 

5                MR. EDWARDS:  I'm saying that -- that this -- 

6  this group has -- has been dealt with in a way that churches, 

7  generally, have not been dealt with, that other religions have 

8  not been dealt with. 

9                THE COURT:  Now, wait.  Wait.  The church is not 

10  in front of the Court today. 

11                MR. EDWARDS:  I understand, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  The parents and the children are in 

13  front of the Court today.  So just let me ask you, if, say, 

14  down at one of our local churches there was some indication, 

15  enough that some magistrate thought there was probable cause to 

16  go and investigate, some indication of some type of sexual 
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17  abuse occurring, not -- not sanctioned by the church, but just 

18  occurring on the premises of the church, would -- would not the 

19  Department -- the Department of Protective Regulatory Services, 

20  would they not have the -- the right to go protect children 

21  even if it was occurring on property owned by another church? 

22                MR. EDWARDS:  I think they -- the Department 

23  would have the right, yes. 

24                THE COURT:  Isn't that really because this is 

25  not -- the church is not a party to this, in this proceeding.
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1                MR. EDWARDS:  Technically, I agree with the 

2  Court, except the church is -- is the people, you know.  The 

3  church is not a building.  The church is not -- is not a 

4  constitution or a set of bylaws.  The church is its people. 

5  So -- 

6                THE COURT:  So help me understand, because I know 

7  I'm misunderstanding the argument you're trying to make on 

8  this.  But tell me exactly how the church would have any vested 

9  interest -- any church, anywhere, have a vested interest if 

10  sexual abuse of children was going on. 

11                MR. EDWARDS:  I agree.  I don't think -- 

12                THE COURT:  So that's really not a religious -- 

13  freedom of religion. 

14                MR. EDWARDS:  Not only on behalf of the church, 

15  but on behalf of the individual adult respondents. 

16                THE COURT:  Tell me exactly what you're saying. 

17  Articulate it so that even I can understand it, Mr. Edwards. 

18                MR. EDWARDS:  I'm not sure, Judge, that I can do 

19  that.  And -- and let me -- let me hasten to say I mean no 
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20  disrespect to the Court when I say that. 

21                THE COURT:  I know you're limited -- you're 

22  working with a limited quality here, and I have limited 

23  abilities.  So I -- I understand. 

24                MR. EDWARDS:  And, likewise, Judge, I have stated 

25  my objection to the best of my ability.  And I await the
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1  Court's ruling. 

2                THE COURT:  You know, I just can't see -- and the 

3  Court is not in the position, certainly does not intend to rule 

4  about someone's religious practices and their freedom of 

5  religion.  What I'm trying to get to is whether or not these 

6  children should be returned to their parents. 

7                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Or whether or not there's enough 

9  information that they need to be retained in the custody of the 

10  Department.  I'm not passing on anybody's religious beliefs. 

11  So to that extent, your argument about First Amendment stopping 

12  these hearings, I really kind of think we need to go on on that 

13  one. 

14                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  And so that would probably do 

16  something with your fourth -- your Fourteenth Amendment claim 

17  that you were going to make? 

18                MR. EDWARDS:  Well, the Fourteenth Amendment 

19  claim relates to activities of the Department before today's 

20  date in connection with the taking of the children, the -- and 

21  that's part of my motion which the Court has taken under 

22  advisement. 
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23                THE COURT:  Mr. Edwards, the whole argument about 

24  the action of the Department taking the children after the 

25  Court had issued an emergency order, that's the purpose of this
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1  hearing is to review that action. 

2                MR. EDWARDS:  I understand, Judge. 

3                THE COURT:  And it would really probably be 

4  helpful if we could get to that action. 

5                MR. EDWARDS:  That's fine. 

6                THE COURT:  That's -- that's what a 14-day 

7  hearing is designed to focus on, whether or not there was 

8  sufficient information that had -- available at that time and 

9  developed since that time to justify the intrusion by the State 

10  into these folks' lives.  And I will be glad to continue to go 

11  back and forth about this, but the real issue we haven't even 

12  been able to get to.  And the issue is whether or not the Court 

13  can return these children to their parents. 

14                MR. EDWARDS:  I understand, Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  So to the extent that you-all want to 

16  continue to argue about procedure, I applaud you.  But you need 

17  to help me focus what the issue is:  Did the Department act in 

18  a way and based on information that when the -- in the light of 

19  day is insufficient for the Department to continue to be the 

20  temporary managing conservators?  That's the purpose of a 

21  14-day hearing. 

22                A lot of these other issues may come up at other 

23  hearings.  This is a continuation of the emergency process and 

24  it is designed to have a little bit looser procedure, I think, 

25  so that the parents are not ham -- hampered.  And many times --
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1  as you well know, many times parents don't have lawyers at 

2  these hearings. 

3                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Children don't have lawyers at these 

5  hearings.  We're fortunate that -- that they do at this 

6  hearing. 

7                But we need to understand the nature of this as a 

8  temporary matter so that I can get to the real part of the 

9  matter and that is whether or not these children should be able 

10  to be returned. 

11                MR. EDWARDS:  I understand. 

12                THE COURT:  So as to the extent that the lawyers 

13  want to continue this, I'll be glad to listen to it and it is 

14  your right. 

15                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, I understand the 

16  purpose of the hearing and the information the Court needs to 

17  hear to make an informed judgment in the best interest of all 

18  of these children.  We're merely asking, and I think it's 

19  appropriate that we do so, that the evidence that the Court 

20  consider be appropriate and admissible evidence.  And that's 

21  the basis of my objections. 

22                THE COURT:  The Family Code also has a provision 

23  in there that says, because we are dealing with the best 

24  interest of a child, sometimes the -- the Court has some leeway 

25  on rules of evidence because of the fear that a rule of
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1  evidence that was crafted for a variety of reasons might impede 

2  the ability of the Court to receive vital information that 

3  would be relevant for the Court in making its decision. 

4                So if we all understand that there is that 

5  additional line of authority for rules of evidence, maybe that 

6  will help.  But please urge any objections you have.  But I'm 

7  going at this time say that really objections with regards to 

8  freedom of religion are probably not raised at this nature, but 

9  I'll take -- at this juncture.  But I'll take it under 

10  advisement, Mr. Edwards. 

11                Yes, Ms. Goodman. 

12                Ms. Goodman. 

13                MS. GOODMAN:  Oh, sorry, Your Honor.  I am 

14  Stephanie Goodman, and I have been retained by Gail and Brandon 

15  Blackmore.  Their minor child is Mildred Marlene Blackmore, and 

16  also retained by Amy Johnson, who is the mother of Sarah 

17  Johnson -- Johnson.  Her age is in dispute as to whether she's 

18  a minor. 

19                Your Honor, I would make a -- an additional First 

20  Amendment right objection.  My objection is that these are 

21  privileged under the First Amendment right to associate.  These 

22  are -- these are what we believe to be essentially membership 

23  lists.  And we think that they are protected and should not be 

24  admitted. 

25                THE COURT:  Okay.  The State -- or the
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1  Department? 

2                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, it is our position 

3  that these are documents that they kept to basically keep track 
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4  of who was where.  They're not membership lists in -- in a way 

5  of anyone taking an allegiance or an oath.  Because if you look 

6  at the documents, they're just lists of people, their 

7  relationships to each other and their ages, where they are. 

8                THE COURT:  All right.  I think Ms. Sloan rose. 

9                MS. SLOAN:  I'm sorry, Your Honor, I just wanted 

10  to clarify from Ms. Goodman, because I saw her on the news last 

11  night, asserting that she was attorney for Sarah Johnson.  And 

12  she's now stated that she's the attorney for Sarah Johnson's 

13  mother Amy.  And I just wanted to make sure that -- that any 

14  objections that are being made by Ms. Goodman are not being 

15  made on behalf of Sarah Johnson. 

16                THE COURT:  As you are the attorney ad litem for 

17  Ms. -- for the -- the individual that is -- her age is in 

18  question; is that correct? 

19                MS. SLOAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

20                MS. GOODMAN:  Your Honor -- 

21                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

22                MS. GOODMAN:  -- I would say that Ms. Sloan 

23  misinterpreted.  The feed was on the news this morning and I 

24  did not represent that I -- 

25                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Ms. Goodman, I'm going
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1  to try to focus on the issue you're raising.  And you're 

2  raising a freedom of association issue.  And I really think 

3  that that is an issue that is better raised in other situations 

4  and later down the road. 

5                I would -- I will try to rule on your 

6  constitutional challenges as we get through this.  But, please, 
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7  everyone -- and I'm not suggesting anyone should waive their 

8  challenges.  But the State does have a legitimate interest in 

9  protecting its children and putting on evidence that may or may 

10  not justify the actions that were taken fourteen days ago. 

11                So without telling you that you are not 

12  ultimately going to be successful on that, for purposes of 

13  today's hearing, I'm going to allow them to continue.  Put your 

14  objections in writing.  I will rule on them at a later time. 

15                MS. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, may I be allowed to 

16  cite the case that I was speaking of? 

17                THE COURT:  Is it the NAACP case out of Alabama? 

18                MS. GOODMAN:  Yes, it is, Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  I'm familiar with it.  Thank you. 

20                MS. GOODMAN:  Thank you. 

21                THE COURT:  What else?  You're up. 

22                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

23      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Officer, on the first page, is -- 

24  what's the name listed in the block marked number one? 

25      A.   My first page is Wendell Loy Nielsen.
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1                THE COURT:  Pull your chair up closer to the 

2  microphone. 

3      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) It appears that yours are in a 

4  different order than mine. 

5                MS. RICHARDS:  May I stand by the witness, Your 

6  Honor? 

7                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                MS. RICHARDS:  I'll try to speak up. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you, ma'am. 
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10                THE WITNESS:  Which one are we looking for? 

11      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) Okay.  We're going to start with this 

12  one.  The document which starts out with the name LeRoy J. 

13  Steed as "self" -- 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   -- there's a block there indicating the age.  What is 

16  the age listed? 

17      A.   It appears to be forty. 

18      Q.   And if you follow down the list there's a list of a 

19  wife, some sons and daughters.  And then it gets down to number 

20  twenty-two and there's another wife listed, would be what age 

21  for her? 

22      A.   On line twenty-two or twenty-three? 

23      Q.   Let's start with twenty-two. 

24      A.   Twenty-two, her age is shown to be twenty-one. 

25      Q.   And then on line twenty-three?
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1      A.   Sixteen. 

2      Q.   And she's listed as what relationship to Mr. Steed? 

3      A.   Wife. 

4      Q.   Now if we can move to the document that starts out 

5  with Abraham Parker Jeffs. (sic) 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

7      Q.   On line one, regarding Mr. Jeffs, what does it list 

8  his age as? 

9      A.   Thirty-five. 

10      Q.   And on line two he lists a wife age thirty-three; is 

11  that correct? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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13      Q.   And on line three what name is there? 

14      A.   Suzanne Jessop Jeffs. 

15      Q.   And what relation is she listed to -- 

16      A.   Wife. 

17      Q.   And what age? 

18      A.   Sixteen. 

19      Q.   Okay.  We can move to the one that starts with the 

20  name Lehi B. Allred. 

21                THE COURT:  I'm sorry, you can't hear? 

22                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I couldn't understand the 

23  name, Judge. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay. 

25                THE WITNESS:  Lehi B. Allred.
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1                THE COURT:  Would you do me the favor of going 

2  back to the deal.  And we'll just be patient while he finds the 

3  page you're talking about. 

4                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Judge. 

5                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   (MS. RICHARDS) What is the age listed for Mr. Allred? 

7      A.   Twenty-eight. 

8      Q.   And on line two, what name is listed? 

9      A.   Rachel Keate Allred. 

10      Q.   And what's her relationship? 

11      A.   Wife. 

12      Q.   And age? 

13      A.   Sixteen. 

14      Q.   Okay.  If we can move to the document listing the name 

15  Keith William Dutson, Jr. 
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16      A.   Okay. 

17      Q.   On line two, what name is listed? 

18      A.   Rebecca Keate Dutson. 

19      Q.   And what is her relationship? 

20      A.   Wife. 

21      Q.   And her age? 

22      A.   Sixteen. 

23      Q.   If we can move to the one starting with the name Luke 

24  Seth Nielsen. 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   What is the name on line two? 

2      A.   Sarah Cathleen Jessop Nielsen. 

3      Q.   And her age? 

4      A.   Sixteen. 

5      Q.   And what's her relationship? 

6      A.   Wife. 

7      Q.   We can look at the one which starts with the name 

8  Jackson Merril Jessop? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   What's the name listed under that on line two? 

11      A.   Pamela Nielsen Jessop. 

12      Q.   And what's her relationship? 

13      A.   Wife. 

14      Q.   Age? 

15      A.   Seventeen. 

16      Q.   And is there a child listed on that document, as well? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   What's his name? 
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19      A.   Matthew Nielsen Jessop. 

20      Q.   And his age? 

21      A.   Eight months. 

22      Q.   The one that the first name is listed as Allan E. 

23  Keate. 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   On line seven, what name is listed?
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1      A.   Merilyn Keate. 

2      Q.   And let's go back to line one.  Allan E. Keate, what 

3  is his age? 

4      A.   Fifty-four. 

5      Q.   And what is the age of Merilyn E. Keate? (sic) 

6      A.   Seventeen. 

7      Q.   And her relationship? 

8      A.   Wife. 

9      Q.   If we can move to the one listed David W. Jessop. 

10      A.   David W. Jessop? 

11      Q.   That's correct. 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   His age? 

14      A.   Thirty-one. 

15      Q.   And on line three? 

16      A.   Priscilla Z. Jessop. 

17      Q.   And she's listed as? 

18      A.   Wife. 

19      Q.   And her age? 

20      A.   Nineteen. 

21      Q.   And is there a daughter on line eight by the name of 
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22  Cynthia Jessop? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24      Q.   And what is the daughter's age? 

25      A.   Two.
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1      Q.   We can move to the one listed Michael G. Emack. 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   What is Mr. Emack's age? 

4      A.   Fifty-six. 

5      Q.   And on line two, what name is listed? 

6      A.   Ruleen J. 

7      Q.   And her relationship? 

8      A.   Wife. 

9      Q.   And her age? 

10      A.   Nineteen. 

11      Q.   Is there a son listed, as well, on line three? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   And his name? 

14      A.   Rulon M. 

15      Q.   And his age at that time? 

16      A.   One and a half. 

17      Q.   There's one that starts with the name Keith William 

18  Dutson, Sr. 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   And on line six, what name is listed? 

21      A.   Natalia Jessop. 

22      Q.   And her relationship? 

23      A.   Wife. 

24      Q.   And her age? 
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25      A.   Seventeen.
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1      Q.   Oh, back up to line one.  What age was Mr. Dutson? 

2      A.   Forty-six. 

3      Q.   And are there children listed on that document? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5      Q.   And they're of -- of various ages, and they're not 

6  designated by wife, are they? 

7      A.   No, ma'am. 

8      Q.   And they go from ages nineteen to one; is that 

9  correct? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11                MS. RICHARDS:  At this time I'll pass the 

12  witness, Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  All right.  Now, what we're going to 

14  do is, if you represent one of the men whose names have been 

15  listed in this, we're going to go through and let you ask 

16  questions as they relate to your client on these documents, to 

17  start out with.  So I know that all the lawyers representing 

18  the male respondents were listening.  I'll take the first one 

19  that wants to volunteer. 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor -- Your Honor, that 

21  would be Amy Hennington.  We represent James Dockstader. 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MS. HENNINGTON: 

24      Q.   Do you have a document that starts off with James 

25  Dockstader?
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1      A.   What's the last name, ma'am? 

2      Q.   D-O-C-K-S-T-A-D-E-R? 

3      A.   I don't believe so. 

4      Q.   It's not in one of the pages list -- 

5      A.   No, ma'am. 

6      Q.   I'm sorry. 

7      A.   I don't believe that's a name that came up.  I have a 

8  Keith Dutson. 

9                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, may I approach the 

10  witness? 

11                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

12                (Respondent's 1 marked.) 

13      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Officer, before I approach, the list 

14  that you have right there, is that everything -- is that the 

15  entire list that you took? 

16      A.   Of property that I took? 

17      Q.   Of that -- of that Bishop Record list, the one that 

18  you're testifying from, is it a complete listing? 

19      A.   I don't know that this was all of them that were 

20  seized at the ranch. 

21      Q.   Okay. 

22      A.   I don't know.  Because I know I saw some in some 

23  houses.  These are the items that were seized, the item number 

24  I was given to bring to -- to court with me this morning. 

25      Q.   Okay.  And so --
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1      A.   And as far as if this is a complete, this is 
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2  everything that -- because it was seized as-is out of the safe. 

3  And this is everything that was in that safe where these -- 

4  these items were taken. 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, may I approach then? 

6                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

7                MS. HENNINGTON:  Do you want me to put 

8  Respondent's father, Debbie? 

9                THE REPORTER:  Please. 

10                THE COURT:  Would you identify -- just wait. 

11  Would you identify what you've handed, please. 

12      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Officer, I've shown you what's been 

13  marked as Father Respondent Exhibit 1.  Do you recognize that 

14  document? 

15      A.   It's a sheet similar to what we're looking at, a 

16  Bishop's Record like these that are in this folder. 

17      Q.   Is it one that you have seen and you would -- 

18      A.   I'd have to go through here to know if it's in here, 

19  ma'am.  I don't know if I've seen this or not. 

20      Q.   Would you take a second to see if you have that? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22                Yes, ma'am.  I have one here. 

23      Q.   Okay.  So the Exhibit 4 that was admitted by the 

24  State, is it a complete listing of what you seized or is it 

25  only selected pages out of it?
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1      A.   I don't understand your question, ma'am. 

2      Q.   You -- the State introduced Exhibit 4 through your 

3  testimony; is that right? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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5      Q.   In Exhibit 4 that was introduced, was it a complete 

6  copy of what you seized? 

7      A.   This is what I seized.  These are the originals that I 

8  took from the safe, ma'am.  This is not a copy.  These are the 

9  items I seized. 

10      Q.   The copy that was provided by the State that was 

11  admitted, is it an accurate copy of what you originally took 

12  from that safe? 

13      A.   This one is, yes, ma'am.  When compared to this one, 

14  it is. 

15      Q.   Is Exhibit 4 that's been admitted by the State an 

16  accurate and complete listing of what was seized at the time of 

17  the raid?  Do you understand? 

18      A.   It's one of the many items seized during the raid. 

19  And it's not the only item that was seized from this office, 

20  from this safe, ma'am. 

21      Q.   Okay. 

22      A.   Now these appear to be what I logged as evidence, yes, 

23  ma'am. 

24      Q.   The copy that the State provided you, is it the same 

25  thing that's in your file that --
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1      A.   This is a portion of what's in this file, ma'am. 

2      Q.   Okay.  So the State did not admit the entire -- 

3      A.   We did not go through each of these pages, 

4  individually, no, ma'am.  They asked me about specific ones on 

5  direct. 

6      Q.   Okay.  Okay.  So moving -- going to -- 

7                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Ms. Hennington, so 
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8  if -- I -- under the ground rules I kind of set for this round 

9  of examination, if this individual wasn't specifically -- 

10  specifically asked about or testified to at this point, doesn't 

11  mean you're not going to get to it -- 

12                MS. HENNINGTON:  Right. 

13                THE COURT:  -- then I want you to move onto 

14  somebody else. 

15                MS. HENNINGTON:  Right.  I just wanted to take 

16  it -- I just wanted to make sure that that one is not on the 

17  list the State gave him, the one I'm showing him. 

18                THE COURT:  Well, now, I think I understood the 

19  witness to say that this one may be in that packet, but the 

20  question was, he did not -- he was not asked a specific 

21  question about this individual document that's within the 

22  packet, and for purposes of right now -- 

23                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay. 

24                THE COURT:  -- I've limited the questioning to 

25  individuals that were -- that were separated out and testified
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1  to about.  Now you're going to get to have an opportunity to go 

2  through all of this if that's what you want to do. 

3                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay. 

4                THE COURT:  But right now, just for crowd 

5  control, we're going to try, if you're a respondent -- 

6  father-respondent was a specific one of the folks that they 

7  listed and talked about, then I would like the lawyers to first 

8  ask questions about those. 

9                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor, and I'm sorry, 

10  because the State had given me an exhibit that had a longer 
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11  list, so that's why I thought it was in there. 

12                May I approach the witness? 

13                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

14                Do we have an attorney representing a Respondent 

15  whose name was talked about in this exhibit that wishes to ask 

16  this witness a question?  Anybody over at the -- and can I 

17  assume that the respondent's attorneys are all present in the 

18  courthouse in -- that I'm sitting in?  Is there -- is there a 

19  Respondent's attorney at the city hall?  I take it by your 

20  silence over there that I have all the lawyers that are 

21  representing parent respondents in this courtroom. 

22                MS. ALVAREZ:  No, Your Honor, that is not 

23  correct. 

24                THE COURT:  Attagirl.  I knew you would stand 

25  up.  All right.  Did you -- now you represent, if I remember,
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1  correctly, a mother or several mothers. 

2                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, I rep- -- I represent 

3  five mothers. 

4                THE COURT:  Great.  We're not -- we're not to you 

5  yet.  We have any respondent lawyers that represent fathers 

6  over there? 

7                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, no one seems to be 

8  making any motion, so I -- I assume the answer is no.  There 

9  are no respondent-fathers here at city hall. 

10                THE COURT:  Great.  Don't go far away, but let me 

11  just move on to how we're trying to do this.  Mr. Hargrove, 

12  this is like an auction.  You scratch your nose, you're going 

13  to get called on. 
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14                MR. HARGROVE:  Tip Hargrove, I represent two 

15  mothers. 

16                THE COURT:  I'm focusing on fathers, Mr. 

17  Hargrove. 

18                MR. HARGROVE:  I know.  I wanted to know- you 

19  pointed to me- am I to have a seat and come back? 

20                THE COURT:  Have a seat. 

21                MR. HARGROVE:  Okay.  But you pointed.  I 

22  wouldn't have come if you wouldn't have pointed. 

23                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I should have told folks 

24  that since this is a large crowd, auctions in West Texas, if 

25  you scratch your nose, you just bought it.  So anybody over
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1  here that's representing a father that wants to ask any 

2  questions regarding the names that were called here? 

3                Okay.  I haven't forgotten the ad litems.  Now if 

4  you were -- if you're representing a mother whose name was 

5  talked about in this packet, I'll now take anybody that wants 

6  to examine the witness from the mother's point of view, or the 

7  wife's point of view. 

8                Seeing no sign over here -- yes, ma'am.  Yes, 

9  Sheri, help me. 

10                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, okay, can you go 

11  over the women's names that were mentioned?  There's a question 

12  as to who those -- who those were. 

13                THE COURT:  You know, just like I tell the juries 

14  when they ask to have the whole trial read back, y'all have got 

15  to pay attention over there.  If they think that they've got a 

16  mother that qualifies, step up to the podium and we -- we'll 
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17  sort it out. 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, ma'am. 

19                THE COURT:  Thank you, Sheri.  Yes, ma'am. 

20                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, are you speaking with 

21  me? 

22                THE COURT:  Yes.  Yes, ma'am, I am.  The 

23  mothers --  you're talking and you're representing wives.  Was 

24  your -- did the witness call any of the wives you represent or 

25  mothers that you represent's names, to the best of your
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1  ability? 

2                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor -- Your Honor, I don't 

3  know.  I was still reviewing records while the witness was 

4  testifying.  I can review my client's names and if the State or 

5  the Court would tell me that that was part of the testimony, 

6  then I will proceed with my cross examination. 

7                THE COURT:  Okay.  But I don't think I can do 

8  this for everybody, but let's -- let's give it a go.  Come on. 

9  Who do you represent? 

10                MS. ALVAREZ:  Lucille Nielsen. 

11                THE COURT:  And I probably need a little 

12  participation from the -- it may be you could narrow it down by 

13  having your client tell you if they are married to any of the 

14  men that we identified. 

15                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, my clients are confined 

16  in the coliseum, so they are not here. 

17                THE COURT:  All right. 

18                MS. ALVAREZ:  So I can't have my clients tell me 

19  if they -- their spouse was identified. 
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20                THE COURT:  Okay.  That's -- that's a legitimate 

21  problem.  State, can you tell me if -- 

22                THE WITNESS:  What was her name, Judge? 

23                THE COURT:  Tell us her name, again.  And the 

24  officer's going to look and see if he recognizes as being one 

25  of the folks he talked about.
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1                MS. ALVAREZ:  Lucille Nielsen. 

2                THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am. 

3                THE COURT:  He's indicated to the Court that that 

4  name was not one of the names that he used. 

5                MS. ALVAREZ:  Sylvia Elizabeth Johnson Barlow. 

6                THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am. 

7                THE COURT:  I don't think -- the Court doesn't 

8  remember that name. 

9                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, I'm -- I -- I'm getting 

10  feedback that that record was testified about. 

11                THE WITNESS:  No Barlows. 

12                MS. ALVAREZ:  Her -- is the record that begins 

13  with Lloyd Hammon Barlow. 

14                THE WITNESS:  No, ma'am, we didn't -- that one 

15  didn't come out. 

16                THE COURT:  That name did not come up.  I don't 

17  show that Barlow -- ladies and gentlemen, I know y'all need to 

18  confer, but y'all have got to whisper.  I don't think that 

19  was -- is she -- what is your client's age? 

20                MS. ALVAREZ:  My client is twenty-three. 

21                THE COURT:  I really don't think we talked about 

22  anybody twenty-three. 
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23                MS. ALVAREZ:  Or any -- okay.  And Sylvia -- 

24  excuse me, Audrey Richter or Rose -- Rosanine, also known as 

25  Rosie Richter.
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1                THE COURT:  What are their ages? 

2                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thirty-five and twenty-three. 

3                THE COURT:  I'm real sure about that thirty-five, 

4  we didn't talk about her.  The twenty-three, I don't think we 

5  talked about her, either. 

6                MS. ALVAREZ:  And, Your Honor, I'm -- I'm asking 

7  the question because if my clients were on the sheet with other 

8  people who were under the age of eighteen, it appears the State 

9  is attempting to offer that evidence.  And so I would like to 

10  just ask my fifth client if that -- if -- if she was 

11  identified, and that's Sarah Jessop. 

12                THE COURT:  And who would her husband be? 

13                MS. ALVAREZ:  The record would begin with Janice 

14  -- or Janus, J-A-N-U-S, Jerry Jessop. (sic) 

15                THE COURT:  What is her age? 

16                MS. ALVAREZ:  She's thirty-one. 

17                THE COURT:  I'll ask the attorney for the State 

18  or for the -- 

19                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, there are records 

20  where I highlighted certain testimony with the officer.  But 

21  the entire record did indicate the names of some of those 

22  individuals. 

23                THE COURT:  And I understand that.  But for 

24  purposes of control right now, we're only bringing up and 

25  allowing lawyers to ask questions if their client was actually
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1  mentioned in this lawyer's -- in this -- this offer of 

2  evidence. 

3                Y'all are going to have some rights for cross 

4  examination later, but I just want to focus on the evidence 

5  that was actually heard so far.  So I think you're okay.  I 

6  don't think we have any of your clients. 

7                MS. ALVAREZ:  Okay.  Your Honor, I have -- I have 

8  a note that Sylvia Elizabeth Johnson Barlow was highlighted. 

9  And I just wanted to confirm with the State that my client 

10  Sylvia Elizabeth Johnson Barlow was not highlighted during the 

11  testimony that just happened. 

12                THE COURT:  I don't think so.  What's her age? 

13                MS. ALVAREZ:  Twenty-three. 

14                THE COURT:  This -- the Department has indicated 

15  that she was not one of the individuals they mentioned.  And 

16  I -- and I am -- 

17                MS. ALVAREZ:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

18                THE COURT:  I'm sorry that it's so awkward, and 

19  y'all just be patient with us.  We're going to make sure that 

20  even though you are not here that you all are able to talk to 

21  and get your information in front of the Court.  So I don't 

22  want to set y'all aside.  I appreciate your patience and let's 

23  -- we'll just work through it this way.  Okay? 

24                Anybody else? 

25                MS. ALVAREZ:  Okay.
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1                THE COURT:  Anybody else? 

2                Okay.  I don't think we heard anybody that's -- 

3  that an ad litem actually had mentioned, did we?  Okay.  Now, 

4  is there someone who feels -- 

5                 DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge.  Judge. 

6                 THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am? 

7                 DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, we have a 

8  gentleman here, please. 

9                THE COURT:  All right. 

10                MR. GUTIERREZ:  Excuse me, Your Honor.  My name 

11  is Albert Gutierrez.  I represent baby Allan Keate. 

12                THE COURT:  Oh, right. 

13                MR. GUTIERREZ:  And some of the records, I think, 

14  do apply to him. 

15                THE COURT:  And his age is? 

16                MR. GUTIERREZ:  One year -- well, that's -- April 

17  27th he will be one year old. 

18                THE COURT:  Okay.  I do remember that. 

19                MR. GUTIERREZ:  And I think one of the records 

20  apply to his parents. 

21                THE COURT:  Okay.  Is there a question you would 

22  like to ask this witness, sir? 

23                MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.  May I proceed? 

24                THE COURT:  Yes, sir, please. 

25
 

98 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MR. GUTIERREZ: 

3      Q.   Sar- -- Mr. Crawford, there's a record that begins 
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4  with Keith William Dutson, Jr.  Do you recall that record? 

5      A.   Yes, sir. 

6      Q.   On -- on that record you have -- there's a wife listed 

7  as Rebecca Keate Dutson? 

8      A.   Yes, sir. 

9      Q.   Age sixteen? 

10      A.   Yes, sir. 

11      Q.   And then what date was that document created or what 

12  day is it dated? 

13      A.   It is dated March the 24th of 2007. 

14      Q.   Do you -- do you happen to have access to Exhibit 1 

15  that was introduced earlier? 

16                THE COURT:  I'm sure we can get it.  Who's got my 

17  Exhibit 1? 

18                All right.  Here you go, sir. 

19                THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir, I do. 

20      Q.   (MR. GUTIERREZ) Are -- are you able to identify the 

21  person in Exhibit 1 listed as Rebecca Keate as the same person 

22  listed in Exhibit 4 as Rebecca Keate Dutson through your 

23  investigation? 

24      A.   Sir, this is the first time I've seen these records. 

25  And I haven't done any investigation as to her identity.  But
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1  according to the date of birth on Rebecca Keate and the age 

2  given on this Bishop's Record, she's of the proper age to be 

3  one and the same. 

4      Q.   You see there's a photograph in Exhibit 1, correct? 

5  It's -- or is that incorrect? 

6      A.   There's a photograph here, yes, sir. 
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7      Q.   Okay.  Do you -- do you recognize the lady in that 

8  photograph? 

9      A.   No, sir, I -- I don't know -- the names on this piece 

10  of paper, sir, all I know are the names.  I see them on this 

11  piece of paper.  As far as putting that name to a face, I 

12  probably couldn't identify more than four or five of the folks 

13  that were -- that were at the ranch during the execution of 

14  this search warrant by name. 

15      Q.   That's fine, sir.  And what is the age of Keith 

16  William Dutson, Jr. on your document in Exhibit 4? 

17      A.   Twenty-two. 

18      Q.   In your investigation, in looking through the 

19  documents, have you been able to determine, through any of the 

20  written records, that Mr. Dutson, Jr. has any other wife other 

21  than Rebecca Keate Dutson? 

22      A.   No, sir, I haven't.  That's the only wife -- this is 

23  the only record I've seen of his information with his name on 

24  it, is this one that -- that I have in custody here.  And it 

25  just shows just the one wife.
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1      Q.   Do you -- do you have any documentation suggesting 

2  that Rebecca Keate Dutson was younger than sixteen at the age 

3  of alleged marriage? 

4      A.   No, sir.  But you're telling me that their son is one 

5  year old as of April, so the boy had to have been born shortly 

6  after this document was created, if -- if the information on 

7  this document's correct. 

8      Q.   Do you -- you don't have any information suggesting 

9  whether or not the parents of Rebecca Keith Dutson consented to 
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10  the marriage? 

11      A.   No, sir, I have no idea. 

12                MR. GUTIERREZ:  That's all I have, Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you, sir. 

14                Anyone else over at the auditorium?  Okay. 

15                Now, I'm going to open it up for more or less 

16  general questions.  I will tell you that it is an absolute good 

17  objection, asked and answered.  You-all need to understand, and 

18  I know it's really tough, and that's why I've got to ask 

19  everybody in the courtroom to be as quiet as you can.  You have 

20  to listen to every bit of testimony, because it may or may not 

21  apply to your client.  And I'm going to try, as you've just 

22  seen, to ask you to group yourselves in asking questions 

23  according to -- to actual evidence from a particular witness as 

24  it relates to your particular client. 

25                I realize sometimes there's some global questions
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1  that need to be asked, and we're going to do that.  But you 

2  kind of figured the order that we're going to do that in.  So 

3  we're now going to open up for global questions.  And since the 

4  ad litems have not had anything to say yet, I'm going to ask 

5  the ad litems, with regards to the testimony that's been 

6  introduced or the exhibits from this witness, is there anyone 

7  that needs to ask a question? 

8                Come to the podium, please. 

9                MS. MORRISON:  I'm Carla Morrison.  I represent 

10  two of the children, the one that is, in particular, that I'm 

11  asking about here is a child, Nancy Jessop.  And it's cause 

12  number 2825. 
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13                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

14                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

15  BY MS. MORRISON: 

16      Q.   I heard you testify that one of the men listed as 

17  Keith William Dutson, Sr. and he was forty-six years old. 

18      A.   Okay.  Let me find that one. 

19                THE COURT:  Just give him a second. 

20      Q.   (MS. MORRISON) Keith Sr.  Keith William Dutson, Sr. 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am, it shows him to be forty-six in March of 

22  2007. 

23      Q.   Well, that was my first question.  What is that 

24  document dated? 

25      A.   Just March 2007.  It's the only date on it, ma'am.
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1      Q.   Okay.  And you said that the wife was Natalia? 

2      A.   That's one of them, yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   Okay.  And her age was seventeen at the time.  Did she 

4  show at that time to have any children? 

5      A.   Ma'am, you can't tell who's -- who -- I mean, it's 

6  just a list of names and a relationship and of the head of the 

7  household.  I guess Mr. Dutson's (sic) name's on the first 

8  line.  There's numerous folks whose relationship, his wife and 

9  there's numerous sons and daughters on there.  But as far as 

10  mother-child, there's no indicator. 

11      Q.   Okay.  Are there any indications on any of these 

12  pieces of paper whether moms were pregnant at the time or is it 

13  just -- 

14      A.   No, ma'am. 

15      Q.   -- the children that have been born? 
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16                MS. MORRISON:  That is all I have. 

17                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anyone else for -- for 

18  the ad litems that are in the courtroom? 

19                Yes, sir. 

20                MR. GRIGG:  Dicky Grigg, Your Honor.  I represent 

21  Sweet Charity Steed. 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MR. GRIGG: 

24      Q.   Would you please turn to the page that you read from 

25  on Allan Keate?
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1      A.   On who, sir? 

2      Q.   Mr. Keate, Allan. 

3      A.   Yes, sir. 

4      Q.   Does -- on that list, does he have a wife listed by 

5  the name of LaNora? 

6      A.   Yes, sir. 

7      Q.   And does he have a last name for LaNora; is it listed 

8  LaNora Steed? 

9      A.   It's LaNora S. Keate. 

10      Q.   And then does he have a child listed Sweet Charity? 

11      A.   Sweet Charity Keate, yes, sir. 

12      Q.   And what is her date of birth, does it show? 

13      A.   It does not show a date of birth.  It shows her to be 

14  one year old as of the date -- her age to be one on 3/25 of 

15  '07, sir. 

16      Q.   And what about Lenora, her age please, sir. 

17      A.   Lenora shows to be twenty-six. 

18                MR. GRIGG:  Thank you.  No more questions, Your 
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19  Honor. 

20                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

21                Yes, ma'am, I've got -- if you-all want to kind 

22  of queue up, we can do that.  If you'll just come up to the 

23  bar, if you'll do that, so we cannot have just waiting time. 

24                MS. HANSEL:  Pardon me.  I'm Lori Hansel. 

25                THE COURT:  Thank you.
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1                MS. HANSEL:  And I represent Margaret Barlow. 

2  I've been appointed as her attorney ad litem, because there's a 

3  question as to what her age is. 

4                THE COURT:  Okay.  That is one of the questions 

5  before the Court. 

6                MS. HANSEL:  Yes, that is one of the questions 

7  before the Court. 

8                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

9  BY MS. HANSEL 

10      Q.   If you will look toward almost the last page of what 

11  you have on the -- the Barlows.  And I don't have the exhibit, 

12  so I can't tell you exactly which page. 

13                THE COURT:  It's loose, and so it's all -- it's 

14  all kind of -- 

15                MS. HANSEL:  Okay.  There's only about four names 

16  on it, under Barlow. 

17                THE WITNESS:  It wasn't one of them that we 

18  testified to. 

19                THE COURT:  We've opened it up.  I'm sorry. 

20                THE WITNESS:  That's all right. 

21                THE COURT:  Hang on.  It's fine. 
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22                THE WITNESS:  Which -- which Barlow, ma'am, first 

23  name? 

24      Q.   (MS. HANSEL) My client is -- it's -- really there's 

25  only about four names on it.  My client is Margaret -- Margaret
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1  Williams Barlow.  She would be listed as the mom. 

2      A.   I have a Margaret Williams Barlow. 

3      Q.   Okay.  And she's listed as the wife? 

4      A.   The wife. 

5      Q.   And what is her age? 

6      A.   It shows twenty-one on this document. 

7      Q.   Okay.  And the names of the children on there are Ezra 

8  and Ammon? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   And what are their ages listed as? 

11      A.   Two and eleven months. 

12      Q.   Okay.  And there's no date on top of that page? 

13      A.   No, ma'am, there's no date. 

14      Q.   Okay.  But there is sort of a presumption that it was 

15  found with all the other papers presented? 

16      A.   It was in this folder, yes, ma'am. 

17      Q.   Okay.  And what is the age of her husband? 

18      A.   Twenty-three. 

19      Q.   Okay.  And she's the only wife; is that correct? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21                MS. HANSEL:  Okay.  I just wanted to show that, 

22  Judge. 

23                THE COURT:  Okay. 

24                MS. HANSEL:  I'm not quite sure procedurally 
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25  where we're going.
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1                THE COURT:  You know, we're kind of winging it on 

2  this, so.... 

3                MS. HANSEL:  Okay. 

4                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

5                MS. HANSEL:  Judge, I would like to introduce 

6  this page. 

7                THE COURT:  Is it part of Exhibit 4? 

8                MS. HANSEL:  Yes. 

9                THE COURT:  I think it is. 

10                MS. HANSEL:  Yes, it is part of Exhibit 4. 

11                THE COURT:  So do you want to have it marked as a 

12  separate exhibit by you -- 

13                MS. HANSEL:  Yes, I would. 

14                THE COURT:  -- or can we go with what I've got? 

15                MS. HANSEL:  We can go with it as long as 

16  judicial notice is given -- taken of it, that's fine.  I just 

17  didn't think it had been introduced yet, so I was going to try 

18  to make sure it got introduced. 

19                THE COURT:  If he says it's in his packet, what 

20  his packet is is the admission under Petitioner's Exhibit 4. 

21                MS. HANSEL:  Yes. 

22                THE COURT:  If you want to mark it as a separate 

23  exhibit, you need to negotiate with the Court Reporter.  But I 

24  think it's covered. 

25                MS. HANSEL:  Okay.  Thank you, Judge.
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1                THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you. 

2                Mr. Edwards, you're kind of cutting down my 

3  traffic flow here. 

4                MR. EDWARDS:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  I beg your 

5  pardon. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MR. JARVIS: 

8      Q.   My name is Billy Britt Jarvis, and I represent two 

9  young men, Leslie Steed and Levi Steed, 2875 and 2876, 

10  respectfully. (sic) 

11                Their father is listed as LeRoy Steed in my 

12  information.  I believe you listed a Levi Steed, is that 

13  correct -- LeRoy Steed, I'm sorry. 

14      A.   We have a LeRoy Steed, yes, sir. 

15      Q.   Are -- are his children -- does he have children 

16  listed as Leslie and Levi? 

17      A.   I have a Levi, yes, sir, a Leslie Woodruff Steed and 

18  Levi, no middle name given. 

19      Q.   Okay.  What -- what is the date of your document? 

20      A.   March the 25th of 2007. 

21      Q.   And what is the age of Levi? 

22      A.   Fourteen. 

23      Q.   And what is the age of Leslie? 

24      A.   Sixteen. 

25      Q.   And what is the mother of Leslie?
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1      A.   That I don't know, sir. 
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2      Q.   Do you know the mother of Levi? 

3      A.   No, sir. 

4                MR. JARVIS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  You're welcome. 

6                MR. TABET:  Judge, my name is Charles Tabet. 

7                THE COURT:  I need you to speak up.  You're very 

8  soft spoken. 

9                MR. TABET:  That's not what some of the judges 

10  here think, but I will.  Judge, my name is Charles Tabet, 

11  T-A-B-E-T.  And I have a question before I ask.  Did you open 

12  it for general questioning or just about -- 

13                THE COURT:  Unfortunately I did.  Go ahead. 

14                MR. TABET:  I won't take that long. 

15                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

16  BY MR. TABET: 

17      Q.   Officer, my name is Charles Tabet and I represent two 

18  of the kids.  One of them is cause number 2902.  They're both 

19  2902.  One of them is Maxmillian Jessop and the other one is 

20  baby girl Barlow.  Could you tell me how many pages were 

21  introduced with the different names of the parents on there? 

22      A.   I believe I have thirty-eight families in this folder, 

23  sir. 

24      Q.   Thirty-eight families? 

25      A.   Yes, sir, I don't know how many pages.  There's forty
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1  something pages, but I believe when I -- when I logged it I 

2  believed it was thirty-eight families. 

3      Q.   All right.  The pages that you have, do they have 

4  numbers on them? 
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5      A.   No, sir. 

6      Q.   Okay.  They don't go one, two, three, four, five, six? 

7      A.   You mean down the page? 

8      Q.   If I may, Judge? 

9      A.   Yes, sir. 

10      Q.   Okay.  How many -- how many numbers are there? 

11      A.   There's thirty-five numbered lines. 

12      Q.   And how many pages are there? 

13      A.   In total? 

14      Q.   Yes, sir, that have the families in them. 

15      A.   In this folder I believe there's forty-two or 

16  forty-three pages. 

17      Q.   So it's thirty-five times forty two would give you the 

18  number? 

19      A.   No, sir. 

20      Q.   Why not? 

21      A.   Because they're not all full. 

22      Q.   Okay. 

23      A.   See, you have -- 

24      Q.   Are most of them filled up? 

25      A.   They have some information on them, yes, sir.  But as
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1  far as being full pages, no, sir. 

2      Q.   Do you know how many fam- -- you said there are 

3  forty-two families? 

4      A.   No, sir, I believe there's thirty-eight families 

5  represented in here. 

6      Q.   Thirty-eight families.  When you talk about families, 

7  are you talking about mother and father or mother -- 
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8      A.   Head of household. 

9      Q.   And how many in a household, approximately? 

10      A.   That depends, sir. 

11      Q.   Do you have a norm? 

12      A.   Okay.  Here's Mr. LeRoy Steed.  He has a full page 

13  with some more written down below. 

14      Q.   Okay. 

15      A.   Okay.  There's a Mr. Nephi Jeffs.  He's got a partial 

16  page and another partial page. 

17      Q.   Let me try to make it easier on both of us.  How many 

18  mothers are there? 

19      A.   How many mothers? 

20      Q.   Yes, sir. 

21      A.   Whew.  Well, sir, there -- right here there's 

22  fourteen on this one.  I believe Mr. Steed had eight or nine. 

23  There's -- and I -- I can't say that they're all mothers. 

24  They're -- they're shown to be wives.  Sir, there's one over 

25  here with twenty-two.
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1      Q.   Let me rephrase my question.  It's me, not you. 

2      A.   No.  No. 

3      Q.   Do you know how many mothers the Department has taken 

4  the children away from? 

5                MS. SHOCKLEY:  Your Honor, at this time -- 

6                THE WITNESS:  No, sir.  I can't -- I can't answer 

7  that. 

8                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  I know it's hard.  You 

9  know, when a lawyer rises -- you're objecting? 

10                MS. SHOCKLEY:  I am. 
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11                THE COURT:  Come on up. 

12                MS. SHOCKLEY:  Your Honor, I'm going to object -- 

13                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  I need to know who you 

14  are -- 

15                MS. SHOCKLEY:  I'm sorry. 

16                THE COURT:  And why you're here. 

17                MS. SHOCKLEY:  I'm Laura Shockley and I'm an ad 

18  litem for baby boy and Rulon Harker. 

19                THE COURT:  All right. 

20                MS. SHOCKLEY:  And at this time I am objecting on 

21  this line of questioning as the best evidence is before the 

22  Court in Exhibit 4, is the list of the mothers, the fathers and 

23  the respective children, that speaks for how -- the numbers. 

24  And in the interest of efficiency, I believe that that should 

25  speak for the numbers.
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1                THE COURT:  You're talking about relevance for 

2  the reasons -- 

3                MS. SHOCKLEY:  Yes. 

4                THE COURT:  -- for the questioning?  Could you 

5  address the relevance of your questioning, sir? 

6                MR. TABET:  I would be more than happy to, Judge. 

7  What I'm trying to establish is the numbers of famil- -- 

8  mothers there are.  Apparently there are eleven mothers that 

9  may -- or ten mothers that may have been underage out of a 

10  number of the rest of the mothers who were not at the time. 

11                So that would have relevance on my -- on my 

12  children and their mothers, whether it's an ongoing thing with 

13  all of them or just the ten out of a hundred or fifty or eighty 
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14  or a hundred and twenty, that the State has brought three 

15  hundred -- 

16                THE COURT:  The Court is very aware of that. 

17  Trust me. 

18                Now I -- you know, I don't think that that 

19  really, where your current line of questioning is, with regard 

20  to this witness, relevant. 

21                MR. TABET:  Okay. 

22                THE COURT:  Now you may have a good point later 

23  on.  And I'm sure you're going to develop it.  But for right 

24  now, I don't see that it's relevant.  And I'm not sure he's an 

25  expert on all of this, nor that the State has introduced all of
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1  their evidence that they're going to have with regards to this, 

2  so.... 

3                MR. TABET:  That's fine, Judge.  I'll rephrase my 

4  question. 

5                THE COURT:  Preserving your right to -- to raise 

6  these issues. 

7      Q.   (MR. TABET) Sir, would you agree with me that the 

8  individuals, the mothers that you have not spoken of, that you 

9  have not listed other than the ten, they were of legal age at 

10  the time that the Department took their kids? 

11      A.   Okay. 

12      Q.   You want me to rephrase my question? 

13                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I -- 

14                THE WITNESS:  I don't know the relationship. 

15                THE COURT:  I can't tell if there was an 

16  objection over here.  Were you objecting? 
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17                MS. RICHARDS:  Yes, Your Honor, I do object.  I 

18  don't see that it's relevant to -- to the burden of proof at 

19  hand.  I'm not sure how this officer would be able to enlighten 

20  us of -- or how there's any way to verify ages of moms. 

21                MR. TABET:  Judge, I'm asking her -- I'm asking 

22  him about the documents they introduced.  She asked him, 

23  specifically, about the documents they introduced.  And my 

24  question is with respect to the -- to the rest of the 

25  individuals that were listed.  Are you telling the Court that
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1  according to these documents it appears that those mothers were 

2  over eighteen at the time they had their kids? 

3                THE COURT:  If he's qualified to answer that. 

4                MR. TABET:  If -- from the documents. 

5                THE WITNESS:  But -- I don't -- I don't know 

6  who's mother to which kids.  I mean, I don't know -- 

7                MR. TABET:  May I ask, Judge? 

8                THE WITNESS:  -- any relationships, sir.  All I 

9  have are some information written down here. 

10                MR. TABET:  I would like to approach for two 

11  seconds. 

12                THE COURT:  Yes. 

13                MR. TABET:  How are you doing? 

14                THE WITNESS:  I'm fine. 

15      Q.   (MR. TABET) Good.  Okay.  My question is, on some of 

16  these individuals, on the wives, you have a date.  On some of 

17  them they may have children next to them; is that correct? 

18      A.   Well, some of them, like this particular one, he will 

19  list a wife and kids, and then he lists several wives and some 
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20  kids and some more wives and kid. 

21      Q.   All right. 

22      A.   But I don't know any relations between any of them. 

23      Q.   And I'm not asking you about the relations. 

24      A.   Right. 

25      Q.   I'm asking you, from documents that you have, can you
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1  tell this Court and the individual wives that are listed, other 

2  than the ten, were underage at the time they had the first kid? 

3      A.   I can't tell you there's more than one -- 

4      Q.   Exactly my point. 

5      A.   -- that weren't underage when they had kids, sir. 

6                MR. TABET:  That's all I have.  Thank you, Judge. 

7                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Do you rise to be 

8  recognized or are y'all just conferring? 

9                MR. BUTLER:  No, Your Honor.  I'm just trying to 

10  get out of the way. 

11                THE COURT:  Have a seat, Mr. Butler.  We'll try 

12  to get you something to sit on other than that. 

13                All right.  Now, Ms. Woodfin, at the city 

14  auditorium, what do we have? 

15                DISTRICT CLERK:  We have attorney ad litems that 

16  would like to discuss some issues. 

17                THE COURT:  No.  No, we're having questions.  No 

18  discussions. 

19                DISTRICT CLERK:  Okay.  Questions, then, judge. 

20                THE COURT:  Thank you, Sheri. 

21                MR. RICHARDSON:  Good morning, Judge.  Lionel 

22  Richardson representing the child Leland Keate.  May I proceed? 
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23                THE COURT:  All right.  Yes, sir. 

24 

25
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MR. RICHARDSON: 

3      Q.   Mr. Crawford, can I direct your attention to the sheet 

4  you testified to earlier labeled with the name Allan A. Keate, 

5  age fifty-four? 

6      A.   Yes, sir. 

7      Q.   Mr. Crawford, can you verify for the Court whether -- 

8  whether the name -- whether or not the name Leland Keate is 

9  anywhere on that sheet? 

10      A.   Luling. 

11      Q.   Leland, L-E-L-A-N-D, Keate. 

12      A.   No, sir.  I have two entries show baby boy Keate, one 

13  five month old and one three month old that apparently they 

14  were unnamed at the time of this document. 

15                THE COURT:  Okay, wait.  You can't see it, but 

16  there -- wait.  Wait.  I got a lawyer standing up that I think 

17  is objecting. 

18                MR. STOUT:  Judge, I object to the line of 

19  questioning as to not being relevant.  The documents speak for 

20  themselves.  They've been introduced. 

21                THE COURT:  Not relevant. 

22                MR. RICHARDSON:  Judge, I would say that that is 

23  relevant, because I'm here and appointed as attorney ad litem 

24  for this child, Leland Keate.  And if this evidence that's 

25  being presented does not relate to this child --
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1                THE COURT:  I think you've made your point that 

2  in this list your client's name is not anywhere on this page. 

3  Is that your point? 

4                MR. RICHARDSON:  And that's -- that's the first 

5  question, Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  Okay.  I understand that -- that 

7  position.  Can you take your next issue? 

8                MR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, Judge. 

9      Q.   (MR. RICHARDSON) You mentioned that there were two 

10  unidentified children at the bottom of the sheet.  Is that 

11  correct, Mr. Crawford? 

12      A.   Yes, sir. 

13      Q.   Okay.  My client has a birth date of 9/7/02.  What 

14  date was that document prepared that you have in front of you? 

15      A.   March the 25th of '07. 

16      Q.   Would you agree with me, then, that a child born on 

17  9/7/02 would, at the time of that document, be five years old? 

18      A.   Okay. 

19                THE COURT:  Okay.  He's agreed. 

20      Q.   (MR. RICHARDSON) You have ages listed on that 

21  document, correct, Mr. Crawford? 

22      A.   Yes, sir, the name you gave me is not on this 

23  document. 

24      Q.   How many -- how -- how many five-year-olds do you have 

25  listed on that document?
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1      A.   I have three. 

2      Q.   And just for the record, none of those five-year-olds 

3  listed on that document is named Leland Keate, correct? 

4      A.   That is correct. 

5                MR. RICHARDSON:  No further questions. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Next? 

7                MS. KEENUM:  Yes, Your Honor, my name is Deborah 

8  Keenum.  And I represent Martha Steed, attorney ad litem for 

9  Martha Steed. 

10                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

11  BY MS. KEENUM: 

12      Q.   I would ask that the witness, if you could, once 

13  again go back to the page that starts where LeRoy J. Steed? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Okay.  And referring to line one, there's a residence 

16  there.  Could you state that residence? 

17      A.   R17. 

18      Q.   Now, is it our understanding that R17 is the Yearning 

19  for Zion Ranch? 

20      A.   That's my understanding, yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   Is the place?  Okay.  I would also like to refer you 

22  down to number -- number twenty-four.  Can you please read that 

23  line for me please, sir? 

24      A.   Louise Jessop, shows a relationship of wife, an age of 

25  twenty-five and a residence in Short Creek.
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1      Q.   Thank you.  And then can you also read line 

2  twenty-five, as well? 

3      A.   Martha Louise, a daughter, age six, residence R17. 
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4      Q.   Based on this document, can we infer that potentially 

5  that mother is not on the ranch but is, in fact, in Short 

6  Creek? 

7      A.   That -- 

8      Q.   According to this document? 

9      A.   Well, on that particular date, yes, ma'am, I would say 

10  she was in Short Creek. 

11                MS. KEENUM:  Thank you very much. 

12                THE COURT:  Thanks.  Now are you objecting or 

13  just want to get in line to ask questions? 

14                MR. TOWNS:  Your Honor, Cody Towns, and my client 

15  is also Martha Steed. 

16                THE COURT:  Would you approach, please. 

17                MR. TOWNS:  I apologize for interrupting. 

18                THE COURT:  No.  No.  Your client is also Martha 

19  Steed? 

20                MR. TOWNS:  Yes. 

21                THE COURT:  What's her birthday? 

22                MR. TOWNS:  1/17/1998. 

23                THE COURT:  Is that a different birth date than 

24  the individual she was just talking about? 

25                MR. TOWNS:  I was unable to hear that, but I know
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1  that the substitution order was replacing Ms. Keenum.  So I 

2  wanted to clarify that, in fact, we represent different 

3  clients. 

4                THE COURT:  Ma'am, could you come back to the 

5  podium in the city auditorium? 

6                MS. KEENUM:  Yes, ma'am. 
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7                THE COURT:  What's the date of birth of your -- 

8  is it Martha Steed? 

9                MR. TOWNS:  Martha Steed, yes, Your Honor. 

10                THE COURT:  What's your Martha's birthday? 

11                THE WITNESS:  I have several Martha Steeds.  This 

12  birthdate is September 24th, 2000. 

13                THE COURT:  Is that your client? 

14                MR. TOWNS:  No, Your Honor, it's not.  Thank you. 

15                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Next?   Yes, Mr. Stewart? 

16                MS. LUKE:  Good morning, Your Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  Mr. Stewart's going to sit down. 

18                Yes, ma'am.  You're up next. 

19                MS. LUKE:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  My name 

20  is Betty Luke.  I am the attorney ad litem for Ruleen, 

21  R-U-L-E-E-N, Jeffs. 

22                THE COURT:  And could you give me the birth 

23  dates, since we seem to have some name confusion. 

24                MS. LUKE:  April. 

25                THE COURT:  April.
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1                MS. LUKE:  April 2000, Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  Okay.  Close enough.  Maybe.  Go 

3  ahead. 

4                MS. LUKE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

5                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

6  BY MS. LUKE: 

7      Q.   Sir, I would like to refer you to a document, the top 

8  of which starts with line one, Isaac S. Jeffs.  You see that 

9  document? 
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10      A.   It'll take me just a moment. 

11                THE COURT:  Give him just a second. 

12                THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Yes, ma'am, I have it. 

13      Q.   (MS. LUKE) You have that document, sir? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   What is the date on that document, sir? 

16      A.   May the 22nd, 2007. 

17      Q.   And how old would Mr. Jeffs have been at the date of 

18  this document? 

19      A.   Thirty-two. 

20      Q.   Okay.  Would you please read for the benefit of the 

21  Court line number two, all the way across? 

22      A.   Martha Jessop Jeffs, wife, twenty-eight, residence 

23  R17. 

24      Q.   Thank you, sir.  And if you would do the same for line 

25  thirteen.
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1      A.   Ruleen Jeffs, daughter, age seven, residence at R17. 

2                MS. LUKE:  Thank you, sir.  I appreciate your 

3  efforts.  Your Honor, may I be excused? 

4                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.  For all purposes or just 

5  from asking?  Sorry.  Anybody else over there, Sheri? 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:   Judge, we have one more. 

7                THE COURT:  One? 

8                DISTRICT CLERK:  One more attorney ad litem. 

9                THE COURT:  All right.  Then we're coming back to 

10  here. 

11                MS. BEVERLY:  Your Honor, my name is Karen 

12  Beverly.  I represent two children.  One is Lenore Jessop, date 
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13  of birth 8/22/01.  The other child's name is Kathryn Jessop, 

14  date of birth 8/17/2000. 

15                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

16  BY KAREN BEVERLY: 

17      Q.   And I simply would like to ask this officer if, during 

18  the course of the search, other documents were found that 

19  reflected the relationship amongst the families and the 

20  children besides those that were offered into evidence before 

21  the Court? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   And do you have those documents with you today? 

24      A.   No, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Would you make those documents available to the Court
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1  for the ad litems to review? 

2      A.   Ma'am, they're not mine to make available.  I was not 

3  the seizing officer.  And they're part of those records -- I 

4  mean, they're in the evidence locked up, but they're undergoing 

5  a process, agreed upon here in court.  You're going to have to 

6  get with the District Attorney's Office and the Department 

7  attorneys to -- to determine whether those are.  But we're 

8  talking, there's pages and pages and pages of documents that 

9  were retrieved. 

10                MS. BEVERLY:  Okay.  Thank you, sir. 

11                THE COURT:  All right.  We're back in this 

12  courthouse.  Yes, ma'am, you've been very patient. 

13                MS. BRIDGES:  Your Honor, my name is Kim 

14  Bridges.  I represent a young girl named Cynthia in cause 

15  number 2902. 
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16                THE COURT:  Could you give me her birth date, 

17  please. 

18                MS. BRIDGES:  Her date of birth in my information 

19  is November 21st, 2004. 

20                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

21                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

22  BY MS. BRIDGES: 

23      Q.   If -- if I could ask the witness to look at the page 

24  headed with David W. Jessop, in -- in the Exhibit 4. 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   Are there any birth dates provided for Priscilla D. 

2  Jessop or Cynthia? 

3      A.   No, ma'am. 

4      Q.   There are no birth dates provided? 

5      A.   No birth dates.  There's just ages. 

6                MS. BRIDGES:  All right.  Thank you.  That's all 

7  I needed. 

8                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Stewart. 

9                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

10  BY MR. STEWART: 

11      Q.   Officer Crawford, do you have some other of these 

12  father's family information sheet Bishop Records with you that 

13  have not been introduced as evidence? 

14      A.   No, sir.  I mean, this whole packet's came in as one 

15  exhibit.  There's several here that we have not talked 

16  specifically about. 

17      Q.   I'm sorry.  I didn't understand. 

18      A.   There are several here that have not been specifically 
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19  asked about.  But no, sir, these are all that were -- that I 

20  brought. 

21      Q.   So every one of these records, just to make clear, 

22  every one of these records that list men and women and children 

23  wife and so on, every one that you brought has been admitted? 

24      A.   That's my understanding.  This whole packet's exhibit 

25  -- one exhibit, sir.
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1      Q.   All right.  Thank you.  You don't know who wrote those 

2  names down, you don't know who prepared those lists, do you? 

3      A.   No, sir, I have no idea. 

4      Q.   And you don't know who wrote down the ages? 

5      A.   No, sir. 

6      Q.   So you don't have any idea about the truth of those 

7  statements, whether or not they're true? 

8      A.   No, sir, I do not. 

9                MR. STEWART:  Thank you.  That's all I have. 

10                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge. 

11                THE COURT:  Yes. 

12                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

14                DISTRICT CLERK:  We have another attorney ad 

15  litem that would like to ask some questions, please. 

16                THE COURT:  She needs to hold her horses just a 

17  second.  We're back over here.  We're doing three or four here, 

18  and then three or four there.  Have her -- just don't let her 

19  get away.  Mr. Hargrove. 

20                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor, Tip Hargrove.  I 

21  represent two ladies in this case. 
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22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MR. HARGROVE: 

24      Q.   Officer, you said you got these documents from a 

25  safe.  Where was the safe?
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1      A.   It was in the closet in a room there.  The room was 

2  identified to us as being the office of Richard Barlow. 

3      Q.   Was the room that it was in locked when you got there? 

4      A.   No, sir. 

5      Q.   Was the closet locked? 

6      A.   No, sir. 

7      Q.   Was the safe locked? 

8      A.   Yes, sir, it was. 

9      Q.   How did you get in it? 

10      A.   Mr. Barlow opened it for us. 

11      Q.   He gave you the combination? 

12      A.   No, sir, he opened the safe. 

13      Q.   All right.  Did the safe appear to be closed so that 

14  other people could not get in it unless it was opened by a 

15  person with a combination? 

16      A.   Yes, sir, that was the only way to obtain entrance to 

17  it.  The main office was operated -- or the person who we were 

18  told was in charge was a Mr. Merrill Jessop.  We asked him 

19  about this safe, about opening it.  He said:  That safe belongs 

20  to Richard.  I'll get him over here.  He made a phone call, 

21  gentleman came in, identified himself as Richard Barlow. 

22                We explained to him we were executing a search 

23  warrant.  We needed the safe opened.  He stepped in a closet, 

24  opened the safe. 
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25      Q.   No one could tell what was in that safe until it was
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1  opened by Mr. Jessop for you to look at what was in there? 

2  A.    No way to know. 

3                MR. HARGROVE:  Nothing further. 

4                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Yes, ma'am? 

5                MS. HEIL:  Good morning.  I'm Patricia Heil.  I 

6  represent, as attorney ad litem, two children, Phyllis, 

7  Karen also known -- I'm sorry, Karen Phyllis, also known as 

8  Karen Phyllis Johnson, date of birth 8/19/98, cause number 9092 

9  (sic) and Esther Rose Barlow, also known as Rosie Jessop, cause 

10  number 2858. 

11                They -- did I give a date of birth? 

12                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

13                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

14  BY MS. HEIL: 

15      Q.   Was anyone else present with you at the time you 

16  opened the safe? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   Do you remember who was there? 

19      A.   Captain Shane Byrd with criminal intelligence, 

20  Sergeant Roy Parrish, Merrill Thom- -- Merrill Jessop was there 

21  and Richard Barlow was there when the safe was opened. 

22      Q.   Were there any children present when you opened the 

23  safe? 

24      A.   No, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Do you know, were there any children in the room?  You
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1  said the safe was in the closet.  Were the children in the room 

2  that the closet was opened? 

3      A.   No, ma'am. 

4      Q.   To your knowledge, were there children in the 

5  adjoining room? 

6      A.   I don't think there were even any children in the 

7  building we were in at that time, ma'am. 

8                MS. HEIL:  Thank you, sir.  Nothing further. 

9                THE COURT:  You're welcome.  All right.  We're 

10  back over to you, Sheri, at the city hall. 

11                MS. TROUT:  Your Honor, my name's Angie Trout. 

12  I'm the attorney ad litem for Carolyn Johnson, born November 

13  26th, 2003, cause number 2902.  And Merrianne Jessop, birth 

14  date July 3rd, 1994, cause number 2833. 

15                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

16  BY MS. TROUT: 

17      Q.   And I'm just needing some clarification.  One of the 

18  copies that we got, it's just not legible.  The only name that 

19  I can read is it appears as though Naomi Jessop was 

20  highlighted.  Her age, I think, is eighteen.  The residence is 

21  R17 and there is no date on this document.  And I guess what 

22  I'm requesting is, can the lines number one, two, three, four, 

23  five and six be read, and including the name, the relationship, 

24  the age, and the residences isn't necessary, because all of 

25  those are legible.
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1      A.   Did she say Jessops or Jeffs? 
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2                THE COURT:  Did you say Jessops or Jeffs? 

3                MS. TROUT:  Your Honor, I said Jessop. 

4                THE WITNESS:  Her client's a Naomi Jessop? 

5                THE COURT:  Did you hear the response? 

6                MS. TROUT:  Yes, Your Honor.  No, my client isn't 

7  Naomi Jessop.  But that's the only legible name that I can read 

8  on the copy that we have here. 

9                THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Who is your -- 

10      Q.   (MS. TROUT) My clients are Carolyn Johnson and 

11  Merrianne Jessop.  And I -- there's a -- there's a page here 

12  that we have that appears -- there's six names.  And I think 

13  one of them, the one that I can see legibly pretty much, is a 

14  Naomi Jessop.  And it appears that she's a wife.  She's 

15  eighteen.  And then underneath that I think it's a Joseph 

16  Jessop, a son that's two years old.  And then underneath that 

17  it is not legible for lines five and six.  In addition, line 

18  one is not legible, but appears that there's a name, and the 

19  age appears to be twenty-four.  And line two is barely legible. 

20                So I'm just trying to figure out if -- if your 

21  copy shows these names and if you can read them to me, please. 

22      A.   I can read them. 

23      Q.   Or if you even have that document. 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am, I have it here.  Line one is a Joseph.  I 

25  believe the middle name is Newel Jessop.
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1      Q.   I'm -- could you spell that middle name for me please? 

2      A.   I believe it's N-E-W-E-L. 

3      Q.   Thank you. 

4      A.   Twenty-four years of age.  Line two is a Josephine 
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5  Johnson Jessop, relationship's wife, age twenty-one, resides at 

6  R17. 

7                Line three is Naomi Johnson Jessop, relationship 

8  wife, eighteen years of age, residence R17.  Line four Joseph 

9  Merrill Jessop, son, age two, R17.  Line five is a Rebecca 

10  Jessop, daughter, ten months of age, R17. 

11                Line six is a Melissa Jessop, a daughter, age 

12  seven months, residence R17. 

13      Q.   I'm sorry.  I didn't catch the age of line six. 

14      A.   Seven months. 

15                MS. TROUT:  Okay, thank you.  Your Honor, that's 

16  all I have for now. 

17                THE COURT:  You're welcome. 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, there are three 

19  attorneys for respondents that would like to address the Court. 

20                THE COURT:  Well, I'm doing ad litems right now. 

21  Tell them to keep that thought, we'll be back.  Are you an ad 

22  litem? 

23                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, ma'am, I do have one. 

24                THE COURT:  One more ad litem attorney? 

25                DISTRICT CLERK:  One more ad litem attorney,
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1  yes, ma'am. 

2                MR. ARCHER:  Hi, I'm Brandon Archer.  I'm an 

3  attorney ad litem for Brent Richards Barlow. 

4                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

5  BY MR. ARCHER: 

6      Q.   Officer, in all of the records that you have, is there 

7  a single record that indicates that a male under the age of 
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8  eighteen is married? 

9      A.   I don't believe so. 

10      Q.   Or was married? 

11      A.   I don't -- I don't think I have one.  I'll have to go 

12  back through them real quick.  I have a Jonathan Luke Jessop 

13  here that does not give an age. 

14      Q.   But none that show for sure that the under eighteen- 

15  year-old male is married? 

16      A.   No, sir, I don't recall seeing any.  I think the 

17  youngest one I have is, like, twenty or twenty-one. 

18      Q.   Thank you. 

19      A.   No, sir, there's not any. 

20      Q.   Thank you.  And is there a single record that 

21  indicates that any male under the age of eighteen ever fathered 

22  a child? 

23      A.   Not to my knowledge; not that I know of here. 

24                MR. ARCHER:  Thank you.  No further questions. 

25                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge, there are no more
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1  attorney ad litems at this point. 

2                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Are you an attorney ad 

3  litem? 

4                MS. DELONG:  Your Honor, I'm for a mother.  I 

5  hadn't had a chance to look at these records until -- 

6                THE COURT:  I'm going to get to you.  I just said 

7  we were doing -- ad litems hadn't had a shot yet.  Okay? 

8                MS. DELONG:  I understand.  That's why I was 

9  letting you know I was not an a litem. 

10                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Any attorney ad litems 
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11  that feel like they need to ask this witness a question? 

12  Seeing none, we'll move to the respondents that haven't had a 

13  chance to respond.  That would be you. 

14                MS. DELONG:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

15                Your Honor, my name is Nancy Delong.  I'm cause 

16  number 2843 for where the mother's name is Lori Jessop. 

17                THE COURT:  Okay.  Birth date, please. 

18                You don't know? 

19                MS. DELONG:  I don't know.  I don't have her 

20  birth date. 

21                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Go ahead. 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MS. DELONG: 

24      Q.   I was going to ask you to look at a record that had 

25  the date on it as 5/19/07.  And the first name is Joseph Steed
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1  Jessop.  Do you find that one? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   And can you read how -- what his age is? 

4      A.   Twenty-six. 

5      Q.   And how many wives are listed on this sheet? 

6      A.   Just one. 

7      Q.   And what is her name? 

8      A.   Lori Jessop. 

9      Q.   And what is her age? 

10      A.   Twenty-four. 

11      Q.   And how many children are listed? 

12      A.   Three. 

13      Q.   And their ages are three, nineteen months and five 
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14  days? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   And there are -- this shows no other people in this 

17  residence according to this document; is that true? 

18      A.   That's according to this document, yes, ma'am. 

19                MS. DELONG:  Thank you. 

20                THE COURT:  You're welcome.  Anyone else in this 

21  courtroom that wants to ask a question of this witness?  That 

22  hasn't already had a shot.  Just hang on.  We're going to go in 

23  the back. 

24                I'll get to you over at the auditorium in just a 

25  second.  I haven't forgotten you.  And if you're here, if
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1  you-all want to ask questions, if you will get in line, we 

2  don't need to waste the time it takes for you to come up to the 

3  bench.  Come on up, sir. 

4                MR. SHAW:  May I approach, Your Honor? 

5                My name is John Shaw.  I'm an attorney with 

6  Texas --  Legal Aid of Northwest Texas.  I'm here specifically 

7  on two of my clients Mary Allred Jeffs, cause number 2902, and 

8  I grabbed the wrong one.  I grabbed the wrong file.  But I'm 

9  here on another one of my clients. 

10                I haven't had a chance to actually review -- 

11  review Exhibit 4.  Can I review it quickly to determine whether 

12  I believe that there's a relevant question I do have, but I 

13  haven't had a chance to review this document? 

14                THE COURT:  So why don't you step down and let 

15  somebody who's ready go.  Okay. 

16                Since you're at the podium over at city hall, 
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17  let's -- let's start with you, please. 

18                MS. BURNS:  Good afternoon.  Thank you, Your 

19  Honor.  My name is Lori Burns.  I'm from Texas Rio Grande Legal 

20  Aid.  I represent five respondent women.  And one of them is 

21  named Fawn Steed Barlow. 

22                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

23  BY MS. BURNS: 

24      Q.   Good afternoon, sir.  I would like to call your 

25  attention to a Bishop's Record where the first line in the name
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1  of the father is Lloyd Hammon Barlow.  If you could turn there 

2  please. 

3      A.   Yes, ma'am.  Go ahead. 

4      Q.   Sir, now you're alleging that there are (inaudible) 

5  that demonstrate sexual abuse (inaudible); correct? 

6      A.   No, I didn't understand you, ma'am. 

7      Q.   I'm -- I'm talking about the records in general.  You 

8  allege that some of them demonstrate underage marriages; is 

9  that correct? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   Okay.  And are you contending that these -- these 

12  records are accurate? 

13      A.   No, ma'am, I have not testified to that. 

14      Q.   Okay.  There are also records that show that there 

15  are -- that there are families where there are no marriages 

16  with underage girls.  That's true, correct? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   Okay.  So turning now to -- to this family, where the 

19  head of the family is Lloyd Hammon Barlow.  Does this Bishop's 
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20  Record indicate that there are any underage marriages in this 

21  family? 

22      A.   No, ma'am. 

23      Q.   But you took the children of this family away anyways, 

24  is -- 

25      A.   No, ma'am, I didn't.
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1                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Wait, ma'am.  He didn't 

2  have the authority to do anything.  The Judge made that order. 

3  So -- and that's the crux of what we're getting to.  I -- I 

4  know -- 

5                MS. BURNS:  I apologize. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Next question. 

7                MS. BURNS:  Let me rephrase my question. 

8      Q.   (MS. BURNS) The children of this family were taken 

9  away. 

10                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I'm going to object. 

11  I don't think -- 

12                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  There's an objection. 

13  Come to the podium. 

14                MS. RICHARDS:  I'm sorry.  Shawn Richards, again, 

15  for the State.  The children, according to the records that -- 

16  that Officer Crawford has offered are regarding Lloyd Hammond 

17  Barlow, are not even listed as being at R17.  So there's no 

18  relevancy to that line of question. 

19                THE COURT:  Where are they listed on the record? 

20                MS. RICHARDS:  They're listed as being in Short 

21  Creek. 

22                THE COURT:  So those children are not in the 
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23  Court's custody? 

24                MS. RICHARDS:  Or their jurisdiction. 

25                THE COURT:  Does that help you on your question,
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1  ma'am? 

2                MS. BURNS:  No, Your Honor.  Actually these 

3  children -- these children are in court custody.  They're at 

4  the coliseum. 

5                THE COURT:  But this record indicates they're 

6  not.  I mean, they may actually -- they may actually be in 

7  custody.  I'm not arguing with you about that.  But the -- your 

8  question with regards to this record would indicate that they 

9  are somewhere else. 

10                MS. BURNS:  Well, Your Honor, I have an ad litem 

11  of one of the children right here.  And she says that the 

12  children are in the coliseum, at least one of the children. 

13                THE COURT:  I don't doubt it.  I don't doubt it. 

14                MS. BURNS:  Okay. 

15                THE COURT:  What was your point about -- 

16                MS. BURNS:  All right. 

17                THE COURT:  -- this record? 

18                MS. BURNS:  My point, Your Honor, is -- and if 

19  the witness can confirm this, this document here does not show 

20  evidence of sexual abuse for this particular family.  Would you 

21  agree with that statement? 

22                THE COURT:  Wait, I think there's -- 

23                THE WITNESS:  I can't -- 

24                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait. 

25                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I object that this is
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1  not the proper witness for that -- that conclusion.  This 

2  witness -- 

3                MS. BURNS:  Your Honor, all I'm asking -- 

4                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  You know -- and I know 

5  you don't know how I do things, but I let one lawyer at a time 

6  talk.  And it's really hard, because you're some place else. 

7  So I'll kind of give you a signal when she quits talking, and 

8  I'm going to make her not talk when you're talking. 

9                Right now I've recognized the attorney standing 

10  at the podium in this courtroom. 

11                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I believe 

12  it goes beyond the scope of the testimony, so there's no proper 

13  question that -- that would go to his testimony that would in 

14  any way be answered from that. 

15                THE COURT:  Okay.  Respond to her objection to 

16  that your question is outside of the scope of his testimony. 

17                MS. BURNS:  Your Honor, it is within the scope of 

18  his testimony, because all I'm asking is based on this document 

19  that's right before him, does this document alone show any 

20  evidence of sexual abuse?  And he's able to look at this 

21  document and see that there are no underage marriages reflected 

22  on this document.  That's all I'm asking.  Is that true, sir? 

23                THE COURT:  Before you answer that. 

24                MS. RICHARDS:  Your Honor, I don't think that -- 

25  if we're going to stick to just the document that she's talking
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1  about, the document doesn't -- indicates that the kids aren't 

2  even here.  So there's no way he could testify as to whether or 

3  not these children were sexually assaulted.  And this document 

4  doesn't make it an allegation one way or the other. 

5                THE COURT:  The document doesn't make an 

6  allegation of sexual assault.  Okay. 

7                MS. RICHARDS:  This particular document. 

8                THE COURT:  Would you, in the city auditorium, 

9  like to respond to that? 

10                MS. BURNS:  No, Your Honor, that's wonderful. 

11  It's reflected on the record that this document does not 

12  reflect evidence of sexual abuse and that's all I wanted. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

14                MS. BURNS:  As to this family.  Thank you. 

15                THE COURT:  Anybody else over at the city 

16  auditorium? 

17                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Judge, there is. 

18  Several. 

19                THE COURT:  Unfortunately. 

20                DISTRICT CLERK:  Go ahead. 

21                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, I would like to make 

22  my -- actually ask the question -- ask the witness questions 

23  about my client at this time. 

24                THE COURT:  You know, wait.  I know that I am 

25  beginning to recognize you, but just so that my little Court
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1  Reporter can get this record straight, I need you to tell me 

2  who you are and who you represent. 

3                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.  My name is Mary 
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4  Lou Alvarez.  I'm from Texas Rio Grande Legal Aid.  I represent 

5  clients Audrey Richter and Sarah Nicholson, Sylvia Johnson and 

6  Rosie Richter. 

7                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

8  BY MS. ALVAREZ: 

9      Q.   And, officer, I would like to turn your attention to a 

10  document dated March 25th, 2007, beginning with the name Leland 

11  Donald Richter.  If you would, please turn to that document. 

12      A.   Okay, ma'am. 

13      Q.   And, officer, I represent Audrey Johnson Richter. 

14  Would you tell the Court what her age is, please, according to 

15  that document? 

16      A.   Thirty-five. 

17      Q.   And, officer, I also represent Rosinith, also known as 

18  Rosie Jessop Richter.  Would you please let the Court know what 

19  her age is according to that document? 

20      A.   Twenty-three. 

21      Q.   Now, officer, there are no date of births on that 

22  document; is that correct? 

23      A.   That's correct. 

24      Q.   No one signed authenticating whether or not the 

25  information on that sheet is correct?
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1      A.   No, ma'am. 

2      Q.   And nothing on that sheet indicates that any underaged 

3  marriage occurred; is that correct? 

4      A.   I have no idea.  I can't testify to that, ma'am, 

5  because I don't have any dates of marriage or anything. 

6      Q.   But you have the date of -- you have the age, the 
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7  purported age of my client, and you have the purported age of 

8  the Leland Donald Richter, who's listed on the top of that 

9  page; is that correct? 

10      A.   I have their age on the date this document was -- was 

11  made, yes, ma'am. 

12      Q.   Okay.  And what is the age of Leland Donald Richter? 

13      A.   Thirty-six. 

14      Q.   So with ages of thirty-six, thirty-five and 

15  twenty-three is there anything on this sheet to indicate that 

16  an underage marriage took place? 

17      A.   Ma'am, I don't know when they got married, how long 

18  they've been married.  I can't answer that one way or the 

19  other.  This sheet does not indicate that. 

20      Q.   Was this sheet used as a basis to remove the children? 

21      A.   Not to my knowledge, no, ma'am. 

22      Q.   Okay.  Now, officer, will you please go to the sheet 

23  dated March 24th, 2007? 

24      A.   I need a name, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Beginning with the name Janus, (sic) J-A-N-U-S, Jerry
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1  Jessop J-E-S-S-O-P. 

2      A.   Okay. 

3      Q.   And, officer, I represent Lucille Nicholson Jessop, 

4  J-E-S-S-O-P.  Do you see her name on that sheet? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am, I do. 

6      Q.   What is her age for the Court? 

7      A.   On the date this document was made, her age is given 

8  as twenty-three. 

9      Q.   And again, officer, there's no date of birth on this 
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10  sheet; is that correct? 

11      A.   No, ma'am, no date of birth given. 

12      Q.   And what is the age of Janus Jerry Jessop? 

13      A.   Thirty-one. 

14      Q.   And again, officer, there's nothing on this sheet to 

15  indicate an underage marriage took place; is that correct? 

16      A.   It's not indicated on this, no, ma'am. 

17      Q.   And finally, officer, I would like to turn your 

18  attention to the sheet dated May 10th, 2007, beginning with the 

19  name Lloyd Hammon Barlow. 

20      A.   Lloyd Hammon Barlow? 

21      Q.   Yes, sir. 

22      A.   Okay. 

23      Q.   And my client is Sylvia Elizabeth Johnson Barlow.  Do 

24  you see her name on that sheet? 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   And would you please let the Court know what her age 

2  is? 

3      A.   Twenty-three. 

4      Q.   According to that sheet? 

5      A.   According to this sheet. 

6                MS. TODD:  Your Honor, I object. 

7                THE COURT:  Okay. 

8                MS. TODD:  My name is Sheryl Johnson -- 

9                THE COURT:  I'm sorry? 

10                MS. TODD:  My name is Sheryl Johnson Todd. 

11                THE COURT:  I'm sorry. 

12                MS. TODD:  My name is Sheryl Johnson Todd, excuse 
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13  me.  And I represent one of the Jeffs children that is six 

14  years old.  And I believe the documents speak for themselves. 

15  I object to this line of questioning. 

16                THE COURT:  You object to the line of 

17  questioning.  Sustained.  Thank 

18                With that, it's two o'clock and my staff says 

19  that maybe I forgot to let you-all eat. 

20                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, may I please -- 

21                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I would like 

22  to make a point. 

23                THE COURT:  You're going to object to lunch, Mr. 

24  Haralson? 

25                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I would like to make
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1  or ask for clarification for counsel from the Department. 

2                THE COURT:  Mr. Haralson, we're going to lunch. 

3  Save your thoughts. 

4                MR. HARALSON:  Yes, ma'am. 

5                THE COURT:  We'll be back in session at 2:45. 

6                (Recess.) 

7                THE COURT:  I believe when we stopped Mr. 

8  Haralson was making some sort of objection about something. 

9                MR. HARALSON:  May I approach, Your Honor? 

10                THE COURT:  No.  You can go there. 

11                MR. HARALSON:  May I approach the lecturn, Your 

12  Honor? 

13                Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Thank you for the 

14  lunch break.  I'm Brad Haralson.  I'm attorney representing 

15  respondent-mothers Merilyn Jeffs and also Rebecca Allred. 
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16                My question -- 

17                THE COURT:  Speak up, Mr. Haralson. 

18                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.  My question is 

19  actually asking for a point of clarification from counsel for 

20  the Department.  If this witness is unable to vouch for the 

21  accuracy of Exhibit 4, and apparently the Department at this 

22  time is not able to either, I want to know for what purpose is 

23  it being submitted into evidence? 

24                MS. RICHARDS:  May I respond, Your Honor? 

25                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.  Ms. Hennington, you're
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1  going to need to tuck your chair in. 

2                MS. RICHARDS:  I was trying to think, though, is 

3  this really the appropriate time?  We have a witness on the 

4  stand now for his question, if he has an objection in general. 

5                THE COURT:  You think it's not a timely 

6  objection?  Is really the objection he's making go to the 

7  weight that the Court should give this evidence? 

8                MS. RICHARDS:  That's correct, Your Honor. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Have a seat, Mr. 

10  Haralson.  Overruled. 

11                MR. HARALSON:  Well, Your Honor, it's not only 

12  the weight, but also -- if we don't know the purpose of this, 

13  then we don't know whether or not it's relevant. 

14                THE COURT:  If I knew the purpose of any lawyer's 

15  question, I wouldn't be sitting here.  Thank you. 

16                All right.  Do we have any other lawyers that 

17  want to ask this witness questions relevant to the testimony 

18  that he's put on or, perhaps any, other thing that you think 
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19  this witness might be able to tell you? 

20                Thank you very much.  You may step down. 

21                MS. RICHARDS:  Well, Your Honor, I have -- 

22                THE COURT:  No. 

23                MS. RICHARDS:  I'm sorry.  I just need to clarify 

24  one or two little things with our officer.  I promise I'll keep 

25  it very brief.
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1                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

2  BY MS. RICHARDS: 

3      Q.   Officer Crawford, on all the -- the documents that we 

4  talked about, it identifies the entire area of YFZ ranch as 

5  R17; is that correct? 

6      A.   Yes, sir -- yes, ma'am. 

7      Q.   There's no designation of any individual residence. 

8  It's an entire -- the entire entity of YFZ Ranch is R-17; is 

9  that correct? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  No further 

12  questions.  I would ask for permission to substitute a copy 

13  instead of the officer's originals. 

14                THE COURT:  We'll get to all of that later on. 

15                MS. RICHARDS:  Thank you. 

16                THE COURT:  Does anybody rise to the limited 

17  purpose of addressing the questions asked?  Court sees no one. 

18                Is there anyone approaching over there? 

19                All right.  You may step down. 

20                THE WITNESS:  Thank you, ma'am. 

21                THE COURT:  Next witness. 
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22                MS. GRIFFITH:  Angie Voss. 

23                THE COURT:  Angie Voss. 

24                Would you state your name for the record, 

25  please.
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1                THE WITNESS:  My name is Angie Voss. 

2                THE COURT:  And have you been sworn by the Court? 

3                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

4                THE COURT:  You may proceed. 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

6                            ANGIE VOSS 

7  having been first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

8                        DIRECT EXAMINATION 

9  BY MS. GRIFFITH: 

10      Q.   Ma'am, how are you employed? 

11      A.   I'm a supervisor for investigations at Child 

12  Protective Services. 

13      Q.   And how long have you been employed in that capacity? 

14      A.   I've been a supervisor for just over six years. 

15      Q.   And prior to being a supervisor, what job did you do 

16  at Child Protective Services? 

17      A.   I was investigator of child abuse, specializing in 

18  serious physical abuse cases, child theft cases and sexual 

19  assault cases. 

20      Q.   And caseworkers at Child Protective Services have 

21  designations caseworker one, two, three, four, correct? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Up to five? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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25      Q.   And what level were you prior to becoming supervisor?
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1      A.   Well, they invented level five prior -- after I became 

2  a supervisor.  I was investigator level four. 

3      Q.   At the time you -- 

4                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am?  Y'all can't hear. 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:  We cannot hear the witness. 

7                THE COURT:  Okay. 

8                DISTRICT CLERK:  We cannot hear the witness. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you.  We're going to work on 

10  that.  Just a second.  What can you do?  No more questions. 

11                SOUND TECHNICIAN:  They should be hearing. 

12                THE COURT:  Well, they're not hearing over there. 

13                DISTRICT CLERK:  Can you please have here speak 

14  up or directly into the microphone? 

15                THE WITNESS:  This one? 

16                THE COURT:  All right.  Say your name again, 

17  please. 

18                THE WITNESS:  Angie Voss. 

19                THE COURT:  Can you hear that, Sheri? 

20                DISTRICT CLERK:  It -- it doesn't seem to be 

21  helping, ma'am. 

22                THE COURT:  All right.  What if we put this over 

23  there.  Can we put this microphone -- 

24                Try it again. 

25                THE WITNESS:  Angie Voss.
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1                THE COURT:  Did that work? 

2                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, that's much better. 

3                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Thank you.  And you need 

4  to speak up, too -- 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, ma'am. 

6                THE COURT:  -- please.  Thank you. 

7      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) As a case worker four and as a 

8  supervisor, what sort of training do you have that qualifies 

9  you to do that job? 

10      A.   I have a bachelor's degree in psychology.  I have a 

11  master's degree in counseling psychology.  In my position I've 

12  been provided with innumerable hours of training regarding 

13  interviewing children, assessing risks to children, safety 

14  concerns for children. 

15      Q.   Would you agree with me that in this case, this is 

16  unusual even for your years with the Department? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   You were one of the primary supervisors assigned to 

19  work on the investigation regarding the YFZ Ranch? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   How did the Department get involved in this case? 

22      A.   Can I look at my notes? 

23      Q.   Yes. 

24      A.   The Department received a report on March the 29th at 

25  about 11:32 PM.
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1                THE COURT:  I'm sorry? 
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2                MR. TABET:  That's okay.  Am I supposed to make 

3  an objection from here or from up there? 

4                THE COURT:  For you to be able to be heard, 

5  you're going to have to come to the rail and come up here and 

6  be recognized. 

7                MR. TABET:  Just for the record, my name is 

8  Charles Tabet.  I'm going to object to any testimony that she's 

9  reading from -- 

10                THE COURT:  We can't hear you. 

11                MR. TABET:  I'm going to object to any testimony 

12  from which she's reading from records that have not been 

13  admitted. 

14                My name is Charles Tabet and I represent -- 

15                THE COURT:  All right.  Now, you're a lawyer. 

16                MR. TABET:  Yes, ma'am. 

17                THE COURT:  Pretend there's no microphone and 

18  shout at me. 

19                MR. TABET:  I will try, Judge.  For the record, 

20  my name is Charles Tabet.  And I would object to any testimony 

21  from any documents she is reading from that have not been 

22  admitted into evidence. 

23                THE COURT:  Your objection is she's reading from 

24  documents that have not been admitted into evidence? 

25                MR. TABET:  Yes, ma'am.
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1                THE COURT:  Do I hear a response? 

2                MS. GRIFFITH:  I don't believe that's an 

3  appropriate objection under the rules, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  You may have the right later to 
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5  review the documents, if she's used them. 

6                MR. TABET:  Judge, if she's relying and reading 

7  on records she did not -- she did not prepare, that would be 

8  hearsay.  So I'm going to object on that basis, as well. 

9                THE COURT:  Would you like to address that? 

10                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, as to the current line 

11  of questioning, this is not hearsay.  This is -- these are Ms. 

12  Voss's recollections of the report that came to the Department, 

13  the information the Department received and an explanation of 

14  why the Department became involved in this case. 

15                These are foundation questions.  They are not 

16  hearsay.  And I believe the documents Ms. Voss is referring to 

17  are her own personal notes in regards to this matter. 

18                MR. TABET:  With all due respect, Judge, these 

19  documents and the records that she is trying to read from, the 

20  information she's trying to produce, is hearsay because it goes 

21  to the exact matter that is contained in their petition.  And 

22  the reasons that they have removed the kids. 

23                Based on that, it is hearsay.  I'm going to 

24  object to it.  It's also denied the right for cross 

25  examination.  There is no way for me to try and cross examine
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1  anyone who is not present in this courtroom. 

2                THE COURT:  Based on the objections you've made, 

3  I will overrule those objections.  You may proceed. 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

5      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) You were telling us how the Department 

6  became involved.  You received an intake? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am, we did. 
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8      Q.   And what were the allegations? 

9      A.   The allegations were concerns of physical abuse and 

10  sexual abuse to a sixteen-year-old girl who had reported about 

11  these events happening to herself. 

12      Q.   And from the information you had, where was this girl 

13  located? 

14      A.   At the YFZ Ranch in Eldorado. 

15      Q.   When you receive a report like this, what is the 

16  normal response of the Department? 

17      A.   When the Department receives a report, it is routed to 

18  the appropriate CPS office where the staff are located that can 

19  investigate the allegations. 

20      Q.   And was this report handled in that same manner? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   Was it routed to an investigator in your office? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24      Q.   Okay.  When this report came in, were there concerns 

25  about whether or not this investigation could be handled by one
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1  investigator? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   Why was that a concern? 

4      A.   The concerns were that there were several girls living 

5  at the ranch where this young lady was said to be living, as 

6  well. 

7      Q.   And when you say "several," what did you believe to be 

8  the number or the possible number of people living at this 

9  ranch? 

10      A.   During coordination with law enforcement regarding our 
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11  report and concerns for child abuse, Sheriff David Doran said 

12  that he believed the ranch -- 

13                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I object, Your Honor. 

14                THE COURT:  Rephrase your question, please. 

15      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) When you were making decisions about 

16  investigating this case, what was your belief about the numbers 

17  of people that would be at the YFZ Ranch? 

18      A.   A hundred to a hundred and fifty. 

19      Q.   And did you believe that you had obtained that 

20  information from a reliable source? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   When the Department conducts an investigation of 

23  sexual abuse or any kind of abuse, what is the normal procedure 

24  in regards to interviewing household members? 

25      A.   The normal procedure is to interview every household
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1  member. 

2      Q.   Did you intend -- did you expect that there would be a 

3  possibility that you would have to interview every member of 

4  this ranch? 

5      A.   No, ma'am. 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Judge, I'm going to 

7  object to her leading the witness. 

8                THE COURT:  All right.  Please don't lead the 

9  witness. 

10                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

11      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) When this report came in, what did the 

12  Department do and what did you participate in as far as setting 

13  up the investigation? 
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14      A.   As with every report received by the Department, law 

15  enforcement is notified.  This -- this report was discussed 

16  amongst law enforcement and ourselves.  Law enforcement was 

17  already aware of the report and had asked us to -- 

18                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'll object, Your Honor, 

19  to hearsay as to what law enforcement received and discussed. 

20                THE COURT:  The objection is to hearsay of what 

21  law enforcement may or may not have discussed.  Would you 

22  rephrase your question, please. 

23                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

24                THE COURT:  There is a rule that allows, on 

25  preliminary questioning, some leading, ladies and gentlemen.
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1  Thank you. 

2      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Could you please tell us what you 

3  participated in, what actions you observed, what you, as a 

4  representative of the Department, did in regards to getting 

5  this investigation started? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am.  I took part in several discussions and 

7  staffings with several different law enforcement personnel and 

8  our Child Protective Services staff regarding the next step for 

9  our investigation. 

10      Q.   And as a result of that, were caseworkers assigned to 

11  go to the YFZ Ranch? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   How many caseworkers were assigned? 

14      A.   Initially twelve. 

15      Q.   Did anyone else get assigned to this investigation? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

Page 140



4-17-08 
17      Q.   Who else? 

18      A.   More than I am probably aware of. 

19      Q.   But you were aware of a team of investigators? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   And what was your responsibility in regards to that 

22  team? 

23      A.   My responsibility for the initial team that went to 

24  the ranch was to coordinate and help with interviews. 

25      Q.   And in your job as a supervisor, do you typically go
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1  on site to do interviews or coordinate? 

2      A.   On occasion, not always. 

3      Q.   Typically what is your responsibility as a supervisor 

4  when there is an ongoing investigation? 

5      A.   As a supervisor I oversee the investigation activities 

6  and I help discuss the happenings with the investigator, answer 

7  questions and discuss how we should progress. 

8      Q.   Other than the fact that you went on site, was this 

9  any different? 

10      A.   No, ma'am. 

11      Q.   When did you go to the ranch? 

12      A.   I arrived at the ranch gates at about 9:00 PM on 

13  Thursday the 3rd. 

14      Q.   And who was with you, that you recall? 

15      A.   It was myself; Kelly Walker, she's an investigator; 

16  Bobby Banda, an investigator; Tina Martinez, investigator; 

17  Rebecca Baxter, investigator; Rudy Gutierrez, investigator; 

18  Paul Dyre, special investigator; Eric Sanders, special 

19  investigator; Mary Alice Hudson, CPS staff; and also Jessica 
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20  Carol. 

21      Q.   Was law enforcement with you? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Did they arrive with you or separately? 

24      A.   They went before we got there. 

25      Q.   And what law enforcement agencies were represented, if
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1  you know? 

2      A.   There were Schleicher County Sheriff's Department, 

3  Texas Rangers, D.P.S. Troopers. 

4      Q.   In an ordinary case, what would be the first step when 

5  you arrive at a home? 

6      A.   We request permission to come inside to talk. 

7      Q.   And is that what happened in this case? 

8      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

9      Q.   And who asked for permission to go in? 

10      A.   I did. 

11      Q.   And who did you speak to? 

12      A.   When I got to the gate, I was escorted from my car, 

13  walking to the gate, and spoke to two gentlemen who were 

14  residents of the YFZ Ranch.  I don't recall their names.  But I 

15  was advised to discuss with them what CPS was doing there and 

16  what we intended. 

17      Q.   And what did you tell them? 

18      A.   I told them that we received a report of concerns and 

19  we wanted to come in to visit with the children that were 

20  there. 

21      Q.   Did you tell them anything about the report? 

22      A.   By the time I had gotten to the gate, law enforcement 

Page 142



4-17-08 
23  had discussed the report.  They were aware of it. 

24      Q.   And when you say, "they were aware of it," that was 

25  your understanding?
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1      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

2      Q.   Okay.  Was there any discussion of whether you were 

3  looking for particular children or a particular child? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5      Q.   And what was the discussion? 

6      A.   Specifically asked for the child mentioned in the CPS 

7  report. 

8      Q.   Okay.  A child named Sarah? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   Okay.  And you specifically asked to talk to that 

11  child? 

12      A.   While I was standing there, law enforcement said that 

13  we were there to see Sarah. 

14      Q.   And what was the response from the residents of the 

15  ranch? 

16      A.   The men shook their heads and said there were no 

17  Sarahs living on the ranch. 

18      Q.   No Sarahs at all? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   And what did -- how -- what was the response to that? 

21      A.   I said, "Then, would you still allow us to come and 

22  speak with any of the other children that live here?" 

23      Q.   And did they then permit you in? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Where did you go inside the ranch?
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1      A.   We went to the schoolhouse. 

2      Q.   This ranch, the YFZ Ranch, has one entrance that you 

3  know of, or do you know? 

4      A.   I don't know. 

5      Q.   Okay.  But you came in through what you considered to 

6  be front door, back door? 

7      A.   I would consider that was the main entrance.  It had a 

8  guard tower. 

9      Q.   Can you describe that guard tower to me? 

10      A.   It was a tall structure with windows all around. 

11  There were stairs leading up to it. 

12      Q.   How tall? 

13      A.   As tall as this room. 

14      Q.   And what makes you classify that as a guard tower as 

15  opposed to just a structure? 

16      A.   I believed that I had heard law enforcement refer to 

17  it as that. 

18                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I -- I'm going to object 

19  to hearsay. 

20                MR. TABET:  I'm going to object to hearsay. 

21                THE COURT:  Okay.  I just need one lawyer at a 

22  time.  Please strike that answer.  See if you can ask 

23  questions. 

24      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) The -- when you call it a guard tower, 

25  was that your interpretation or someone else's?
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1      A.   Someone else's. 

2      Q.   Was there anyone in the guard tower? 

3      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

4      Q.   Who did you see in the guard tower? 

5      A.   I saw at least two men. 

6      Q.   And what were they doing, if you could tell? 

7      A.   As I was driving by, I just saw them looking down at 

8  us. 

9      Q.   You said you went to the schoolhouse? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   How did you know to -- how to get to the schoolhouse? 

12      A.   I followed law enforcement inside.  There was a trail 

13  of cars in front of me and behind me.  And it was a very curvy, 

14  windy road to get to what I was told was the schoolhouse. 

15      Q.   And when you got into the school -- you went inside 

16  the schoolhouse? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   When you got into the schoolhouse, what did you see? 

19      A.   There are two levels.  We were placed on the main 

20  level.  There's a small waiting area at the front door.  It 

21  appeared to be a waiting area, lots of chairs.  And inside that 

22  are hallways with multiple classrooms. 

23      Q.   What happened next? 

24      A.   Merrill Jessop opened some of the classroom doors. 

25  He -- he instructed some of his men to open the doors for us so
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1  that we could interview some girls. 

2      Q.   How do you know it was Merrill Jessop? 

3      A.   He was introduced to me. 
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4      Q.   And at this point, is your whole team of twelve 

5  investigators with you? 

6      A.   No, ma'am. 

7      Q.   Who was with you? 

8      A.   Myself, Tina Martinez, Rudy Gutierrez, Rebecca Baxter 

9  and Jessica Carol. 

10      Q.   Okay.  Why did the whole team not come in? 

11      A.   Because the men on the other side of the gate said 

12  that they only had approval for us, for five of us. 

13      Q.   What did you do when you were -- the classroom doors 

14  were open? 

15      A.   Each investigator took a room to use as their 

16  interview room.  And we waited for girls to come. 

17      Q.   And how were the girls going to come? 

18      A.   The men said they were going to go get them. 

19      Q.   Did you specifically say who you wanted to interview? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   Who did you ask for? 

22      A.   I asked for all girls age seventeen and younger. 

23      Q.   And why did you ask for that particular group? 

24      A.   Because that is the age group in which Sarah's 

25  identified to be in.
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1      Q.   They had already told you they didn't have a Sarah, 

2  correct? 

3      A.   That's right. 

4      Q.   So you asked for all girls? 

5      A.   I did. 

6      Q.   Did anyone say, "no, we're not going to bring that 
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7  many girls," or did they respond to that in any way? 

8      A.   Their response was cordial and they said okay. 

9      Q.   How long did it take from the time you requested the 

10  girls be brought until they arrived? 

11      A.   About ten or fifteen minutes. 

12      Q.   And what did you do when the girls arrived? 

13      A.   We each took a girl into a room and began our 

14  interviews. 

15      Q.   And what were you trying to find out in these 

16  interviews? 

17      A.   Information about Sarah. 

18      Q.   And you were only asking about Sarah, or were you 

19  asking about other things, too? 

20      A.   Other things, too.  We were doing an investigation. 

21      Q.   Your intake was about one girl, correct? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Okay.  Why were you asking about other things? 

24      A.   Part of the CPS investigation process is to assess all 

25  the children in the home, safety and care, so we did standard
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1  interviews. 

2      Q.   And what is a standard interview? 

3      A.   Well, it -- 

4      Q.   What's it cover? 

5      A.   Basically trying to build some rapport with -- with 

6  the child.  And then gathering some identification, some kind 

7  of information regarding who lives in the home, information 

8  about their daily activities, things like that. 

9      Q.   And as these interviews progressed, did you get 
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10  information about Sarah? 

11      A.   We started to get information about some Sarahs, yes, 

12  ma'am. 

13      Q.   Some Sarahs; more than one? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   What did you learn? 

16      A.   Tina Martinez initially interviewed Yvonne.  And 

17  Yvonne said -- 

18                MS. HENNINGTON:  Objection. 

19                MR. TABET:  Objection. 

20                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection.  Hearsay, Your 

21  Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  The objection's been made it's 

23  hearsay.  Would you like to respond? 

24                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I would actually like 

25  to withdraw that question.
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1                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Next question. 

2      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ms. Voss, as the supervisor for this 

3  investigation, have you been designated as the custodian of the 

4  records in regards to this investigation? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   In the normal course of CPS record keeping, the 

7  caseworker assigned to a case is normally the custodian of that 

8  record, correct? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   Do all four hundred and something cases have 

11  individual caseworkers assigned to them at this time? 

12      A.   Some of the cases, I understand, have several 
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13  caseworkers assigned to them at this time. 

14      Q.   There's some confusion, correct? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am, and because of the volume. 

16      Q.   And you have been designated by whom as the custodian 

17  of these records? 

18      A.   My supervisor. 

19      Q.   As the custodian of the record, are you familiar with 

20  the way the Department keeps records? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   And are the records regarding this case being kept in 

23  the normal course of how the Department keeps their records? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   They're entered into the normal system the Department
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1  uses? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   We're using the same processes to enter those records, 

4  correct? 

5      A.   That's correct. 

6      Q.   And in the normal course of entering records into the 

7  Department, are they entered -- the events entered either by 

8  the person who participated in that event or by a person that 

9  they transmitted those notes or records to? 

10      A.   That is correct. 

11                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, may I approach the 

12  witness? 

13                THE COURT:  You may. 

14      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ms. Voss, we have brought records today 

15  regarding some, but not all, of the children involved in this 
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16  investigation, correct? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   And part of your testimony will come from these 

19  records, correct? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   And you have reviewed some of these records in 

22  preparation for that, correct? 

23      A.   Yes, I have. 

24      Q.   Okay.  Have you reviewed these records that we're 

25  bringing to court today?
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1      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

2      Q.   Ms. Voss, I'm showing you documents marked 

3  Petitioner's Exhibits 5 through 25.  Will you look at those? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5      Q.   Are these the records or copies of the records that 

6  you reviewed for -- for this testimony today? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

8      Q.   And are these the records that are kept in the 

9  ordinary course of the Department's business? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   And are the events recorded in these records recorded 

12  either by the person who observed the event or by a person that 

13  the notes were transmitted to for the purposes of inputting 

14  them into the record? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   And were these events input into the system and became 

17  part of the Department's record at or near the time -- 

18                MR. TABET:  I'm having a hard time hearing, I'm 
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19  sorry. 

20                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  We can't hear you, 

21  either. 

22                MR. TABET:  I'm having a hard time hearing. 

23                THE COURT:  If you would all be quiet so that the 

24  lawyers can hear.  Speak up, please. 

25      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Were the events recorded at or near the
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1  time the events in these records occurred? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, at this time I would 

4  like to offer, and I will identify each of them individually, 

5  Petitioner's -- may I go back to the podium? 

6                THE COURT:  Please.  I think you have to at least 

7  let her mention the names before you start objecting. 

8                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, ma'am. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

10                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I anticipate that many 

11  of the objections will be the same for all of the -- 

12                THE COURT:  Why don't you do a global tender. 

13                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

14                I would like to identify Petitioner's Exhibit 5 

15  as a document entitled case name Keate, K-E-A-T-E, Rachel, 

16  R-A-C-H-E-L.  Petitioner's 6 is identified as -- by case name 

17  Jeffs, J-E-F-F-S, Sally.  Petitioner's 7, identified as case 

18  name Dutson, D-U-T-S-O-N, Rebecca.  Petitioner's 8 identified 

19  by case name Barlow, B-A-R-L-O-W, Margaret. 

20                Petitioner's 9 identified by case named Barlow, 

21  B-A-R-L-O-W, Margaret.  And I would like to -- sorry, Your 
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22  Honor, Petitioner's 9 appears to be a duplicate.  I won't be 

23  offering Petitioner's 9. 

24                Petitioner's 10 is identified by case name Emack, 

25  E-M-A-K, Ruleen, R-U-L-E-E-N.  Petitioner's 11, identified by
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1  case name Jeffs, J-E-F-F-S, Pamela.  Petitioner's 12, 

2  identified by case name Jessop, J-E-S-S-O-P, Sarah. 

3  Petitioner's 13, identified by case name Jessop, J-E-S-S-O-P, 

4  Janet J. 

5                Petitioner's 14, identified by case name Jessop, 

6  J-E-S-S-O-P, Alice.  Petitioner's 15, identified by case name 

7  Jessop, J-E-S-S-O-P, Mindy.  Petitioner's 16, identified by 

8  case name Johnson, J-O-H-N-S-O-N, Suzanne, S-U-Z-A-N-N-E. 

9                Petitioner's 17, identified by case name 

10  Johnson, J-O-H-N-S-O-N, Sarah E.  Petitioner 18, identified by 

11  case name Keate, K-E-A-T-E, Marilyn.  Petitioner's 19, 

12  identified by case name Musser, M-U-S-S-E-R, Marie. 

13                Petitioner's 20, identified by case name Steed, 

14  S-T-E-E-D, Kathleen, K-A-T-H-L-E-E-N.  Petitioner's 21 -- 21, 

15  identified by case name Steed, S-T-E-E-D, Marie.  Petitioner's 

16  22, identified by case name Steed, S-T-E-E-D, Velate, 

17  V-E-L-A-T-E. 

18                Petitioner's 23, identified by case name Steed, 

19  S-T-E-E-D, Louise.  Petitioner's 24, identified by case name 

20  Steed, S-T-E-E-D, Marie.  I would like to further identify this 

21  by case number 26609407.  Petitioner's 25, identified by case 

22  name, Zitting, Z-I-T-T-I-N-G, Priscilla. 

23                I'd offer these to the Court, Petitioner's 5 

24  through 25, excluding Petitioner's 9. 
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25                THE COURT:  Now, sir.
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1                MR. PEAK:  Your Honor, Gary Peak, again, for two 

2  of the minors Ammon Jeffs and Nielsen Mer- -- Merrill -- 

3  Nielsen Merrill, Merrill Nielsen, I get confused. 

4                Judge, my only real objection is here that the ad 

5  litem attorneys have not had a chance to review any of these 

6  documents.  And I would at least ask the Court to allow us to 

7  reserve the right to review those and file any objections we 

8  may have with the Court. 

9                THE COURT:  Well, arguably you would have an 

10  objection if your child was in one of the twenty-four or list 

11  of the documents that's being provided. 

12                So was your child name in one of those? 

13                MR. PEAK:  I wasn't certain, Your Honor.  And I 

14  don't know what -- all that's my problem.  If I can't review 

15  the documents, I don't know what all they reference.  They may 

16  reference my child -- 

17                THE COURT:  No.  No, wait.  Wait.  Let's just -- 

18  they specifically listed the children that these were records 

19  for.  Was your child -- 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  May I clarify that, Your Honor? 

21                THE COURT:  Yes, please. 

22                MS. GRIFFITH:  Department records are typically, 

23  and in this case as much as possible, identified by the 

24  mother's name. 

25                THE COURT:  Oh, okay.
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1                MS. GRIFFITH:  And there are children in these 

2  documents that I did not call the names for. 

3                THE COURT:  Oh, okay.  Thank you. 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  There are, I believe, two copies 

5  of these being distributed around the room. 

6                MR. PEAK:  And, Judge, that's my point.  I just 

7  don't want to hold anything up, but I don't want to waive any 

8  objectionable material -- objections to material coming in. 

9                THE COURT:  Okay.  And I'm assuming that I have 

10  six hundred other objections that are comparable to this; is 

11  that right? 

12                THE ATTORNEYS:  Yes. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

14                MS. HENNINGTON:  Judge, I'm actually going to 

15  make a couple of other objections. 

16                THE COURT:  I know.  But I'm dealing with one at 

17  a time.  Okay? 

18                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay.  I just wanted to make 

19  sure.  Sorry, Judge. 

20                THE COURT:  So with regards to this line of 

21  objections, the Court will take this under advisement.  If I -- 

22  after reviewing these documents, if you-all want to, in 

23  writing, raise your objection, Court will be glad to look at 

24  that.  I'm sorry that you don't have copies of everything. 

25  Okay?
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1                MR. PEAK:  Thank you, Your Honor. 
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2                THE COURT:  Now, Ms. Hennington. 

3                MS. HENNINGTON:  This is Amy Hennington.  Your 

4  Honor, I actually had the privilege of seeing some of these 

5  documents and I do have a couple of objections to them. 

6                One is, many of the children that are listed on 

7  that document are over the age of twelve.  And I think the 

8  hearsay rule under Family Code Section 104.006 would say that 

9  any of the documents for children that are alleged to be 

10  victims over the age of twelve would prevent these documents 

11  from being introduced. 

12                THE COURT:  All right.  Is that -- is that that 

13  objection? 

14                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes. 

15                THE COURT:  All right.  Well, these documents are 

16  being offered as the business records of what they've got, not 

17  necessarily what it says is true.  But they're being offered 

18  for the purposes that:  These are my business records.  Right? 

19                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes.  Yes, ma'am. 

20                THE COURT:  So if these are my business records, 

21  they're probably going to contain hearsay.  That's not 

22  necessarily an objection that's going to exclude it.  It goes 

23  to -- it's not being offered for the truth of what's in it is 

24  truth and correct.  That's something you-all get to examine the 

25  witnesses about if we get to that stage.
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1                It's offered for:  these are business records. 

2  And then we might go to attacking the weight that the Court 

3  might give those. 

4                MS. HENNINGTON:  And, I'm sorry, Your Honor, I 
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5  thought that the State was saying that they -- because they 

6  weren't going to allow her to testify about hearsay, what some 

7  other investigator knew, so they wanted to try to offer the 

8  record hearsay through business record.  That's why I was 

9  making the objection that it's -- no matter how they try to 

10  offer it, those documents are hearsay inside -- and whether 

11  they want Ms. Voss to testify about what some other 

12  investigator learned or they now want to offer it as a record, 

13  whatever is said in those records, shouldn't be admitted. 

14                I mean, they could -- they could take out -- and 

15  take out the part that involves children over the age of 

16  twelve. 

17                THE COURT:  State like -- or the Department like 

18  to respond? 

19                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

20                Your Honor, the -- the objection as to hearsay 

21  needs to be made to the statement that's being offered.  At 

22  this time the documents are being offered.  They do indeed 

23  contain hearsay. 

24                I do anticipate asking this witness to testify in 

25  regards to the contents of these documents.  I do have
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1  exceptions that I believe are appropriate in regards to hearsay 

2  within these documents.  But at this time a global objection to 

3  the Department's records is inappropriate. 

4                THE COURT:  I here mumbling over there.  Is there 

5  something someone wants to say, Mr. Jones? 

6                MR. JONES:  Respectfully, Your Honor, I can pass 

7  to co-counsel. 
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8                THE COURT:  Thanks.  Ms. Hennington. 

9                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, if we go with the 

10  line the State wants to take, then for clarification do you 

11  want us to stand up every time they -- if what I think they'll 

12  be doing is going into these records -- 

13                THE COURT:  Do I want that to happen?  No.  Do I 

14  expect that it will happen?  Yes. 

15                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you, Your 

16  Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  Anybody over at the auditorium? 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  (Inaudible.) 

19                THE COURT:  We can't hear you, Sheri. 

20                We can't hear her. 

21                There you go.  Say something now, Sheri. 

22                DISTRICT CLERK:  Hello. 

23                THE COURT:  Hi, Sheri. 

24                DISTRICT CLERK:  Can you hear me, Judge? 

25                Since they moved the microphone over to the
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1  witness, we cannot hear you as well.  So they would like for 

2  you to move the mike back to you when you're speaking, I 

3  guess. 

4                THE COURT:  Okay. 

5                When you're talking, turn and talk to this. 

6  Okay?  The Court will admit the exhibits. 

7      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ms. Voss, while you were conducting 

8  these interviews, you said you were at the school, correct? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   And your investigators were in different rooms? 
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11      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

12      Q.   Were there residents of the ranch or people you felt 

13  to be residents of the ranch present? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am, many. 

15      Q.   Where were they? 

16      A.   There were men standing at the doors.  There were men 

17  stand in the stairwells.  There were men outside walking around 

18  the building. 

19      Q.   About how many men do you think were there? 

20      A.   There were two in the stairwell that I saw.  I don't 

21  know how many outside.  Several in the waiting area, probably 

22  ten or twelve. 

23      Q.   Were they standing near you? 

24      A.   Sometimes, yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Were they polite?
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1      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

2      Q.   Respectful? 

3      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

4      Q.   Nobody said anything rude? 

5      A.   No, ma'am. 

6      Q.   Were you concerned? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

8      Q.   What was your concern? 

9      A.   It was a very scary environment, intimidating.  Brooks 

10  Long, the Ranger, told me that there were -- 

11                MR. HARALSON:  Objection, Your Honor, hearsay. 

12                THE COURT:  Sustained. 

13      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Please tell me what you were feeling 
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14  and what you saw. 

15      A.   I was afraid.  I saw men all over.  It felt like the 

16  schoolhouse was surrounded.  Just a fearful kind of 

17  environment.  There were so many law enforcement. 

18      Q.   And it was just you and your four investigators? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   Were there women around? 

21      A.   Not initially, no. 

22      Q.   When the girls, the first set of girls were brought to 

23  the school, how many were brought? 

24      A.   About fifteen. 

25      Q.   Did you see them arrive?
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1      A.   I saw them walking into the waiting area of the school 

2  room -- schoolhouse. 

3      Q.   What was their demeanor when they were walking in? 

4      A.   Quiet. 

5      Q.   Were they walking in a group, in a line?  How were 

6  they walking? 

7      A.   In a line. 

8      Q.   And were there others around the girls? 

9      A.   Men.  Men were walking in with them. 

10      Q.   I'm sorry, I probably asked this.  How large is this 

11  group of girls? 

12      A.   About fifteen. 

13      Q.   And what did you do with them?  Where did you put 

14  them? 

15      A.   They were individually placed in the -- the classrooms 

16  that were opened up for us to interview. 
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17      Q.   Were there fifteen different classrooms? 

18      A.   No, ma'am.  Five at a time.  The rest waited in the 

19  waiting area. 

20      Q.   And you said that there were men in the waiting area? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   And were there men in the interview rooms, also? 

23      A.   No, ma'am. 

24      Q.   During the interviews, did -- did there start to be 

25  concerns in your mind in regards to Sarah?
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1      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

2      Q.   What raised concerns in your mind? 

3      A.   I started gathering information that there were Sarahs 

4  living at the ranch.  And the Sarahs that some of these girls 

5  were talking about were underage and had children. 

6      Q.   And specifically the Sarah you were looking for had 

7  been described to the Department as how? 

8      A.   Her physical appearance? 

9      Q.   Or age and physical appearance. 

10      A.   All I knew was she was about five-four, blonde hair, 

11  blue eyes, about sixteen years old, had a baby. 

12      Q.   Sixteen and had a baby? 

13      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

14      Q.   And in trying to find Sarah, what did you tell your 

15  investigators they should ask? 

16      A.   Ask the girls if they know any young girls with 

17  babies.  Do they know anyone named Sarah. 

18      Q.   You did start getting information about Sarah.  Did 

19  they identify the Sarah that you were looking for? 
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20      A.   No, ma'am. 

21      Q.   How many Sarahs were identified to you in these 

22  interviews? 

23      A.   Five, but we determined that perhaps two or three of 

24  them could have been the same Sarah, but five different names 

25  of Sarah.
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1      Q.   While you were interviewing these girls, did you ask 

2  about other people who lived on the ranch? 

3      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

4      Q.   Were you able to get clarification about living 

5  arrangements? 

6      A.   Not so much clarification.  We were gathering 

7  information that several persons lived in homes.  We were 

8  gathering information that there were several adult females in 

9  the homes, some not adults, several children.  Generally, the 

10  household seemed to consist of one man who's called the father 

11  and he's the husband of several of the wives and the father of 

12  all the children. 

13      Q.   Were you obtaining information about underage children 

14  having children? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   What were you learning? 

17      A.   We learned that Sarah Elizabeth Johnson is sixteen 

18  years old and that she has a baby.  We learned that a few of 

19  the girls knew of the Sarah that we were looking for, her exact 

20  name.  And they had advised us that they had seen her within 

21  the past week at the ranch, and that she -- and that she did 

22  have a baby. 
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23      Q.   Did they tell you where she was now? 

24      A.   They -- they didn't know where she was now. 

25      Q.   And in part of the interview process, you want to make
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1  sure you know who you're interviewing, correct? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   What kind of identifying questions would you typically 

4  have your workers ask a child or an adult that you're 

5  interviewing? 

6      A.   Ask them their name, their date of birth, who their 

7  parents are, where they live. 

8      Q.   Did you get that information from the girls you were 

9  interviewing? 

10      A.   Some of them. 

11      Q.   What kind of answers did you get when you asked for 

12  identifying information? 

13      A.   Several of the girls reported they didn't know their 

14  birth date.  Several reported they just couldn't remember who 

15  all lived in their homes.  Then later on in interviews they 

16  would come back and be able to give their birth date or list 

17  multiple persons that they remembered lived in their homes. 

18      Q.   You interviewed some of these girls, yourself? 

19      A.   Two. 

20      Q.   Okay.  You were not relying just on your 

21  investigators? 

22      A.   That's correct.  It became -- I wasn't able to 

23  interview and supervise. 

24      Q.   Okay.  When you were interviewing, did you observe 

25  this also, not knowing their birth date or not knowing who
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1  lived in the house? 

2      A.   The youngest child I interviewed was very 

3  forthcoming.  The adolescent girl I interviewed said that there 

4  are fifteen mothers living in the home -- 

5                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor -- 

6                THE COURT:  Wait.  Just don't say hearsay.  Ask 

7  your question again and question/answer, not narrative. 

8                Yes, sir? 

9                MR. HARGROVE:  May I go further, Your Honor? 

10                THE COURT:  Oh, then come to the podium. 

11                MR. HARGROVE:  Judge, Tip Hargrove, representing 

12  a couple of the ladies.  All this line of questioning Ms. Voss 

13  is saying things that she learned.  Well, she can't learn the 

14  things she's talking about without ask -- without giving 

15  hearsay information.  She learned it because she was told it by 

16  someone else.  That's hearsay.  We object. 

17                THE COURT:  Response? 

18                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor.  There are -- in 

19  some ways, some of these statements are not hearsay.  These -- 

20  some of the children in this case are also mothers.  And so, 

21  therefore, statements they have made are statements of -- by 

22  party opponent in this case, because we are also seeking 

23  removal of their children. 

24                Additionally, the environment of this community, 

25  the environment of this household that Ms. Voss is testifying
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1  about, was such that any statements these girls made in these 

2  circumstances were clearly statements against their interest 

3  and would subject them to the shame and ridicule from this 

4  community and a belief that that would further develop through 

5  Ms. Voss's testimony that the statements made by these girls 

6  are either not hearsay, and that they're party opponents.  And 

7  those who were not party opponents, there are exceptions to the 

8  hearsay rule. 

9                THE COURT:  Yes, Ms. Sloan? 

10                MS. SLOAN:  I'm sorry, Your Honor. 

11                THE COURT:  Did you wish to be -- 

12                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor, I just wanted to -- to 

13  raise an objection on behalf of -- 

14                THE COURT:  Can we just stick with this area of 

15  objections? 

16                MS. SLOAN:  It is, actually -- 

17                THE COURT:  Okay. 

18                MS. SLOAN:  -- on point.  And it has to do with 

19  the capacity of the -- of the young women who are minors with 

20  children, and the -- the role in which they were being 

21  interviewed. 

22                And so I don't think that the State can use as a 

23  sword and a shield that, on the one hand, they're minors so 

24  they can interview them without counsel, but on the other hand 

25  they're parties that are having their rights terminated,
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1  and so they can have the statements that they made as 

2  statements against interest.  Because at that point they didn't 

3  know that those statements were against interest. 
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4                They didn't know they were about to be a party. 

5  And they had no idea for what purposes their statements were 

6  being offered.  Putting aside all the other objections, not 

7  having seen any of the reports yet. 

8                THE COURT:  Could you respond to that, please? 

9                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, first of all, the 

10  Department's not seeking termination of anyone's rights today. 

11  And at the time of this investigation, that was not the 

12  Department's intent. 

13                The Department was investigating.  In the 

14  investigation the Department frequently speaks to unrepresented 

15  parents and children.  We speak to collateral children in the 

16  home, not necessarily identified victims or perpetrators. 

17  We -- we speak, as Ms. Voss said, to everyone in the home. 

18                These -- these are indeed party opponents, these 

19  adult -- these women who are not adults, but have produced a 

20  child.  But the statement against interest exception applies to 

21  them, as well. 

22                The -- these children, even the ones who have 

23  children, were coached.  And I said the evidence will develop, 

24  but that they should not testify and it -- or should not talk 

25  to the government, and if they talked --
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1                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I'm going to 

2  object to counsel testifying about what these children were 

3  coached to doing.  There's no evidence of that in this court. 

4                THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Let's just -- 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  Let's keep focused -- on you offered 

Page 165



4-17-08 

7  these and said it was an exception to hearsay, because they 

8  were against their interests, so... 

9                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor, and the 

10  environment created, as Ms. Voss has described, of the numerous 

11  men surrounding the building where these interviews are taking 

12  place.  The men bringing the girls to the interviews, all 

13  created an environment where it would be against these girls' 

14  interest to testify about things that could be harmful to this 

15  family grouping. 

16                THE COURT:  So in the rule book, the objection or 

17  the exception to statements of against interest are commonly 

18  referred to as a statement which was at the time of its making 

19  so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or proprietary 

20  interests or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or 

21  criminal liability, or to render invalid the claim by the 

22  declarant against another or to make the declarant an object of 

23  hatred, ridicule or disgrace, that a reasonable person in the 

24  declarant's position would not have made the statements unless 

25  believing them to be true.
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1                So it's your position that these statements by 

2  these individuals would fall within this exception to hearsay? 

3                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Now, can we address the specific rule 

5  and why it's not within this exception to hearsay? 

6                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor, I think that for these 

7  particular statements to be within the exception there is an 

8  assumption that these young women who Ms. Voss testified were 

9  brought within ten minutes of a request and they were brought 

Page 166



4-17-08 

10  in and they were asked questions by people that they don't 

11  know, and unlike a normal situation when CPS comes in and 

12  parents understand the parties, they understand the relation -- 

13  they understand who CPS is, they understand why they're there 

14  and they understand that they will give information based on an 

15  understanding of why that information is being provided, these 

16  -- these young women would have no way of understanding that. 

17  And I also object that there was an opportunity at this point 

18  for them to have been coached.  They -- 

19                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  We're not going to the 

20  coaching part.  Okay? 

21                MS. SLOAN:  I apologize. 

22                THE COURT:  I didn't hear that.  Would you like 

23  to respond? 

24                MS. GRIFFITH:  Again, Your Honor, Ms. Voss has 

25  testified as to her own fear, her own sense of being
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1  surrounded.  I believe that's very -- 

2                THE COURT:  I don't think that that applies to 

3  how these children are making the state- -- but the argument 

4  that making these statements, this outcry would somehow put 

5  them in a position of hatred, ridicule or disgrace within their 

6  community.  And that's your position? 

7                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Can you address that anyone? 

9                Ms.  Sloan. 

10                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor, I might not be the best 

11  person to speak directly on how certain things are perceived 

12  within the community.  It is my understanding that these young 
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13  women -- 

14                THE COURT:  You don't have to -- you don't have 

15  to punt.  We'll take someone else.  There's lots of folks that 

16  want to make objections.  Ms. Hennington. 

17                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I don't know that I 

18  want -- Your Honor, I was going to respond to the Court's 

19  inquiry about the -- the ridicule.  Judge, I think that the -- 

20  what happened that night can be -- I -- I'm trying to think how 

21  to say this.  Judge -- 

22                THE COURT:  Okay.  We're not going into what 

23  happened that night.  The objection is with regards to whether 

24  or not statements these individuals made to the -- to the 

25  caseworkers might possibly fall within one of these exceptions
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1  to hearsay. 

2                MS. HENNINGTON:  Judge, I don't believe it would 

3  fall within an exception, based on the -- the interviews, the 

4  way they were conducted, were not an investigation about Sarah, 

5  they started coming up with the -- they, investigators, started 

6  asking questions that clearly have shown by the State's line of 

7  questioning here this morning that go outside the scope of 

8  their investigation. 

9                THE COURT:  That's not -- that's not the 

10  objection we're dealing with. 

11                MS. HENNINGTON:  That when you look at the 

12  exception to it, these young women, whatever age they may have 

13  been, that we're not clear on, would have been able to 

14  understand that line of questioning and would have known about 

15  what the State was getting out to -- getting at to.  There's 
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16  nothing that's been testified that says the interviewer 

17  explained, this is what I'm doing, this is what I'm looking 

18  for.  So how would they have known that they were falling 

19  within this exception when they got up and they were talking? 

20                THE COURT:  Thank you, Ms. Hennington.  Okay.  We 

21  hear from you often.  There's a lawyer -- 

22                MR. TABET:  I'm sorry, Judge. 

23                THE COURT:  -- behind you.  We're going to let 

24  her get in ahead of you. 

25                MS. NUGENT:  Your Honor, I'm Laura Nugent.  I'm
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1  representing case number 2902, Marilyn Keate, case number 2902, 

2  also, Rose Richter. 

3                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

4                MS. NUGENT:  Your Honor, my objection is that 

5  without identifying which children are making the statements, I 

6  don't see how they -- the -- the argument can be made that 

7  they're making a statement against their penal interest if 

8  those children were not pregnant, if they're saying that the 

9  mothers were making a statement against their interest by 

10  saying that they're pregnant. 

11                THE COURT:  All right.  Well, maybe the Court 

12  missed that penal interest part.  The part I'm focusing on is 

13  the part of the rule that says if you make a statement that 

14  would subject you to ridicule or disgrace or a position of 

15  hatred within your group -- I mean, it's -- we all remember 

16  back, we've read those cases, the line of cases that talk 

17  about, say, for instance, to admit that you had HIV at one 

18  time, might have put you in that position.  All right? 
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19                MS. NUGENT:  Yes. 

20                THE COURT:  Not any of those other deals.  It 

21  subjects you to possible treatment within your community. 

22                MS. NUGENT:  Yes, ma'am. 

23                THE COURT:  That's the focus the Court's on for 

24  the exception on this case.  I may be totally off base, but 

25  let's just work with that one.
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1                MS. NUGENT:  Okay.  I was simply responding to 

2  what she said about them being mothers. 

3                THE COURT:  I'm not -- just -- I keep telling you 

4  what I'm thinking or where I'm working.  It might be helpful if 

5  y'all just kind of focus at least to where I am.  I'm sure you 

6  will take me back to where you want me to go in a minute.  So 

7  right now let's just deal with this, because I think that's the 

8  exception they're making. 

9                MS. NUGENT:  Okay.  My response to that is the 

10  statements that I'm hearing that they're making are that 

11  children in the community are pregnant.  My understanding is 

12  that those are -- that it's common in that community.  I see 

13  nothing to indicate that they're subjecting themselves to 

14  ridicule within that particular community. 

15                THE COURT:  Tell you what, there's lots of folks 

16  queuing up, I see, from Sheri's over there.  We're going to try 

17  something a little bit different.  I'm going to let you-all 

18  huddle and see if you've got some communitive interest so 

19  you-all can make -- pick a spokesman.  If you can't, you can't. 

20  That's fine.  But I'm going to give you five minutes to see if 

21  you can kind of pick out a spokesman for your deal. 
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22                Don't stand up yet, I'm not done.  Five minutes 

23  and then I'm going to come back and take the bench and we'll 

24  see if you-all have been able to do something to kind of sort 

25  this out.  Now you're in recess.
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1                (Recess.) 

2                THE COURT:  Sheri, are you still on over there. 

3                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  All right. 

5                DISTRICT CLERK:  Can you hear me? 

6                THE COURT:  I can hear you.  It's working. 

7                Okay.  We're going to get back to y'all in just a 

8  second.  Let me just deal with some of these folks right here. 

9                Mr. Stout. 

10                MR. STOUT:  Please the Court, may I approach? 

11                THE COURT:  Yes, sir. 

12                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, my name is Randol Stout. 

13  I represent multiple -- 

14                THE COURT:  Yes, sir. 

15                MR. STOUT:  -- children in this case. 

16                I would object to her testimony, because I don't 

17  think she has -- has testified in a sufficient manner to meet 

18  the burden to show that there would be -- there would be 

19  maltreatment or abuse of -- of the person giving the statements 

20  or being held out to ridicule by the community.  There's no 

21  testimony to that, only the statements from the Department. 

22                THE COURT:  Would the Department like to respond? 

23                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor.  I do believe the 

24  testimony, as it's developed, and based on the statements by 
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25  the girls, will show the ridicule, fear and concern they will
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1  be subjecting themselves to. 

2                However, in addition, Your Honor, we are talking 

3  about statements regarding family members, household members 

4  and community members, and statements regarding paternity, 

5  marriage, et cetera.  There's a very clear exception under 

6  803.19 that would permit this testimony. 

7                Also, Your Honor, these children are testifying 

8  in regards to their state of mind, the circumstances 

9  surrounding them at the time, regarding whether or not there 

10  are pregnant teenagers in the community. 

11                THE COURT:  Do I have anybody that wants to 

12  address this later -- latest addition of information or reason 

13  for the Court to allow this -- this testimony to happen? 

14                MS. BALOVICH:  Your Honor, Julie Balovich.  One 

15  of our clients at legal aide is Ms. Zitting, who is one of the 

16  people.  With respect to Number 19, I don't think there's been 

17  any testimony regarding a person's birth, adoption, marriage, 

18  divorce... (inaudible)... relationship by blood, adoption. 

19                THE COURT:  You are, I'm sure, making a great 

20  point, but I got to hear it. 

21                MS. BALOVICH:  Okay.  I just -- 

22                THE COURT:  Shout at me. 

23                MS. BALOVICH:  She didn't say that whether or not 

24  there's pregnant women has anything to do with birth, adoption, 

25  marriage, divorce, death, legitimacy, relationship by blood,
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1  adoption or marriage.  That's the exception. 

2                THE COURT:  Well, sometimes maybe you have to 

3  kind of ask that first question to get to those next issues 

4  that you're talking about.  You know, pregnancy doesn't have 

5  anything to do with birth? 

6                MS. BALOVICH:  It's whether someone was born, 

7  that's what this is about.  It's about reputation in the 

8  community about whether someone was born.  It's not reputation 

9  in the community about whether someone was pregnant.  That 

10  would be entirely different. 

11                THE COURT:  And you don't see a connection? 

12                MS. BALOVICH:  It may be connected, but that's 

13  not what the rule permits. 

14                THE COURT:  I'm just asking.  The Court is going 

15  to allow you to begin some information, and some questioning 

16  with regards to this issue.  If you can't connect all the dots, 

17  I'll order it to be stricken.  And I will disregard anything 

18  I've heard that is not appropriately before the Court. 

19                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

20                THE COURT:  Move along. 

21                That would be admissions of 25 -- 5 through 8 and 

22  10 through 25. 

23                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

24      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ma'am, as the interviews continued, did 

25  a pattern develop in regards to information you were receiving
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1  about pregnancy in this community? 
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2      A.   Yes, I began to see a pattern. 

3      Q.   What was the pattern that you began to see? 

4      A.   I began to note that there were sixteen-year-old 

5  mothers who had given birth, that had small children with 

6  them.  These mothers also were married and were part of a 

7  household of other wives.  They call each other sister-wives. 

8      Q.   And we started out looking for one pregnant or teenage 

9  mother, correct? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   Is that what you found? 

12      A.   We found many. 

13      Q.   And what did you find in regards to statements about 

14  the acceptability of or legitimacy or marriage or the 

15  statements about what was going on in this community and these 

16  children's attitudes toward that? 

17      A.   At the ranch, and then also later in the 

18  investigation, the children would report that if the prophet 

19  heard from the Heavenly Father they -- they were to marry, at 

20  any age, then that is what they were to do. 

21                Many of them talked about if the prophet said 

22  that they were supposed to lie, then they would do that. 

23      Q.   When the investigations were going on and you were 

24  trying to establish identities, you were trying to establish 

25  who these children were and who they were connected to,
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1  correct? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   What sort of patterns developed in regards to that 

4  line of questioning? 
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5      A.   Well, I was finding that the girls would switch their 

6  names.  They would use a different last name than they had 

7  previously reported, wouldn't give a full name.  I noticed -- 

8  it appeared that all of the females had middle names.  The 

9  second group of girls that was brought to us for interviews 

10  reported they had no middle names and none of them knew their 

11  date of birth. 

12      Q.   The first group of girls was brought to you after you 

13  asked for all the girls under the age of seventeen, correct? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Okay.  How did you determine or decide that there 

16  might be other girls you had not yet seen? 

17      A.   In the classrooms we were in, we were noticing that -- 

18  or I saw address book or attendance logs.  It was on the 

19  teacher's desk.  Each classroom appeared to have one.  And the 

20  attendance log was a log of boys for that class.  I asked 

21  Brooks Long, the Ranger, if I could ask Merrill Jessop if we 

22  could find out where the girls attend class.  At that time we 

23  didn't know we were only in the boys classrooms.  Merrill 

24  showed us to the lower level of that -- 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Object as to hearsay.
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1                THE COURT:  Wait.  You may not have heard her, 

2  but she didn't say he said anything.  You still want to make 

3  your objection? 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Not unless... 

5  (inaudible.) 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Have a seat. 

7                THE WITNESS:  Merrill showed us down -- 
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8  downstairs to where he -- where the girls' classrooms were. 

9  And he opened several of the doors for us.  And I asked 

10  specifically the 10th grade girls' classroom, because several 

11  of the girls were identifying that there were Sarahs and their 

12  age would put them right at about sixteen, the 10th grade. 

13                And we were identifying that they did go to 

14  school with these Sarahs.  So in the 10th grade girls' 

15  classroom, we looked -- in fact, in all of the girls' 

16  classrooms we looked and there weren't any attendance logs 

17  anywhere. 

18                We were trying to identify who -- whose name 

19  really went with who.  It caused concern.  I also saw in a 

20  classroom of -- 

21                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I object to the 

22  narrative response of this questioning -- of this question. 

23                THE COURT:  Question/answer, please. 

24                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

25      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) So you went to the classrooms and there
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1  were no attendance logs.  Did you say anything about that? 

2      A.   I asked Merrill where were the attendance logs. 

3      Q.   Did he produce them? 

4      A.   No, ma'am. 

5      Q.   Did you see anything else unusual in the girls' 

6  classrooms? 

7      A.   In one of the rooms there was a large shredder, and 

8  the red light was still on.  And there were paper pieces 

9  dangling from and it was full.  And I saw two large bags of 

10  shredded paper, like, leaf bags, trash bags.  Also in the 
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11  girls' classrooms, in the desks, we found their journals. 

12      Q.   And you said "their journals."  How do you identify 

13  whose journals these are? 

14      A.   The writing on the front had -- was the name of the 

15  girl whose desk that was and labeling of her journal. 

16      Q.   Did you review these journals? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am, some of them. 

18      Q.   I want to go back to the interviews, before you went 

19  down to the girls' classroom.  Were those interviews completed 

20  before you went to the girls' classroom? 

21      A.   No, ma'am.  I was finding we were getting somewhat of 

22  a -- a brick wall in that we were getting as much information 

23  as maybe we could have.  But it felt as if the information 

24  wasn't being provided to us. 

25                Some of the girls were saying they were just
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1  going to plead the Fifth and not answer questions.  Some were 

2  saying they couldn't talk about that. 

3      Q.   They said they couldn't talk about that? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5      Q.   Okay.  And they plead the Fifth? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

7      Q.   Is that how they phrased it? 

8      A.   Yes, she did. 

9      Q.   Who was it that said that? 

10      A.   That was Olive. 

11      Q.   Okay.  Were there other statements that caused you 

12  concern about whether or not the girls were afraid to answer? 

13      A.   It was more their demeanor.  The demeanor that I 

Page 177



4-17-08 
14  observed from the girls, very closed off, quiet, would just say 

15  they just didn't want to answer that question. 

16      Q.   Did any of the girls tell you who their fathers were? 

17      A.   Some would say who the father in the house was.  And 

18  then we would -- I would try to ask the question about, is that 

19  your biological father, and they don't really speak in those 

20  terms.  So it was real difficult to establish exactly who the 

21  girls' parents were, often, and who was the father in the home. 

22      Q.   Okay.  Well, I want to clarify it.  Are these girls 

23  not bright enough to answer these questions?  Are they slow or 

24  disabled? 

25      A.   No.
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1                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm going to object  to 

2  speculation. 

3                MS. GRIFFITH:  I'll rephrase the question. 

4                THE COURT:  Rephrase the question. 

5      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) You have -- you have interviewed a 

6  number of teenage girls in your experience, correct? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

8      Q.   And -- and in your -- in your experience, were these 

9  girls able to understand the questions they were being asked 

10  about their family members? 

11      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

12      Q.   And were they able to give you clear and coherent 

13  answers about other matters? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Okay.  When you said you reached a brick wall, on what 

16  issues did you reach a brick wall? 
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17      A.   The girls would talk very freely about their 

18  activities at the ranch, the chores that they do.  They would 

19  talk about how -- how they prayed, what they believed regarding 

20  their prophet and Uncle Merrill and their fathers. 

21                But identifying the persons in the home, we had a 

22  real hard time.  They didn't give sometimes a lot of very 

23  specific information or just refused to answer. 

24      Q.   Did you have any sense, whatsoever, of separate 

25  families or were you getting a sense of family arrangements?
 

198 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1      A.   There was definitely a sense of family arrangements 

2  in that the girls were showing that there's a father with lots 

3  of wives who they call their mothers.  All of them are their 

4  mothers.  All of the children in the home are their brothers 

5  and sisters.  And it's not just in that home, it's as a whole. 

6                As -- for instance, even if somebody didn't live 

7  in the girls' particular home, she would see another girl as 

8  her sister or another boy as her brother. 

9      Q.   So in the sense of sister, brother, wife, mother, they 

10  were not differentiating by where their bed was located? 

11      A.   Right.  It got very confusing, yes. 

12      Q.   During this first round of interviews, you came up 

13  with an idea there might be more girls? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Okay.  What made you think that, other than the 

16  attendance logs or the lack of attendance logs? 

17      A.   The girls would talk about other -- other girls that 

18  we hadn't yet met that lived in other homes. 

19      Q.   And is that a normal part of your investigation is to 
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20  ask:  Who else lives in your home? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   Okay.  These girls identified other girls that lived 

23  in their home? 

24      A.   They would sometimes. 

25      Q.   With that information, what did you do?
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1      A.   I asked Ranger Brooks Long -- I -- actually I made a 

2  list, I believe, of fourteen other girls that we'd identified 

3  through the interviewing and the reading of the journals of 

4  girls that we felt like would have been sexually abused or had 

5  some key information about where Sarah might be.  So I asked 

6  for those fourteen girls. 

7      Q.   And who did you ask? 

8      A.   I asked Brooks to ask Merrill. 

9      Q.   And Brooks is whom? 

10      A.   The Texas Ranger. 

11      Q.   Okay.  Was Merrill present when you made this request? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   Okay.  And did they bring those girls to you? 

14      A.   No, ma'am. 

15      Q.   What happened? 

16      A.   Brooks told me that we would -- 

17                MR. HARALSON:  Objection, Your Honor, hearsay. 

18                THE COURT:  Please rephrase your question. 

19      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Can you tell me, you asked for these 

20  girls, and then what's the next thing that happened? 

21      A.   The next thing that happened was that -- 

22                MR. HARALSON:  Your Honor, I'm still going to 
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23  object.  She's stated by the predicate of her previous answer 

24  that she didn't have any personal knowledge.  I believe she's 

25  still testifying as to what she learned from someone else.
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1                THE COURT:  Actually, in the previous question, 

2  you struck it for hearsay.  And I think she can answer this 

3  question.  Have a seat.  Thank you.  Overruled. 

4      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) What -- what was the next thing that 

5  happened after you asked for these girls to be brought? 

6      A.   Merrill advised he would bring four of the girls, and 

7  only four. 

8      Q.   Merrill told you that? 

9      A.   Yes. 

10      Q.   And how was he picking or how were you picking those 

11  four? 

12      A.   I have no idea. 

13      Q.   Okay.  Were those four girls brought? 

14      A.   No, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Were any other children brought for you to interview? 

16      A.   Yes. 

17      Q.   How many, approximately? 

18      A.   About fifteen. 

19      Q.   And of those fifteen, were any of them on your 

20  original list that you asked for? 

21      A.   Actually, one of them was. 

22      Q.   Were you given any explanation as to why the girls 

23  that you requested were not brought? 

24      A.   No, ma'am.  And we didn't -- I didn't realize that 

25  until the interviews were underway, and we were learning of
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1  their identities and realizing they weren't the girls that we 

2  had asked for. 

3      Q.   Did you go through the ordinary interview process with 

4  this next group of girls? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   And as part of that, did you try to get them to 

7  identify their parents, their siblings, their household 

8  members? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   And what was -- did a pattern develop? 

11      A.   A pattern continued, basically.  The girls were 

12  reporting that there's no age too young to be spiritually 

13  united. 

14                A girl was presented to us, actually, who is very 

15  pregnant, appears to be very pregnant and admitted that she is 

16  pregnant.  And at this time she's seventeen-years-old.  We 

17  continued to get a lot of very sketchy information, but 

18  primarily supporting there was Sarahs on the ranch.  We knew 

19  Sarah Barlow did exist, according to some of the girls that she 

20  was last seen on Sunday in the garden; that there were underage 

21  girls that these were identifying as peers, friends who they 

22  believed were maybe sixteen, having babies.  So, yes, the 

23  pattern just continued. 

24      Q.   Was anyone ever able to point out the Sarah that you 

25  were looking for to you?
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1      A.   No, ma'am. 

2      Q.   Approximately how long were these interviews taking? 

3      A.   Quite awhile. 

4      Q.   Okay. 

5      A.   An hour to an hour and a half, maybe two. 

6      Q.   And this was all in the schoolhouse? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

8      Q.   Okay.  Were there any concerns expressed about the 

9  girls being able to get something to eat or get some sleep? 

10      A.   Yes, I did ask for them to have pillows and blankets. 

11  When -- when we were finished with their interviews, get them 

12  into a room together, and have them in there where they could 

13  be together and have a place to sleep if they were sleepy. 

14      Q.   At some point a decision was made to remove at least 

15  some of these children from the property, correct? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

17      Q.   Okay.  What was your basis -- 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

20                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, we have an 

21  objection over here, please. 

22                THE COURT:  Okay. 

23                MS. GOODMAN:  Judge, Stephanie Goodman. 

24  Objection to the answer.  It's non-responsive to the question. 

25  The question was:  Were you concerned about the girls getting
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1  something to eat?  The answer was:  Yes, we made sure they had 

2  pillows and blankets. 

3                THE COURT:  Okay.  And would you like for me to 
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4  have her answer that question again, please; is that what you 

5  want? 

6                MS. GOODMAN:  Yes, Your Honor.  I would like her 

7  to answer the question whether she was concerned about the 

8  girls having something to eat and something to drink. 

9                THE COURT:  Okay.  Can you do that? 

10                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.  Yes, I was.  Pillows 

11  and blankets were asked for and provided.  Also Merrill and 

12  some of the other men brought -- brought what they wanted them 

13  to eat, which was apples. 

14                THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  All right. 

15      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) At some point a decision was made to 

16  remove some of the children from the property, correct? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   What was the basis in your mind for that decision? 

19      A.   At the time the investigation -- we had reached a 

20  conclusion that the girls, having spoken with us, could be in 

21  harm's way because they talked about being persecuted by 

22  outsiders, that outsiders just don't understand.  They had 

23  talked about -- 

24                MS. GOODMAN:  Object again.  Objection, Your 

25  Honor.
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1                THE COURT:  All right.  What grounds? 

2                MS. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, it's hearsay, and also 

3  she's not identifying which girls.  She's just saying "the 

4  girls." 

5                THE COURT:  Let me ask the attorney to rephrase 

6  her question, please. 
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7      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) When the -- when you made the decision 

8  to remove -- or when the decision was made to remove some of 

9  the girls, were your concerns based on one particular thing 

10  that someone had done or said or was it a pattern? 

11      A.   My concerns for these children was a global pattern of 

12  what appeared to be the pervasive belief that underage marriage 

13  and children having children is what they were supposed to do. 

14      Q.   Not every child that you interviewed said the same 

15  thing? 

16      A.   That's correct. 

17      Q.   Okay.  And not every child you interviewed said they 

18  were pregnant? 

19      A.   That's right. 

20      Q.   Okay.  And not every child you interviewed said they 

21  were afraid? 

22      A.   That's correct. 

23      Q.   Okay.  You were using your judgment? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Okay.  You said a pervasive belief that this was going
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1  on? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   And that's a belief of yours or a belief of the 

4  children? 

5      A.   That is what I observed all of the children appear to 

6  have in common, a pervasive belief that when -- when the 

7  prophet decided for them to be married, which could be any -- 

8  at any age, no age too young, they would be married and they 

9  wanted to have as many babies as they could. 
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10      Q.   You said there was one girl, specifically, that was 

11  visibly pregnant -- 

12      A.   Yes. 

13      Q.   -- or appeared to be? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   How far along did you -- did she appear to you to be? 

16      A.   Eight months. 

17      Q.   And what -- she identified herself as being seventeen? 

18      A.   We believe she gave us her birth date. 

19      Q.   Which girl was that? 

20      A.   Suzanne Johnson. 

21      Q.   And what birth date did she give? 

22      A.   She gave us November 13th, 1990. 

23      Q.   Did you see any other girls that were visibly pregnant 

24  or that appeared pregnant to you? 

25      A.   Not at that time.
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1      Q.   Did any of these girls tell you they were pregnant? 

2      A.   No. 

3      Q.   Did any of these girls bring babies to you and say, 

4  "This is my baby"? 

5      A.   No. 

6      Q.   Okay.  At that point had you been able to ascertain 

7  correct names of -- for any of these girls? 

8      A.   We hoped that we had. 

9      Q.   And had you been able to ascertain correct names of 

10  any of the girls that were reported to have had children or 

11  reported to be pregnant? 

12      A.   Again, we hoped that we had. 
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13      Q.   Okay.  Were those children brought to you? 

14      A.   I'm sorry, which children? 

15      Q.   At this point in time, when you're doing these 

16  interviews, how many girls had you identified as either having 

17  conceived a child as a minor or having had a baby, if you know? 

18      A.   And this is right at the time that the decision was 

19  made for some of the girls for the removal -- 

20      Q.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      A.   -- initial time?  Three or four. 

22      Q.   And you'd interviewed, approximately, how many girls 

23  at that point? 

24      A.   Twenty-five. 

25      Q.   Did anyone identify any man as the father of any of
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1  these -- either the father of the expected baby or of babies 

2  that had been born? 

3      A.   I don't believe initially that Suzanne told us 

4  anything of who her husband is.  What we gathered regarding the 

5  husbands was from the other girls reporting who the husbands 

6  were. 

7      Q.   And were they reporting that other teenage boys were 

8  the husbands or fathers? 

9      A.   No. 

10      Q.   What were they reporting? 

11      A.   They would just say that they're older. 

12      Q.   They give you names? 

13      A.   They did. 

14                MS. GOODMAN:  Your Honor, I'm going to object 

15  again.  They are back into the line of questioning where 
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16  they're just saying "the girls" and they're not identifying 

17  anyone who is saying these things. 

18                THE COURT:  And what's your objection exactly? 

19                MS. GOODMAN:  My objection, Your Honor, is 

20  hearsay.  And secondly, if the Court overrules the hearsay 

21  objection, the second objection would be that there is no 

22  identification of who is making the statements or where this 

23  information was learned.  They continue to say "the girls." 

24                THE COURT:  All right.  Please rephrase your 

25  question.  Let's start with that.
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1      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Did you get specific statements during 

2  these interviews that caused you concerns about the safety of 

3  these -- these girls or any children? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5      Q.   Can you give me some of those statements? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am.  But I am concerned about the girls.  I'm 

7  very concerned about saying their names and who said what. 

8                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I -- I'd object.  I 

9  think non-responsive, because the names the State -- 

10                THE COURT:  Now, come have -- come have a place 

11  at the podium. 

12                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, Amy Hennington.  I 

13  would object to the question as being non-responsive.  The 

14  Department has already provided that to law enforcement.  It's 

15  been released in the media.  So I don't know why today she 

16  can't say the names of the particular people that they've 

17  already provided to law enforcement that has already been 

18  released. 
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19                THE COURT:  Well, I don't know, but not knowing 

20  what the witness is going to say, I mean, you might assume that 

21  that may be what she's going to say.  But I don't know that. 

22  Do you know that's what she's going to say? 

23                MS. HENNINGTON:  Well, she said -- she was asked 

24  who they are and she said she didn't state, she was afraid to 

25  name their names.  But the Department has already done that.
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1                THE COURT:  All right.  Would you like for me to 

2  order her to answer the question? 

3                MS. HENNINGTON:  I think that -- I think the 

4  attorney ad litems who are representing these -- these girls, I 

5  think the parents need to know what -- I think the people need 

6  to know who they're representing that they're saying this stuff 

7  about. 

8                THE COURT:  Ma'am, would you like for me to order 

9  her to answer the question? 

10                MS. HENNINGTON:  I think at this time, yes, 

11  Judge. 

12                THE COURT:  Have a seat, please.  I see there's 

13  an attorney at the city auditorium.  Yes, ma'am. 

14                MS. ALVAREZ:  Yes, Your Honor, I would also like 

15  the record to be struck -- excuse me, my name is Mary Lou 

16  Alvarez.  I represent some of the respondent-mothers in this 

17  case.  I'd like the witness's statement that she's in fear of 

18  the girl of saying -- identifying who the girls are to be 

19  stricken from the record.  There's no evidence to support that 

20  prejudice and that bias. 

21                THE COURT:  You're telling me the witness can't 
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22  testify what her fears are? 

23                MS. ALVAREZ:  Your Honor, to -- to the extent 

24  that she is now saying that she's in fear because of what would 

25  happen to those girls that she's about to identify.  But I
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1  don't think that's what her fears are, based on the evidence 

2  that's been put forth by the State.  And if those are her 

3  fears, based on her own personal prejudice and biases, that's 

4  fine, but the evidence doesn't support that. 

5                THE COURT:  Would you like to address that? 

6                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, Ms. Voss is testifying 

7  about what she experienced, what she saw, what conclusions she 

8  draw -- drew and how she acted.  And certainly how she feels 

9  towards the safety of these girls is completely within her 

10  knowledge and is certainly relevant to this case.  I'm not sure 

11  I understand the objection. 

12                THE COURT:  So with regards to the request to 

13  strike the witness's comments about what she believed with 

14  regards to fear or her fear of revealing the names, the Court 

15  will overrule that.  However, I don't think that she can 

16  withhold these names. 

17                Now, do I have someone that wants to address 

18  that? 

19                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor, without making a comment 

20  one way or another about whether or not it would be safe to 

21  disclose information that was given, would it be appropriate to 

22  receive this testimony in the form of child one, child two 

23  said, since the children are not here in court to be examined? 

24  Perhaps we could get the specific testimony without -- and, 

Page 190



4-17-08 

25  again, because we have press here and we're dealing with
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1  minors, to protect the anonymity, but still have candor with 

2  the Court. 

3                THE COURT:  That's a very good solution.  At this 

4  time the Court will -- we will proceed in that format. 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

6                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Ms. Goodman, I see you. 

7                MS. GOODMAN:  Your Honor.  Yes, Your Honor, could 

8  we at add to that suggestion, if we say child one, the child's 

9  age? 

10                THE COURT:  Would that be -- 

11                MS. GOODMAN:  Child one and their age, or child 

12  two and their age. 

13                THE COURT:  I'm looking at the ad litems.  Would 

14  that -- 

15                MS. SLOAN:  May I respond, Your Honor? 

16                THE COURT:  Yes, please. 

17                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor, because the children will 

18  not be being cross examined at this hearing, I would just 

19  request that the State keep track of the number that 

20  corresponds with the child and then, as we all go forward in 

21  discovery as the case moves forward, then, of course, each of 

22  the parties would be able, you know, to have their attorneys 

23  exercise whatever rights they have to that information. 

24                I'm just not sure that it advances the ball as 

25  long as the State has a list that corresponds to the testimony
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1  that they were given. 

2                THE COURT:  All right.  No, we will not identify 

3  the children with birth dates.  That would be tantamount to 

4  giving their names out, perhaps.  So the State would keep a log 

5  and at a later time we'll deal with that. 

6                You may proceed.  Please refer to the individuals 

7  as -- by numbers.  All right?  Thank you. 

8      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Could you give me -- please tell me 

9  what was said by these girls that led you to believe that they 

10  needed to be removed from the property. 

11      A.   Girl number one said that the Sarah in question does 

12  exist and does have a baby.  Girl number two advised the same 

13  thing and that she had last seen the Sarah in question at the 

14  ranch working in the garden on Sunday. 

15                Girl number three said she knows a 

16  sixteen-year-old, the identified Suzanne Johnson, who is united 

17  and is currently pregnant and has a one-year-old child, as 

18  well.  That same girl, number three, said that she knows a 

19  sixteen or seventeen year old girl named Sarah Elizabeth 

20  Johnson who is united with Dan B., who she believed to be 

21  twenty-three years old, and that Sarah Elizabeth Johnson has a 

22  five-month-old baby. 

23                Girl number three also wrote in her journal that 

24  I read an entry on 10/31/07, "Mother Madeline, Leah, Mindy and 

25  Louisa, Dan B.'s baby."  And she wrote on November 8th, 2007,
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1  that "Sarah Liz's, Dan B.'s wife, came home.  She sure has a 
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2  cute baby." 

3                Girl number four, I read a journal entry from 

4  10/3/07.  This journal entry was in regards to law enforcement 

5  looking for the husband, but also for the wives.  And it was 

6  quoted, "Mother Milly and Mother Lori, because they were 

7  underage when they got married." 

8                Girl number six, also advised that she knows the 

9  Sarah that we are looking for.  Again, that she worked in the 

10  garden with her.  Girl number six also said that there's no age 

11  limit for girls to get married and have children. 

12                Girl number seven, in her journal, I read from 

13  the entry on 10/30/07, "Sarah Liz had a little girl."  On 

14  10/31/07 she wrote, "me, Mother Leah and Louisa went up and saw 

15  Sarah Liz's baby." 

16                Girl number eight advised that there's a girl 

17  named Mother Beth, that she's a teenager.  Girl number nine 

18  said that if the prophet told her to lie to the authorities she 

19  would, because the prophet receives all his messages from the 

20  Heavenly Father. 

21                Girl number five also indicated at first that she 

22  and her mother and just her brothers lived in the home, and 

23  then later admitted that her father lives there.  And there's 

24  several sister-wives, and many other brothers and sisters 

25  living in the home.
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1                Girl number nine purported that she hadn't seen 

2  her mother in two years.  And Merrill told her it's none of her 

3  business where her mom is.  Girl number nine also said that 

4  Uncle Merrill decides who she will marry and when she will 
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5  marry, and at the age of when marriages occur depends on what 

6  Heavenly Father decides. 

7      Q.   In addition to those statements, did you have -- did 

8  you ever find Sarah? 

9      A.   No, ma'am. 

10      Q.   Did any of the adults explain to you where Sarah was? 

11      A.   They -- my recollection, they just said she was not 

12  there. 

13      Q.   At this -- when you came to the gate, they told you 

14  there were no Sarahs? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   Had you met any Sarahs at this point? 

17      A.   We had met one Sarah. 

18      Q.   And you'd heard about other Sarahs? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   Okay.  Had you -- you were keeping track of everything 

21  that was going on, correct? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Or attempting to? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Had you at some point during the process of all of
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1  these interviews determined that there were indeed underaged 

2  mothers on the property? 

3                MR. STEWART:  Your Honor, I'll object. 

4                THE COURT:  I'm sorry? 

5                MR. STEWART:  I'll object to the form of the 

6  question.  I don't know what "underaged" means. 

7                MS. GRIFFITH:  I'll rephrase the question. 
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8                THE COURT:  All right.  Rephrase your question. 

9      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Did you, as part of this investigation, 

10  did you pull together information and from what you had heard 

11  determined that it appear that there were children under the 

12  age of seventeen who had either conceived a child or given 

13  birth to a child? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   And did you attempt at that point to list them? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

17      Q.   Can you tell us what you -- information you had at 

18  this point in your investigation? 

19      A.   By this point we had met Suzanne Johnson.  She turns 

20  seventeen on November the 11th -- November the 13th, 1990, 

21  according to her report.  She has a one-year-old son named 

22  Seth. 

23                I believe at this point the girls had identified 

24  that there were two other Sarahs, Sarah Johnson, Sarah 

25  Elizabeth Johnson.
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1                MS. GOODMAN:  Judge, objection -- 

2                THE COURT:  Okay.  Your grounds? 

3                MS. GOODMAN:  Could -- the form of the question 

4  of "at the point" -- "at this point in the investigation." 

5  could we get a date and time on the, "at this point"? 

6                THE COURT:  Can you put some kind of time frame 

7  on your question, please? 

8                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes. 

9      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) You were making decisions -- or you 

10  were having -- you were communicating with other people, 
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11  correct? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   With CPS? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Okay.  The decision was made at some point to remove 

16  children from the property? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   Okay.  At that point in time, where were we day, hour? 

19      A.   I believe it was around 3:00 in the morning on Friday 

20  morning. 

21      Q.   And how long had you been at the ranch? 

22      A.   About six hours. 

23      Q.   And at that point had you established or started a 

24  list of girls that you believed had either conceived a child or 

25  had a child under the age of seventeen?
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1      A.   Yes, I did. 

2      Q.   Okay.  And you said Suzanne Johnson was one of those? 

3      A.   Yes. 

4      Q.   And Sarah Elizabeth Johnson, I believe, you said? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   Was she -- was she a mother at that point? 

7      A.   It was reported to us- I forgot which girl number- 

8  that Sarah Elizabeth Johnson's sixteen years old and she has a 

9  baby. 

10      Q.   Okay.  Were there others? 

11      A.   At that early point, I don't believe so, no. 

12      Q.   Was there a point in time when additional 

13  investigators were allowed to come onto the property? 
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14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   When was that? 

16      A.   It was about midnight, Friday. 

17      Q.   Okay.  And was there a point in time where you 

18  realized that there were more children than you had originally 

19  anticipated on the property? 

20      A.   Yes. 

21      Q.   When was that? 

22      A.   By 8:00 Friday morning. 

23      Q.   And what made you think there were more children than 

24  had been identified or brought to you? 

25      A.   Because of the information we were gathering from the
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1  girls reporting that there's several wives with several 

2  children and creating a list of fourteen, only three of which 

3  were brought to us that hadn't been on the original list.  We 

4  knew there were lots of girls that we hadn't yet seen or talked 

5  to. 

6      Q.   At what point in time, if you know, was a decision 

7  made to start transporting additional children off the 

8  property? 

9      A.   By about 10:00 Friday morning. 

10      Q.   And what was the purpose of transporting those 

11  children off the property? 

12      A.   I saw and heard a tank come on to the property.  Law 

13  enforcement appeared to be preparing for what their business 

14  was there at the ranch. 

15                Things were getting more scary to me. 

16      Q.   How so? 
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17      A.   Well, having received the information that we did 

18  already, and then realizing that it appeared to be a situation 

19  of a very huge magnitude, lots of children that we needed to -- 

20  to look into their safety and care; the fact that there were so 

21  many law enforcement officers around; the fact that the girls 

22  were not -- some were forthcoming with information, some 

23  weren't.  It appeared they were fearful.  It was just a very 

24  difficult situation. 

25      Q.   When children started being taken from the ranch,
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1  where were they taken? 

2      A.   Initially they went to the civic center in Eldorado. 

3      Q.   And do you know why that was chosen? 

4      A.   Initially, the children were moved off of the ranch 

5  for more interviews, to be able to interview them in an 

6  environment that didn't feel so scary or dangerous. 

7      Q.   Were the children cooperative with trans... 

8  (inaudible.) 

9      A.   Initially, when I spoke to a crowd of mothers by this 

10  point, that were there standing with some of the children, they 

11  were uncooperative, very upset, saying they were not going to 

12  allow our children to go. 

13                I saw Sheriff Doran dial a phone number and put 

14  it on speaker phone and he held it up for the crowd to hear. 

15  It was Merrill Jessop.  He told the ladies that they just 

16  needed to cooperate and they just stopped and were cooperative. 

17      Q.   They were resisting until he made that statement? 

18      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

19      Q.   You had said he was there with you earlier, Merrill 
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20  Jessop? 

21      A.   He was.  I got the feeling he moved around.  I -- but 

22  he was on speaker or cell phone by that point. 

23      Q.   And when he said to -- to move, then they all 

24  cooperated? 

25      A.   The ladies did.  They -- they started explaining to
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1  the children that they were going to go.  And they helped walk 

2  them outside the schoolhouse into the bus. 

3      Q.   How many ladies and children are we talking about that 

4  changed from resistance to cooperation? 

5      A.   Thirty or so. 

6      Q.   Did it seem -- did it seem unusual to you? 

7                MR. TABET:  Objection, leading. 

8                THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

9                THE COURT:  Okay.  The objection is leading. 

10  Could you rephrase your question. 

11      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Were -- were -- what was your state of 

12  mind during these circumstances when that was going on about 

13  the transporting? 

14      A.   In any case, when we've determined that children are 

15  not safe, it's very difficult to physically remove the children 

16  from their parents sometimes.  And these -- these parents, 

17  these mothers were expressing that they were not going to let 

18  their children go.  And I was really surprised and interested 

19  in how they reacted when Merrill told them they just needed to 

20  cooperate. 

21      Q.   How many times did he have to say that? 

22      A.   He said that one time. 
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23      Q.   There was no more resistance? 

24      A.   They continued to appear upset.  Some continued to 

25  cry, but they -- they helped walk their children out of the
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1  schoolhouse and they were very cooperative. 

2      Q.   The children were transported to the civic center in 

3  Eldorado? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5      Q.   Okay.  What was -- what was going on there? 

6      A.   My counterpart, Lynn McFadden, and other CPS staff 

7  were there preparing to interview. 

8      Q.   So the investigation was continuing? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   The interviews were continuing? 

11      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

12      Q.   Were you still interviewing on the ranch? 

13      A.   The interviews by that time then were done more in the 

14  setting of -- as the investigators and I would go to the 

15  individual homes to locate children.  The interviews were more 

16  like a gathering of information. 

17      Q.   Okay.  So you were still trying to find more children? 

18      A.   Yes, we were. 

19      Q.   And your intent was to do what, when you found more 

20  children? 

21      A.   To assess if they were a child or an adult.  Many 

22  girls that appeared to be very young were reporting an adult 

23  age.  Assessing -- if they were a child, they would come with 

24  us off the ranch for continued interview. 

25      Q.   How long was the process of removing children to the
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1  civic center? 

2      A.   On Friday we went house to house until nightfall. 

3      Q.   Okay.  Were all of the children gone by nightfall? 

4      A.   No, ma'am. 

5      Q.   Why did you stop? 

6      A.   It was decided that it was not safe any longer to -- 

7  to go house to house in the dark. 

8      Q.   What was your understanding of the reason it was not 

9  safe? 

10      A.   My understanding is that there were men in trees with 

11  night vision and on the roofs with night vision. 

12      Q.   But all the men that you have run into have been 

13  polite and pleasant to you, correct? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   But you have said before, you were afraid? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

17      Q.   Can you explain that? 

18      A.   There were -- there were some men who were video 

19  cameraing -- videotaping me and the children.  Men were, as I 

20  said earlier, appeared to be posted at every entrance and 

21  around the buildings.  I don't -- it's hard to describe.  It's 

22  just a feeling of being very unsafe. 

23                I think what also added to my concern was that 

24  law enforcement had begun mobilizing a swat team, a tank, so 

25  you know, here I am trying to help children be safe in what
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1  felt like a very unsafe environment. 

2      Q.   And what was your understanding of the purpose of law 

3  enforcement? 

4      A.   That they were there to serve search warrants. 

5      Q.   Were they assisting you? 

6      A.   Yes, they were also assisting us.  I heard many times 

7  from Brooks directly to me, "We're here to keep you safe.  And 

8  we can't do that when it's dark." 

9      Q.   So when it shut down, it was dark, where did you go? 

10      A.   I went to the civic center. 

11      Q.   Okay.  That was Friday night, right? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   Okay.  And at the civic center were the interviews 

14  continuing? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   Okay.  You described the pattern of the information 

17  you were getting before.  Were you getting the same information 

18  or different information from the civic center? 

19      A.   No, the interviews from the civic center did not 

20  consist of information like we had gotten initially. 

21      Q.   When you initially were interviewing, you were 

22  interviewing at the schoolhouse one-on-one, correct? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24      Q.   And in -- the investigator was interviewing one child? 

25      A.   Yes.
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1      Q.   What were the circumstances at the civic center? 

2      A.   What I observed is that all the children were together 

3  in a room.  And in -- in a room across from that were 
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4  individual areas where interviewers were set up trying to 

5  individually interview children, but in a very large open room. 

6      Q.   Could you be overheard? 

7      A.   I think that they tried to be very quiet, so it would 

8  seem more one on one, more private. 

9      Q.   If someone was wandering around, would they have been 

10  able to overhear some of these interviews? 

11      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

12      Q.   And it wasn't just children at the civic center, was 

13  it? 

14      A.   No, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Who else was there? 

16      A.   Throughout the course of the day, several of the 

17  mothers requested that they be able to go with their children. 

18  And the decision was made that if they were asked, and they 

19  truly wanted to leave the ranch, then they would be allowed to 

20  come. 

21      Q.   And they were transported to the civic center? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Approximately how many women, if you know, accepted 

24  that offer? 

25      A.   On Friday, I can't be sure, thirty or more maybe.
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1      Q.   Did you relay to the adults on the ranch that it was 

2  your plan to remove all of the children from that property? 

3      A.   Yes, but that was Saturday. 

4      Q.   Okay.  So after you went to the civic center on 

5  Friday, you went back to the ranch on Saturday? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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7      Q.   And you relayed that to whom, if you know? 

8      A.   Merrill. 

9      Q.   And was he cooperative with that? 

10      A.   At first he wasn't.  He spoke to me for quite awhile. 

11  And when -- I advised him I was acting under a decision that 

12  had been made, that I can't reverse at this point, we've 

13  gathered information regarding all the children's safety here 

14  at the ranch, and that I was acting under an order to do that. 

15      Q.   Did he ever say to you he wasn't going to allow this? 

16      A.   No, ma'am. 

17      Q.   Did he assist in gathering children? 

18      A.   He advised some of the men that were standing there to 

19  be cooperative. 

20      Q.   And did they produce all of the children so they could 

21  be transported? 

22      A.   They -- they weren't brought out to us.  On Saturday 

23  we continued house to house. 

24      Q.   When you say "house to house," what do you mean? 

25      A.   Well, the houses there at the ranch, many of them are
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1  three story structures, lots and lots of rooms, bedrooms and it 

2  would take a while to go to one house with law enforcement 

3  looking for children.  And we didn't get to, I don't believe, 

4  all the houses on Saturday. 

5      Q.   Well, why did you have to look for the children if 

6  Merrill had instructed them to be cooperative?  What was going 

7  on? 

8      A.   Well, they -- they were fairly cooperative when we got 

9  inside the home, but they didn't present themselves. 
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10      Q.   Approximately how many homes did you go to? 

11      A.   Myself, personally? 

12      Q.   Yes. 

13      A.   Six or seven. 

14      Q.   Okay.  Those are large pieces, large buildings? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   Okay.  And they're -- is it separated into different 

17  family groups? 

18      A.   No, ma'am, I don't believe so. 

19      Q.   Can you explain what the setup is in one of these 

20  homes? 

21      A.   One -- what I can explain is what one girl reported. 

22  And she listed by the story of the house, who lives in her 

23  house.  And it's a very long list.  Would you like me to read 

24  it? 

25      Q.   Please.
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1                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I'm going to object 

2  to hearsay as to what this other person said. 

3                THE COURT:  Objection is hearsay. 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, again this goes to the 

5  statement of the family, the sibling relationships, the 

6  parentage of the children, and the statement of this girl in 

7  regards to her house. 

8                THE COURT:  It's offered not for the truth, but 

9  for the state of mind of the investigator when she's looking 

10  from the house to house inspection, is that it? 

11                MS. GRIFFITH:  That's it. 

12                THE COURT:  You may continue. 
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13                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

14                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, does that mean my 

15  objection's overruled? 

16                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

17                MS. HENNINGTON:  Thank you. 

18      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Can you tell us about this house? 

19      A.   What I can tell you and what I also observed is that 

20  one girl did give us the names of the persons she recalled 

21  living in her house.  And there were twenty-four children there 

22  in her house. 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection, 

24  non-responsive.  She asked about the house, not about the 

25  families.
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1                THE COURT:  Rephrase your question.  The 

2  objection was non-responsive. 

3      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Can you tell us about the house and 

4  the living arrangements that were described to you about the 

5  house? 

6      A.   The house, many of them are three story structures. 

7  They look like log cabins, like a lodge.  Some of the -- some 

8  of the bottom floors are more like a basement. 

9                MR. TABET:  Judge, I'm going to object.  I 

10  thought she was asking her about a specific home.  Now she's 

11  talking about the entire space, the top floors and the bottom 

12  floors.  I thought the question was about a particular home. 

13  So it's non-responsive on the question. 

14                THE COURT:  Overruled. 

15      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Go on. 
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16      A.   Would you like me to say the names of all the people 

17  that lived in this girls' house that she -- 

18                THE COURT:  Wait.  wait.  Let her ask the 

19  question again. 

20      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Okay. You have information from one of 

21  these children about her living situation, correct? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Okay.  And then you also went into the homes on the 

24  ranch, correct? 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   Okay.  First of all, what -- what did you understand 

2  to be the living arrangements of this particular child's 

3  household? 

4      A.   This child listed twenty-four children and nine 

5  mothers. 

6      Q.   And do you know whether or not you actually went into 

7  the home of that child? 

8      A.   I do not know. 

9      Q.   The homes that you went into, were they similar in 

10  nature? 

11      A.   The homes that I went into, I observed several 

12  children, several adolescent females, some adult females, and 

13  generally one male and maybe two males. 

14      Q.   Did these homes have separate, for lack of a better 

15  word, apartments for each family? 

16      A.   What I observed is individual bedrooms, lots of 

17  bedrooms, what appeared to be bedrooms, because of the 

18  furnishings, several bathrooms, an individual laundry room, 
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19  what appeared to be a shared kitchen and living area. 

20      Q.   And -- I'm sorry, how many people did you say lived in 

21  the house that the girl described to you? 

22      A.   She reported twenty-four children and nine mothers. 

23      Q.   So thirty-three people.  Did most of the houses you 

24  went into appear that they would be able to house that many 

25  people?
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1      A.   All of the houses I went into, except for one, 

2  appeared to house many people. 

3      Q.   And they were all in this dormitory style rather than 

4  apartment style?  Can you give us a sense of that? 

5      A.   Yeah, it wasn't like individual apartments.  It was 

6  like one huge house that has lots of bedrooms, one kitchen, one 

7  laundry area, several bathrooms. 

8      Q.   Were you able to develop information about whether or 

9  not particular families or people were living in particular 

10  homes? 

11      A.   Yes. 

12      Q.   What did you learn about that? 

13      A.   Despite the fact that all of the women are called 

14  mothers to all of the children that call one another brothers 

15  and sisters, it appears that there's mothers with their 

16  biological children who are married to a man who is married to 

17  several other women and their biological children. 

18      Q.   Were they assigned to rooms that would reflect that or 

19  could you tell? 

20      A.   I couldn't tell. 

21      Q.   Did any of the children talk to you about how they 
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22  came to live in a certain house or a certain living 

23  arrangement?  Was that part of the investigation? 

24      A.   Yes, we asked.  The children -- you know, we gathered 

25  information that if -- if a father fell out of favor in some
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1  way, his wives would be reassigned to another man, and that 

2  would then become their father.  So some children were moved 

3  from different houses. 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  (Inaudible.) 

5                THE COURT:  Keep going. 

6      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Different women were assigned -- I'm 

7  sorry. 

8      A.   Some -- some children, appeared, moved from different 

9  houses based on what happened with their father. 

10                MS. BEVERLY:  Your Honor, I'm going to object to 

11  the continuation of this testimony.  It's clearly based on 

12  hearsay.  And we -- my name is Karen Beverly.  I represent two 

13  of the children.  I object to the continuation of this hearsay 

14  testimony. 

15                THE COURT:  Would you like to respond? 

16                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor.  There are a 

17  number of exceptions for this testimony.  Number one, the 

18  investigator is testifying about her conclusions and her state 

19  of mind.  Also she's testifying about statements the children 

20  made which reflect their state of mind.  And the children are 

21  relating family history, yet again, the relationships, 

22  marriages, and connections that -- that occurred in this -- on 

23  this ranch. 

24                THE COURT:  The objection's overruled. 
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25      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) You were talking about the children
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1  being moved? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   Did they seem upset by that? 

4      A.   No, not at all.  Many of them reported that they were 

5  excited about coming to this particular ranch. 

6      Q.   This particular ranch being the ranch in Eldorado? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

8      Q.   Okay.  And what did they tell you about that? 

9      A.   That they couldn't wait to get there.  They were happy 

10  they were there. 

11      Q.   Did they tell you why? 

12      A.   I -- I didn't learn why.  They didn't tell me why, not 

13  until later. 

14      Q.   Later in the investigation -- 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   -- you got more information? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am.  Many of them reported having come from 

18  Arizona or Utah.  Some had been there for years, some reported 

19  just being there a few months. 

20      Q.   And were their parents with them? 

21      A.   Some had parents with them, some did not. 

22      Q.   Later they explained to you why they were happy there? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24      Q.   What did they tell you? 

25      A.   That this ranch is Zion and this is where they want to
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1  be. 

2      Q.   These are the children telling you this? 

3      A.   Yes. 

4      Q.   This investigation is still ongoing, correct? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   Okay.  And you are getting more and more information 

7  up, probably until you walked into court today, correct? 

8      A.   Pretty much, yes, ma'am. 

9      Q.   You're still interviewing? 

10      A.   Yes, there are interviews. 

11      Q.   When the children were transported from the ranch to 

12  the civic center, did someone attempt to make lists of who was 

13  being transported? 

14      A.   Yes. 

15      Q.   Okay.  When they arrived at the civic center, were 

16  lists made of who was there? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   Okay.  Was there a problem with that? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   Can you explain that? 

21      A.   What I began to see happening was that names that they 

22  would give, some of the persons would tell us a name on the 

23  bus, and when they -- we got people into the civic center, the 

24  name would change. 

25      Q.   Is this children's names or adults' names?
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1      A.   Both. 
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2      Q.   And how -- what age range of children were giving 

3  different names? 

4      A.   Teenagers. 

5      Q.   Did you try to obtain information from the children as 

6  to why they would change their names or why they gave different 

7  names? 

8      A.   We couldn't obtain that information from them.  And, 

9  no, I didn't. 

10      Q.   Did you see family groupings?  When families got to 

11  the civic center, were there family groupings? 

12      A.   What I saw is that some mothers would be more cohesive 

13  with other mothers and their children. 

14      Q.   But you couldn't separate out individual families? 

15      A.   Oh, no, ma'am. 

16      Q.   At some point the people were transported from the 

17  civic center to locations in San Angelo, correct? 

18      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

19      Q.   Okay.  And children and mothers were transported, 

20  correct? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   In the normal course of a CPS removal of children, are 

23  mothers usually brought into care of the Department? 

24      A.   No, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Can you explain why that would happen in this case?
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1      A.   I was mainly carrying out what had been decided 

2  regarding the women coming with their children. 

3      Q.   But you were carrying it out? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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5      Q.   And what was your understanding of why this was going 

6  on? 

7      A.   At that point there was concern that the women may be 

8  subjected to abuses, themselves.  Otherwise, I -- I don't know 

9  what the reasoning was. 

10      Q.   Have you worked in cases involving situations where 

11  both children and mothers are subjected to abuse? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   What sort of protections are afforded to mothers in 

14  those cases by the Department? 

15      A.   We always try to help them also find a safe place. 

16      Q.   The children and the mothers were transported from the 

17  civic center to where? 

18      A.   To Fort Concho. 

19      Q.   And, again, were lists made of people being 

20  transported from the civic center? 

21      A.   Yes.  We call them the "bus lists." 

22      Q.   And the bus lists were delivered to Fort Concho, 

23  correct? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   And were lists made of the assignments to different
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1  quarters? 

2      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   Was there a problem with that? 

4      A.   Again, the records from the bus didn't match up with 

5  the records from the shelters. 

6      Q.   Were you able to establish a clear list of identities 

7  of women and children that were transported by the Department? 
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8      A.   I -- I feel that we did the best that we could do. 

9      Q.   Well, what attempts were made to do that? 

10      A.   Asking them directly -- 

11      Q.   Okay. 

12      A.   -- their name and their date of birth and who their 

13  children are. 

14      Q.   You asked that at the ranch? 

15      A.   Yes. 

16      Q.   You asked that when they got on the buses to go to the 

17  civic center? 

18      A.   Yes. 

19      Q.   Where else did you ask that? 

20      A.   I was not here at the shelters, so I'm not sure that 

21  it was asked there. 

22      Q.   You've seen bus lists? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24      Q.   And the -- some of the women and children have yet, 

25  again, been moved, correct?
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1      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

2      Q.   Okay.  Is the same pattern continuing? 

3      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

4      Q.   Do you have complete identities for every person that 

5  has come under the care of the Department? 

6      A.   No, ma'am, I don't believe so. 

7      Q.   Okay.  Do you have any way of ascertaining which 

8  parents belong to which children? 

9      A.   Only by what they report.  And even as of yesterday 

10  there's one who brought four children with her purporting them 
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11  to be hers.  Now she's saying they're not hers. 

12      Q.   So even their own statements as to who is in their 

13  family are not consistent? 

14      A.   That's true. 

15      Q.   Have you been able to identify anyone clearly as the 

16  mother of any particular child? 

17      A.   Again, we're just going on what -- what they're 

18  telling us. 

19      Q.   And that changes? 

20      A.   It does. 

21      Q.   And have you been able to identify fathers to go with 

22  these children? 

23      A.   Some. 

24      Q.   And what are you basing that on? 

25      A.   Some of the girls will report who their -- who their
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1  father is, of their child, or their unborn child. 

2      Q.   Your original investigation in this case was about a 

3  sixteen-year-old girl who was pregnant, correct? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5      Q.   Okay.  Did you, as the investigation went on, after 

6  the moves were made, did your investigation reveal teenage 

7  pregnancies? 

8      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

9      Q.   Teenage pregnancy's not a reason to remove children, 

10  is it? 

11      A.   No, ma'am. 

12      Q.   What was the pattern that your investigation revealed? 

13      A.   What I -- what I have observed and information that 
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14  I've gathered is that there is a mindset that even the young 

15  girls report that they will marry at whatever age, and that 

16  it's the highest blessing they can have to have children.  And 

17  I've also found there are several women who report an adult 

18  age at this point -- 

19                MR. FULLER:  Your Honor, I object.  I would like 

20  to clarify one thing.  Evidently -- 

21                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Could you come to the 

22  podium, please, sir? 

23                MR. FULLER:  My name's Ken Fuller, and I 

24  represent Fredrick Jeffs.  And I've sat here all afternoon and 

25  I know the Court's ruled on hearsay.  But it appears to me that
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1  as long as you don't use the magic word "said," it's not 

2  hearsay. 

3                We've got written reports that we haven't been 

4  able to cross examine on.  We've got people who have reported 

5  things that we haven't been able to cross examine.  And I would 

6  like a clarification from the Court, is this whole line of 

7  questioning not subject to -- to a hearsay objection? 

8                THE COURT:  Well, Mr. Fuller, with regards to 

9  your failure or inability to cross examine, the witness has not 

10  been passed by the offering lawyer, so it's a little premature 

11  for cross examination. 

12                MR. FULLER:  But I'm raising the objection that 

13  it's hearsay, initially, by virtue of its very content.  We -- 

14  we've got -- she testified to all kinds of journal entries. 

15  She's evidently able to say they reported this, they reported 

16  that.  And as long as you don't say "they said," then evidently 
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17  it's not subject to the hearsay objection. 

18                THE COURT:  I -- I guess I'm having trouble 

19  following whether you're just making a statement or whether 

20  you've got a specific -- 

21                MR. FULLER:  I'm making a statement, but I 

22  specifically object to her repeating what someone reported. 

23  That is gross hearsay. 

24                THE COURT:  And your position is, is that 

25  although there are exceptions within the code for hearsay,
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1  because everyone of us will admit as trained lawyers that there 

2  are lots of things that are hearsay, however, the statutes and 

3  the case law allow them -- allow admission of hearsay under 

4  certain circumstances. 

5                MR. FULLER:  That's correct.  And until -- and 

6  once they're objected to, I think they have to -- they have to 

7  justify them with an exception. 

8                THE COURT:  And I think every time I've had an 

9  objection as to hearsay, the Court's ruled on that.  Now are 

10  you making an objection as to this specific testimony? 

11                MR. FULLER:  The only one I can object to is the 

12  one that's before the Court right now. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

14                MR. FULLER:  I object to that one. 

15                THE COURT:  What specific -- 

16                MR. FULLER:  By way of clarification, I was 

17  asking for explanation from the Court, as long as they don't 

18  say "said," does that mean it's not hearsay?  And I level that 

19  specifically at the -- at the -- the last purported repetition 
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20  of somebody reported something.  I not only object to it, I 

21  move that it be stricken from the record. 

22                THE COURT:  Your objection is to the last 

23  question, the last answer by the witness. 

24                MR. FULLER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  Yes, sir.
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1                Would you like to respond?  Or would you like to 

2  rephrase your question to try to not elicit hearsay if it was 

3  hearsay that was inadmissible. 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  I have forgotten my question, so I 

5  would like to continue on. 

6                THE COURT:  So you're withdrawing the question 

7  and you're moving on. 

8                MS. GRIFFITH:  I'm withdrawing the question. 

9                THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's give it a shot at that. 

10      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ms. Voss, you have made some 

11  conclusions, as the investigator supervisor, regarding abuse or 

12  neglect to the children that were removed by the Department, 

13  correct? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   And can you summarize your conclusions -- 

16      A.   My -- 

17      Q.   -- pretty globally? 

18      A.   Globally, yes.  My conclusions are that there are -- 

19  there are children having children, and that this is a mindset 

20  that is believed to be appropriate in what is something to be 

21  like a goal to be reached. 

22      Q.   Is -- is it a mindset only within the girl children? 
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23      A.   Oh, no, ma'am. 

24      Q.   The boy children have been interviewed, also? 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   Is there a different pattern with the boy children? 

2      A.   No, ma'am.  The -- the boy children, the girl 

3  children, the male adults, the female adults are reporting, 

4  when I have spoken to them, to me that this is their belief, 

5  that if the prophet hears from Heavenly Father that a girl 

6  should marry at whatever age and have children at whatever age, 

7  then that is what she is to do. 

8      Q.   Approximately how many children have you identified as 

9  having had children or having conceived a child before the age 

10  of seventeen? 

11                MR. STEWART:  Your Honor, I'm going to object to 

12  the form of the question.  The first part of the question was 

13  about children having children.  I think that could be 

14  seventeen year olds having children.  I'm unclear about what 

15  the question was about. 

16                THE COURT:  Mr. Stewart, what I heard the 

17  question, what the Court Reporter's realtime says is: 

18  Approximately how many children have you identified as having 

19  had children or having conceived a child before the age of 

20  seventeen?  Does that give you enough specificity? 

21                MR. STEWART:  It sounds to me like it's 

22  disjunctive, Your Honor.  How many children have had children 

23  or conceived before the age at -- you know, children could be 

24  seventeen.  And I object to the form of the question. 

25                MS. GRIFFITH:  I'll rephrase the question.
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1                THE COURT:  Okay. 

2      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Have you made the conclusions and have 

3  you made a summary of your findings? 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  Okay.  Your Honor, may I approach 

6  the witness? 

7                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

8      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ms. Voss, I'm showing you what I have 

9  marked as Petitioner's Exhibit 26.  What is that document? 

10      A.   I created this document.  It's a chart.  It has four 

11  categories.  It's approximately two and a half pages long. 

12      Q.   What is the -- I guess it doesn't have a title. 

13      A.   I didn't title it.  I can tell you the catagories or 

14  the -- it identifies the -- the name of the mother, her 

15  children's name and their birth date, the mother's age at the 

16  time of birth for her children and the age which she conceived. 

17      Q.   Is this a summary of your investigation conclusions so 

18  far in regards to underaged, under the age of seventeen, 

19  pregnancies at YFZ Ranch? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   And did you put this in summary form because it would 

22  assist the Court in understanding your testimony? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I'm offering to the 

25  Court Petitioner's 26.
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1                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, may I approach? 

2                THE COURT:  Yes, sir. 

3                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, before that's marked and 

4  put in exhibit, there are still children and they're listing 

5  them by their name.  I would ask that their names be redacted. 

6                THE COURT:  At some point in time names are going 

7  to have to come out.  I don't have to do this without doing 

8  that.  But as the ad litem representative, if you've got an 

9  idea how we can do this.  The respondent-parents have a right 

10  to have some idea of who we're talking about.  I mean, how do 

11  you defend it if you don't know who you're talking about? 

12                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor -- 

13                THE COURT:  But I'm not thinking this is 

14  something that should be released -- released to the public, if 

15  that's your question. 

16                MS. GRIFFITH:  That's my question, Your Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  Which is one of the reasons the Court 

18  has limited the number of copies of exhibits.  Have you 

19  tendered this to anybody else to look at yet? 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor, I've distributed 

21  copies to the attorneys here and to the attorneys at the other 

22  site. 

23                THE COURT:  Okay. 

24                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.
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1                DISTRICT CLERK:  There are no copies over here 

2  in the collie -- the coliseum.  Where are we?  The auditorium. 

3  Excuse me. 
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4                THE COURT:  No copies at the auditorium. 

5                DISTRICT CLERK:  That's correct. 

6                MS. GRIFFITH:  Apparently I have not distributed 

7  them, Your Honor. 

8                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, may I approach? 

9                THE COURT:  Approach, yes. 

10                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, would the Court instruct, 

11  because ad litems are under a duty not to divulge that type of 

12  information nor to talk to any parties about their 

13  representations as to the facts of the case. 

14                Would the -- would the Court -- would the Court 

15  instruct all attorneys who may have this information not to 

16  divulge it to any public parties, other than their clients? 

17                THE COURT:  Do I have any attorney that needs to 

18  be instructed about their responsibilities under the Code of 

19  Professional Responsibility?  We have refresher courses 

20  available in the hall, if we need them.  Everybody over there 

21  understand that and understand the consequences? 

22                THE ATTORNEYS:  Yes, Judge. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

24                DISTRICT CLERK:  They're saying, "Yes, Judge." 

25                THE COURT:  That satisfy you, Mr. Stout?
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1                MR. STOUT:  Yes, Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  We're all officers of the Court.  The 

3  general public is not a party to this type of information.  If 

4  parties receive a copy of this because their lawyer showed it 

5  to them, if it's disseminated, there will be a very long visit 

6  with the Court in a manner that is not going to be happy for 
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7  anybody.  Any questions about what I mean?  Do we need a local 

8  lawyer to explain and translate? 

9                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Judge, I have questions 

10  that there are people back here from the general public who I 

11  think is really important that you make sure they don't... 

12  (inaudible.) 

13                THE COURT:  Well, okay.  Officers of the Court 

14  will enforce the Court's ruling with regards to this.  If 

15  there's any problem, see Phil or any bailiff.  Got it?  Same 

16  rules over there, Sheriff. 

17                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge. 

18                THE COURT:  Ma'am? 

19                DISTRICT CLERK:  You may -- you may want to make 

20  specific directions as far as the locations that this is roped 

21  off over here, that only certain people can -- that are 

22  associated with the cases can come up -- come forward to look 

23  at the documents. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay. 

25                DISTRICT CLERK:  Did I say that right?  Excuse
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1  me.  They're telling me to say more, but I'm going to have one 

2  of them come tell you. 

3                We -- we -- additionally, we have the public 

4  back here, as well. 

5                THE COURT:  Okay. 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:  So -- 

7                THE COURT:  Sheri, where's Blanca?  I have -- I 

8  have an attorney coming forward. 

9                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I'm -- 
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10                THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry.  I cannot hear. 

11                THE COURT:  Wait.  wait. 

12                I need quiet in this courtroom. 

13                Yes, ma'am.  Start over again, please. 

14                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, the problem 

15  we have over here in the auditorium is that we're talking about 

16  the maze and (inaudible) people.  In order to preserve the 

17  confidentiality of the children, we would have to exclude the 

18  public in the auditorium in order for that information to 

19  remain confidential.  Because right now it's being disclosed to 

20  members of the public, as well as members of the media 

21  attending here. 

22                DISTRICT CLERK:  No, it's not. 

23                THE COURT:  Okay. 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  If it's testified to, 

25  Your Honor.
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1                THE COURT:  All right. 

2                THE CLERK:  That's the copy. 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  The actual document, 

4  itself. 

5                THE COURT:  Sheri, I got it. 

6                Okay. 

7                THE REPORTER:  I need her name. 

8                THE COURT:  We -- we are dealing with this 

9  exhibit.  That's all we're dealing with right now.  Let's just 

10  keep it so that I know what we're talking about. 

11                With regards to the exhibit, there's an area over 

12  in the auditorium that is marked off that seats about four 
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13  hundred people.  If you're not a lawyer or a party and you're 

14  sitting there, you need to move.  When these documents arrive 

15  over there -- 

16                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am. 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  Can you specify "lawyer"?  I 

19  was instructed that the attorneys that are parties to these 

20  suits are the ones that can look at the documents; is that 

21  correct? 

22                THE COURT:  If you have some lawyers over there 

23  that are sitting within the area that we've designated as part 

24  of the well of the Court, and they're not in this case, such as 

25  they're involved in the criminal case, but they're not involved
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1  in this particular civil case, they need to go join the general 

2  public for this purpose and for all future purposes. 

3                DISTRICT CLERK:  Thank you.  Thank you, Your 

4  Honor. 

5                THE COURT:  We're delivering papers.  We're in 

6  recess, but nobody can leave the courthouse because it takes 

7  you all too long to come back into the courthouse. 

8                (Recess.) 

9                THE COURT:  Are we ready to continue?  I'm 

10  sorry, I guess you didn't hear me. 

11                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  Are we ready to continue? 

13                THE ATTORNEYS:  Yes, Judge. 

14                THE COURT:  Good.  Going over at the city 

15  auditorium, are y'all ready over there? 
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16                THE ATTORNEYS:  Yes. 

17                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Judge. 

18                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Okay.  Now we have an 

19  exhibit.  Can I just see this exhibit? 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, Your Honor. 

21                THE COURT:  Thanks. 

22                All right.  I will hear from -- right now you're 

23  offering Exhibit Number 26; is that right? 

24                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I'd ask to have an 

25  opportunity to clarify just a couple of matters before I offer
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1  that. 

2                THE COURT:  Okay. 

3      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ms. Voss, during the break you 

4  reviewed your summary again, did you not? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   And, in fact, one of the attorneys pointed out to you 

7  there was a couple of errors -- 

8      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

9      Q.   -- in the addition? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   Okay.  On the last page you had indicated that this 

12  child in the top column is seventeen years old.  And you've 

13  corrected your exhibit to indicate seventeen or eighteen, and 

14  the conception was at sixteen or seventeen.  Can you explain 

15  that? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am.  This -- this child reported two different 

17  dates of birth to us.  One in the year '89 and one in the year 

18  '90. 
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19      Q.   Okay.  And then the last -- 

20                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  If she's going 

21  to make that correction, she needs to make it to the exhibit. 

22                (Witness correcting exhibit.) 

23                THE COURT:  Have you done that? 

24                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

25                THE COURT:  Any other -- and just, perhaps, what
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1  birth date did you fill in by the child's name? 

2                THE WITNESS:  Well, Your Honor, I corrected the 

3  year to reflect 1990. 

4                THE COURT:  So for the lawyers looking at their 

5  exhibits, the first individual on the last page's birth date 

6  should read correctly 11/1990; is that right? 

7                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                THE COURT:  So you-all might make that change. 

9                What other changes do you want to have everybody 

10  make -- make?  And tell them what change you're making so that 

11  they can adjust that on their exhibits that they're all going 

12  to, by the way, give back to the Court before they leave today. 

13      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) You have also removed the last name on 

14  the list from the exhibit, because there was a miscalculation 

15  in the ages, correct? 

16      A.   Yes, ma'am, I did miscalculate. 

17      Q.   Are there any other corrections? 

18      A.   No, ma'am, I do not believe so. 

19                THE COURT:  All right. 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, I'm offering 

21  Petitioner's 26 to the Court. 
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22                THE COURT:  All right.  We're going to try 

23  something slightly different.  Under the Court's authority to 

24  control the proceedings, I'm going to hear one objection from 

25  each side.  You may have to increase that up, but let's --
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1  let's just start with -- give me your best objection and I'll 

2  hear from the respondents. 

3                MR. HARGROVE:  No objection, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Normally I -- I fuss at folks for 

5  sidebars, but you can do that one, Mr. Hargrove. 

6                All right.  Ad litems, now keeping in the spirit 

7  with how things are going.  Do we have anything we want to say 

8  over here? 

9                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No objection. 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No objection. 

11                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No objections. 

12                THE COURT:  Sheri, good news from the auditorium? 

13                DISTRICT CLERK:  Everybody looks good over here, 

14  Judge. 

15                THE COURT:  Great.  Admitted. 

16      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Ms. Voss -- 

17                THE COURT:  Now, keep down the roar, guys.  We've 

18  got to be able to hear the testimony. 

19      Q.   -- this summary does include women who are no longer 

20  children, correct? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   Okay.  Explain what the first five entries are. 

23      A.   The first five entries are girls who still are of 

24  adolescent age that are either pregnant or have children. 
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25      Q.   Okay.  And let's just do number one.  Your summary
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1  indicates that this child has a child and that she conceived 

2  that child -- child at the age of fifteen, correct? 

3      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

4      Q.   You took into account, and I believe it says on your 

5  summary, that you assumed that this was a normal pregnancy? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am, I did. 

7      Q.   Has anyone indicated to you on any of these women or 

8  children that they had anything less than a normal forty week 

9  pregnancy? 

10      A.   I don't know about that. 

11      Q.   The second child was -- is currently pregnant? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   And she is sixteen years old? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   Third child is seventeen now or claiming to be 

16  seventeen now, and was sixteen when she conceived a child? 

17      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

18      Q.   The fourth child is sixteen now and was fifteen when 

19  she conceived a child? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   And the fifth child is sixteen now and was fifteen 

22  when she conceived a child? 

23      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

24      Q.   This goes on in regards to women who have now become 

25  of age, but according to your calculations were as young as
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1  fourteen when they conceived a child? 

2      A.   I believe I've noted one on the back page, the second 

3  to the last.  The last one I made the error on.  The second to 

4  the last one is -- would have been thirteen at time of 

5  conception. 

6      Q.   Thirteen at conception? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

8      Q.   And you have a fourteen year old and a number of 

9  fifteen and sixteen year olds? 

10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   Okay.  Can you talk to us about the third page, the 

12  child at the top of the page?  Is she a child or is she an 

13  adult? 

14      A.   When I've met her and spoken with her, she appears to 

15  be a child. 

16      Q.   Okay.  Has she given you her birth date? 

17      A.   Well, we have two different birth dates for her. 

18      Q.   One of them makes her a child, and one of them makes 

19  her an adult? 

20      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

21      Q.   How many -- estimate how many children or how many 

22  females do we have that fall into the category of uncertain 

23  whether they are women or whether they're children? 

24      A.   At least fifty percent. 

25      Q.   Fifty percent of --
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1      A.   Of the females that we have that we can't determine. 
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2  They look like a child, but they're reporting that they're 

3  twenty-two or twenty-three. 

4      Q.   Fifty -- okay.  Give me a number.  How many -- how 

5  many -- there's a lot. 

6      A.   Okay.  Are you -- do you mean on this chart only, or 

7  totally, all? 

8      Q.   No.  Of the women that are at the -- the shelter -- 

9      A.   Uh-huh. 

10      Q.   -- or at the coliseum or at the pavillion today, how 

11  many of them -- is there a question of whether or not they're a 

12  woman or a child?  Do you know? 

13      A.   I do not know.  I would say at least fifty percent of 

14  whatever the total number of alleged women there are out there. 

15      Q.   However, we have obtained the -- some medical records 

16  and some information.  And it does appear we can pin down some 

17  of these ages, correct? 

18      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

19      Q.   When you say fifty percent, are you talking about from 

20  their reporting; are you talking about from our information? 

21  What are you talking about? 

22      A.   I think that -- that if somebody -- anyone in this 

23  courtroom were to walk out there and look at the faces in the 

24  coliseum and look at the girls who are reporting that they're 

25  an adult, the majority of us in here would not believe that
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1  they are an adult. 

2                And we -- all we can go on is what they are 

3  saying to us.  They do not have identifications.  So my best 

4  guess is at least fifty percent of the females out there that 
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5  say they're an adult probably are not. 

6      Q.   Okay.  Is that a changing number or is that a -- 

7      A.   Their -- you know, their names change.  Who their 

8  children are is changing.  Their birth dates are changing. 

9      Q.   Are you aware of an attempt by the Department to 

10  identify people when they were moved to the coliseum, to the 

11  current place? 

12      A.   I believe that there were continued lists made. 

13      Q.   And do you know anything about those lists? 

14      A.   No, ma'am. 

15      Q.   You're still working on the investigation part, 

16  correct? 

17      A.   Yes, we are. 

18      Q.   The ongoing issues in this case, placement issues, 

19  custody issues, whose responsible for this?  I mean, not an 

20  individual, but how is that split up in the Department? 

21      A.   I think it's going to be very, very important for all 

22  of the ad litems, you know, the Court system, all of Child 

23  Protective Services to work together to make the best decisions 

24  we can for these children. 

25      Q.   But you're not going to be the one making those
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1  decisions about placement? 

2      A.   No, ma'am.  I -- my function is investigations. 

3      Q.   And these cases will be moved to the conservatorship 

4  or ongoing care unit, correct? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   Okay.  Sub-care is what we call it? 

7      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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8      Q.   Okay.  You've talked about the girls and the pattern 

9  and the pregnancies.  But you removed the boys and you removed 

10  babies. 

11      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

12      Q.   Can you explain that? 

13      A.   My belief is that when I've made an assessment that 

14  there's a child that has either been abused in the home or is 

15  at risk of abuse, all of the children are unsafe.  And I'm also 

16  very concerned about the overall mindset and the -- like I said 

17  earlier, pervasive belief.  It's a belief system, that -- that 

18  children are born and are grown.  And it appears the boys 

19  become perpetrators.  It appears the girls become sexual 

20  assault victims. 

21      Q.   Okay.  You said all members of the household? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Okay.  Can you explain how that applies here? 

24      A.   All members of the household? 

25      Q.   Yes.
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1      A.   Are you -- 

2      Q.   You said when one child's abused, you're concerned 

3  about all the children in the household. 

4      A.   Yes, ma'am.  I -- yes, because during my contacts with 

5  the children and with the adults that live at the YFZ Ranch, 

6  they -- they explained that they are one big family, one large 

7  community, and that they all share the same belief system. 

8                And so that's -- that's what I mean is, is that 

9  when I have found this kind of pattern, and already been able 

10  to identify several victims, my concern is that all the 
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11  children there are potential victims. 

12      Q.   Well, all the children haven't come forward and said 

13  that they're being abused? 

14      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

15      Q.   So why do you think that they're being abused? 

16      A.   Again, it is a fact that the parents of these 

17  children, the parents that are represented for the children, 

18  believe that their children should continue in the -- the 

19  ways -- 

20                MR. HARALSON:  I object, Your Honor. 

21                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I object to 602. 

22                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait. 

23                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'll defer to him. 

24                THE COURT:  You'll defer to him.  The question 

25  is: will I?  Mr. Haralson.
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1                MR. HARALSON:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

2                I believe the witness's answer to this question 

3  calls for speculation as to the state of minds of other people, 

4  to which I don't believe there's been a predicate stated that 

5  she knows what these people actually think.  She's just 

6  basically testifying as to her conclusions about somebody 

7  else's state of mind.  It should be qualified that way in the 

8  least. 

9                THE COURT:  Was that just argument or was there 

10  an objection? 

11                MR. HARALSON:  Yes, speculation, Your Honor.  The 

12  witness is not qualified to answer this question.  She has no 

13  personal knowledge. 
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14                THE COURT:  Overruled on that ground.  Next? 

15  Thank you. 

16                You may continue. 

17                MS. GRIFFITH:  Thank you. 

18      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Do you have -- are you familiar with -- 

19  you're familiar with the standards that the Court has to meet 

20  here? 

21      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

22      Q.   You're familiar with what the Department through you 

23  has to prove? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   And you've talked about the danger to the children and
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1  the reason for removal, correct? 

2      A.   Yes. 

3      Q.   Okay.  Why is it not safe now to return these children 

4  to their mothers?  I say "mothers." 

5      A.   I believe it is not safe for any child to return to 

6  the ranch, because the adults that I have spoken with who live 

7  on the ranch have expressed to me their belief that they aren't 

8  doing anything harmful to their children, that -- that this 

9  practice of children being united and having children is part 

10  of their overall culture or belief system. 

11      Q.   Okay.  And what if they were to return to their 

12  parents in a location other than the ranch? 

13      A.   You know, Child Protective Services always wants kids 

14  to be with their parents, but only until it's determined that 

15  they know and can express what it was in the first place that 

16  caused harm to their children.  So I don't -- I think the 
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17  Court's -- the recommendation from the Department regarding 

18  psychological counseling and evaluation for these mothers and 

19  fathers is paramount of importance. 

20      Q.   What's the danger to -- focus on the boys.  What's the 

21  danger to the boys? 

22      A.   Again -- 

23      Q.   Other than the -- you talked about the sexual 

24  environment, and unions.  And what else for these boys? 

25      A.   In -- in my studies during this investigation and
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1  gathering information and learning through talking with other 

2  persons who are considered experts, sometimes the boys are 

3  completely excluded from their families. 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm going to object on 

5  non-responsive and based on hearsay. 

6                THE COURT:  All right.  Since you didn't come 

7  forward, the objection is non-responsive, based on hearsay. 

8  The question was what -- why did she believe that removing the 

9  boys was also appropriate.  Right? 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  That's correct, Your 

11  Honor.  And the witness is being non-responsive.  She's relying 

12  on hearsay.  She has testified that she talked with other 

13  people and in her studies.  It's not related to the specific 

14  case in hand, and to the specific children at hand and the 

15  specific parents.  She's relying on some broad global thing 

16  she's read.  It's based on hearsay, and it's non-responsive at 

17  best. 

18                THE COURT:  Or at best, perhaps, she's telling 

19  you what her opinion is, which is what the question was. 
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20  Overruled.  Have a seat. 

21      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) Please tell us about the boys and -- 

22  and if you can, give us some things that you've seen about 

23  what's happening to the boys. 

24      A.   I believe that the boys are groomed to be 

25  perpetrators.
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1      Q.   And what do you mean by that? 

2      A.   What I mean by that is there are adult men who have 

3  united with adolescent girls and there are boys growing up in 

4  an environment that supports that. 

5      Q.   During this investigation, did you see any behaviors 

6  in the boys that would indicate there were problems? 

7      A.   I have not, no, ma'am. 

8      Q.   Okay.  During this investigation, you're not saying 

9  the babies have been sexually abused? 

10      A.   I do not know that. 

11      Q.   Okay.  Why would the babies have to be removed? 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm sorry.  I could not 

13  hear that question. 

14                THE COURT:  The question was:  Why do the babies 

15  have to be removed? 

16                THE WITNESS:  Again, I would go back to what -- 

17  what I saw regarding Merrill Jessop and how the -- the women in 

18  particular are so very responsive to him.  My concern is that 

19  the -- the men and women who are the parents of the children, 

20  the boy -- the little boys, the babies, the girls, what I have 

21  found is that they're living under an umbrella of belief that 

22  having children at a young age is a blessing and therefore any 
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23  child in that environment would not be safe. 

24      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) There's another problem as far as 

25  returning these children, isn't there, in regards to the
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1  identity of the children? 

2      A.   There's a lot of problems, yes, ma'am. 

3      Q.   If someone came forward today and said:  I wasn't 

4  there on the ranch.  I didn't abuse my child. 

5                If for some reason they could satisfy the 

6  Department that they were who they said they were, and they had 

7  not abused or neglected their child, and they had a birth 

8  certificate with a name on it of a child, could you go and pick 

9  up -- 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, we cannot 

11  hear anything in the back of the courtroom. 

12                THE COURT:  Okay.  You're going to just have to 

13  shout. 

14                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes. 

15                THE COURT:  I know you've been doing it a long 

16  time. 

17      Q.   (MS. GRIFFITH) If someone was to present to you their 

18  identity and a birth certificate showing the name of their 

19  child and the birth date of their child, could you, or anyone 

20  from the Department, go out and get that child from the 

21  coliseum or the pavilion and deliver that child to the parent? 

22      A.   Well, it would be a very difficult task.  Most 

23  importantly, though, is that it's like an investigation that -- 

24  in which a parent leaves a child in an unsafe environment, may 

25  be with persons that use drugs.  And -- and they come back to
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1  say:  But I didn't do anything. 

2                That isn't true.  Leaving your child in an unsafe 

3  environment with people that have unsafe behaviors makes a 

4  parent responsible. 

5      Q.   Okay.  And can you figure out which child goes to 

6  which parent? 

7      A.   Well, like I said earlier, it's -- they switch kids. 

8  They deny their children.  I've encountered a few young girls 

9  that initially said they did haven't children at all, and then 

10  later reported they did.  And then we were able to find those 

11  babies at the ranch and try to reunite them.  It's difficult. 

12      Q.   How many children does the Department have in care 

13  that are age four or younger at last count? 

14      A.   The last count I'm aware of, I believe it was over a 

15  hundred and thirty. 

16      Q.   Have you seen any birth certificates for any of those 

17  children? 

18      A.   No, ma'am. 

19      Q.   Do you have any way to identify, for certain, who the 

20  parents are of those children? 

21      A.   No, ma'am. 

22                MS. GRIFFITH:  I'll pass the witness. 

23                THE COURT:  All right.  Now, we're going to start 

24  this process of cross examination. 

25                Bear with us over there in the city.  Don't
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1  laugh, it's not fair. 

2                We're going -- I'm going to strictly enforce 

3  asked and answered.  I want to first hear from the 

4  respondents.  You-all have an attorney that you-all can agree 

5  on to start out as asking the questions.  It doesn't mean that 

6  you're going to be prohibited from asking questions later.  But 

7  is there an attorney that you-all would like to have the first 

8  opportunity to ask questions? 

9                MR. HARGROVE:  Your Honor, we have decided that 

10  Ms. Hennington should go first. 

11                THE COURT:  You've got the black bean, Ms. 

12  Hennington.  Come on down. 

13                MS. HENNINGTON:  Thank you, Judge. 

14                THE COURT:  Amy, y'all might try moving that 

15  microphone so it kind of arches over towards you a little bit. 

16                MS. HENNINGTON:  Okay.  I was going to grab my 

17  notes. 

18                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

19  BY MS. HENNINGTON: 

20      Q.   Ms. Voss -- okay. 

21                MS. HENNINGTON:  How is that?  Can everybody hear 

22  me? 

23                THE COURT:  Can anybody hear her? 

24                MS. HENNINGTON:  Can anybody hear me? 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No.
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1                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes. 

2                MS. HENNINGTON:  How about now? 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No. 
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4                THE COURT:  Can you hear me now? 

5                MS. HENNINGTON:  How's this. 

6                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  That's better. 

7      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Okay.  Ms. Voss, you said you were 

8  present as the investigator at the very beginning when this 

9  started; is that right? 

10      A.   When -- yes, when we went onto the ranch. 

11      Q.   What time -- when you went, you said you got there 

12  about 6:00 or so in the evening? 

13      A.   Well, we got to the ranch gate at about 9:00. 

14      Q.   Okay.  There's an order where the Judge signs that at 

15  6:00 PM that day, where it's saying that there may need to be 

16  an order, so you're allowed to do your investigation; is that 

17  right? 

18      A.   If there's an order signed and stamped as that, then I 

19  would agree with it. 

20      Q.   Prior to going out there at 9:00 that evening, what 

21  steps had the Department taken to investigate this allegation 

22  by Sarah Jessop? 

23      A.   The -- we were asked by law enforcement to hold off on 

24  making contact yet at -- at the ranch because of their need to 

25  get whatever things they wanted to get together for their
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1  search warrants.  And so the -- the preparation was primarily, 

2  how are you going to cooperate and work with law enforcement. 

3      Q.   Okay.  So does that mean prior to going at 9:00 the 

4  Department made no steps to investigate this allegation? 

5      A.   I do not believe so. 

6      Q.   When the Department went out at 9:00 at night to start 
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7  investigating this allegation, did you have a description for 

8  Sarah, physical description? 

9      A.   I don't recall if we -- I think that we did have it 

10  then, or was it sometime as the weekend unfolded.  I don't 

11  recall. 

12      Q.   When questioned by the attorney for the State you 

13  described her as -- 

14      A.   Five-four, blond hair, blue eyes. 

15      Q.   Why did you ask for every child, every girl under the 

16  age of seventeen then to come to be interviewed at 9:00 at 

17  night? 

18      A.   Well, again, it goes back to how CPS investigations 

19  normally are, that we talk to all -- all persons who might have 

20  information about a particular child. 

21      Q.   If the conditions were such extreme that you needed 

22  law enforcement to be there, why didn't you look for Sarah 

23  Jessop? 

24      A.   We asked for Sarah Jessop. 

25      Q.   Why didn't you ask for Sarah Jessop that's a blonde
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1  five-foot child? 

2      A.   Again, I don't know if we had that description of her 

3  at 9:00 when we approached the men and asked for Sarah Jessop 

4  Barlow, or if it came sometime during the weekend. 

5      Q.   So when you went there you didn't even know what she 

6  looked like? 

7      A.   I don't think so. 

8      Q.   Okay.  Well, a call came in and did it come to the 

9  hotline? 
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10      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

11      Q.   So a call came to the hotline that Sarah Jessop was a 

12  sixteen-year-old who was in danger? 

13      A.   That's the gist of it. 

14      Q.   Okay.  In that phone call was there not some way to 

15  identify who Sarah Jessop was? 

16      A.   The -- the report was that she provided her name.  She 

17  provided her age.  She said she had a baby.  She reported that 

18  she wanted off of the ranch.  She reported she had walked and 

19  walked and walked.  She wasn't sure she could get over the 

20  fence. 

21                She reported that she thought there was a woman 

22  on the ranch who was going to help her, but she wasn't so 

23  sure.  She expressed having been physically harmed by who she 

24  indicated was her husband, who she said was forty-nine years 

25  old.
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1      Q.   Now, Ms. Voss, I realize this case has grown into a 

2  large magnitude, but when this started this was an allegation 

3  by one sixteen-year-old of physical abuse; is that right? 

4      A.   Yes. 

5      Q.   And as -- and you testified at the very beginning of 

6  your testimony how familiar you were and how much training you 

7  had had in the investigation and the interview techniques of 

8  children; is that right? 

9      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

10      Q.   And so you're familiar with all the policies and 

11  procedures of the Department? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 
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13      Q.   You're familiar with the handbook that is put out 

14  about how you interview and how you start an investigation? 

15      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

16      Q.   Are you familiar with the one, number 2131? 

17      A.   I don't know that I know them by numbers.  Can you 

18  tell me what it is? 

19      Q.   Are you familiar with the requirement number 2131 that 

20  says allegations that CPS accepts for investigation and 

21  assessment, and then it goes through and it names steps that 

22  you should do. 

23      A.   Okay.  I'm familiar, yes. 

24      Q.   And in that it specifically states as a management 

25  policy that there are criteria for initiating an investigation.
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1  Would that be right? 

2      A.   There are, yes. 

3      Q.   If you couldn't identify this person, then how did you 

4  meet the bare minimum of starting this investigation? 

5      A.   It's -- it's just like any other investigation.  If we 

6  go knocking on a door where someone is alleged to have -- to 

7  have made phone calls from, a minor says she's been harmed, 

8  that she wants out, she needs help, and we're told but she's 

9  not here, but there are other children here, then our procedure 

10  is to interview the other children. 

11      Q.   Okay.  How many homes were out at the YFZ Ranch? 

12      A.   I believe there are nineteen three-story structures. 

13      Q.   Prior to starting this investigation on April 3rd, 

14  you've stated you talked to law enforcement on at least one 

15  occasion? 
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16      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

17      Q.   So you're aware that there were several homes and 

18  buildings at this location? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20      Q.   So in a hypothetical situation, if a young girl from 

21  Miles, Texas -- 

22                (Microphone humming.) 

23                MS. HENNINGTON:  Is that me? 

24                THE COURT:  I don't know if that's you or not, 

25  Ms. Hennington.
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1                MS. HENNINGTON:  Sorry. 

2      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) If a child calls in and says:  I 

3  live in Miles, Texas, and I'm being -- this is my name and I 

4  have been physically abused, are you going to then go to every 

5  house in Miles and look for her? 

6      A.   Well, what I see the difference is that the ranch is 

7  the ranch.  It has several houses in it, but it's one large 

8  community, itself. 

9      Q.   Okay.  My question was, though, if -- if a person 

10  calls in and says:  I'm Sarah Jessop and I live in Miles, 

11  Texas.  And I don't give you any other information.  Are you 

12  going to go to every town in Miles, Texas, looking for her?  By 

13  your policies? 

14      A.   I would do what policy says to try to locate her, yes, 

15  ma'am. 

16      Q.   And what does policy say you're supposed to do before 

17  initiating this investigation? 

18      A.   In attempts to locate a child? 
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19      Q.   In attempts to starting an investigation, what is the 

20  bare minimum that would have been required to start this 

21  investigation? 

22      A.   Well, first and foremost to share that information 

23  with law enforcement and coordinate with them. 

24      Q.   What's next? 

25      A.   That's what we did.
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1      Q.   Is that the only step before any -- any case is 

2  investigated by the Department? 

3      A.   I don't know exactly what you're meaning.  At what 

4  point did we start to investigate or when we begin -- 

5                THE COURT:  Excuse me.  Ms. Hennington, this is 

6  not the final trial.  This is a 14-day adversarial hearing. 

7  There are certain standards that the Department must meet.  And 

8  in your rebuttal of those standards, you need to address the 

9  issues and the matters that are properly before the Court. 

10                Now, I don't want to stop you in your 

11  questioning, but I really would ask you to focus on, perhaps 

12  not the procedure, because this is not a motion to suppress. 

13                MS. HENNINGTON: I understand, Judge. 

14                THE COURT:  That's in another area.  But if you 

15  could focus, not so much on the procedures, unless there's 

16  something you could tell me that -- that the procedure, whether 

17  it was flawed or not, and I'm not saying it was, but if that -- 

18  something in there gets past their decision to remove the kids, 

19  and my job here to decide whether the kids could be returned. 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Judge, what I'm trying -- Judge, 

21  what I'm trying to do is show that they didn't -- that the 
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22  Department did not follow their policies and procedures that 

23  this -- that -- that are set in place for the protection of 

24  families children and parents. 

25                And that because they didn't, they have now,
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1  through their investigation, initially, and then furthermore in 

2  their interviews of the -- of the girls that night and that 

3  have continued over the last week and a half, have -- have 

4  gotten this to the point where that any -- anything they want 

5  to rely on in the reports that the Court has admitted so far is 

6  so unreliable that we can't go forward with any information 

7  that's in those reports, that they've been admitted. 

8                I think at this point I have to show whatever's 

9  in that report isn't any good, not as a suppression for 

10  everything that may come out later.  But right now we've got 

11  reports in there that are -- have been done by somebody.  And I 

12  think the interviewing that took place the night of the 3rd, I 

13  think the investigation, the way it was started, that they 

14  didn't even bother to find out who she was, didn't bother to 

15  find out what the criminal history of the person who's the 

16  alleged perpetrator -- these are standard things that they 

17  should have done, they always do and they choose not to do at 

18  this time. 

19                THE COURT:  Just help me understand how this line 

20  of questioning is going to help me when this is the standard I 

21  have to use.  And I'll just read it from the code. 

22                At the conclusion of the full adversary hearing, 

23  the Court shall order the return of the child to the parent, 

24  managing conservator, possessory conservator, guardian, care 
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25  giver or custodian entitled possession, unless the Court finds
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1  sufficient evidence to satisfy a person of ordinary prudence 

2  and caution that, one, there is a danger to the physical health 

3  or safety of the child, which was caused by an act or failure 

4  to act of the person entitled to possession, and for the child 

5  to remain in the home is contrary to the welfare of the child. 

6                So what I'm trying to figure out is, even if I 

7  admit it, and I'm not, and even if you can prove, and I'm not 

8  sure you haven't, that how they got there was flawed, isn't the 

9  real important issue for the Court is:  After they got there, 

10  did they gain information that is relevant to what I have to do 

11  here and can you help me see that it's not either, one, that I 

12  read, or two, or three.  If you could just focus on that.  And 

13  I'll let you go to the other places if you really want to, but 

14  I'm just telling you what I'm focusing on, because that's what 

15  my duty is. 

16                MS. HENNINGTON:  Yes, ma'am. 

17                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

18      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Ms. Voss, how many children did you 

19  interview the night of the 3rd?  You've indicated fifteen, then 

20  fourteen.  I just wanted approximately the total amount that 

21  you interviewed on the 3rd. 

22      A.   Well, the 3rd changed into the 4th, because midnight 

23  came and went.  And so we interviewed several girls. 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, this is over 

25  at the city hall.  And I'm going to object that this has
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1  already been asked and answered.  She's asking for an 

2  approximate number of the folks that were interviewed.  I think 

3  she's given an approximate number, not an exact number.  So I 

4  don't know what else she's asking for. 

5                THE COURT:  Are you asking how many folks this 

6  witness interviewed or how many folks CPS in all interviewed? 

7  Is that -- I'm -- I'm unclear what you're asking. 

8                MS. HENNINGTON:  I wanted to know how many 

9  children got -- not just her, but that got interviewed that 

10  night. 

11                THE WITNESS:  Before midnight? 

12      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Or that evening before the decision 

13  to remove the children was made? 

14      A.   Okay.  Let me start over. 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Again, Your Honor, I 

16  would object.  This has been asked and answered. 

17                THE COURT:  Ms. Hennington, has it not been asked 

18  and answered?  I seem to remember something about fifteen?  Did 

19  I miss something? 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I have down that at 

21  one point she said there was fifteen -- seventeen girls brought 

22  in at one time.  Then another time fourteen girls.  And then 

23  at -- then she thought only four got interviewed.  And then 

24  there was another fifteen come.  So I'm just trying to find 

25  out, you know, was it thirty, forty-five, how many got
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1  interviewed. 
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2                THE COURT:  Okay.  That's fair.  I'll let her see 

3  if she can sort that out, if you can. 

4                THE WITNESS:  Nineteen. 

5      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Nineteen girls got interviewed? 

6      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

7      Q.   And of that, did any of them say that they were 

8  physically abused by the person who took care of them that 

9  night?  Did any of them say that night? 

10      A.   I can't tell you.  The hours ran together.  What I can 

11  tell you is that after the nineteen were interviewed, the 

12  initial order for removal came.  We continued to interview.  We 

13  gathered information about the children being kept in their 

14  room, missing meals, having to be very obedient, different 

15  kinds of discipline; also continued to gather information about 

16  other adolescent girls. 

17                MS. GOODMAN:  Judge, I'm going to object to 

18  non-responsive.  This is Stephanie Goodman and I'm going to 

19  object to non-responsive; non-responsive to the question that 

20  was asked. 

21                THE COURT:  You know, normally non-responsive is 

22  the objection raised by the person asking the question.  I 

23  really never -- admitted, this is a different procedure.  But 

24  it -- really that's usually the question after she wants to 

25  raise that point.  Thank you.  Ms. Goodman.
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1      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) So, Ms. Voss, at this time that -- 

2  you can't say that any child -- prior to the order to remove 

3  all these children, that any child had alleged they had been 

4  physically or emotionally abused by any parent or guardian; is 
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5  that right?  I mean, that's what you just said. 

6      A.   No, that's not what I said.  I believe there's 

7  concerns of emotional abuse for this child.  She reported that 

8  there are fifteen mothers in her home.  And when she began to 

9  list them, she quit at number two and said she just pleads the 

10  Fifth.  She doesn't want to answer anymore. 

11                I believe there's concerns for this child because 

12  when she was asked, does she know -- who is the youngest girl 

13  she knows that has a baby, she said, "Sarah Elizabeth Johnson, 

14  who's sixteen and has a baby." 

15                The second girl confirmed that same information. 

16  But -- okay.  Let me make sure any of the girls reported 

17  directly about themselves. 

18      Q.   So, Ms. Voss, is the bottom line is it the Department 

19  now feels they don't believe any of these children, any of 

20  these women, and so they think they should detain them and 

21  keep -- ask the Court to keep custody of these children because 

22  they don't believe anything that they say? 

23      A.   No, that's not true. 

24      Q.   If a mother came to you or came to a representative of 

25  the Department with birth certificates for herself, her
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1  children, a marriage license, you're not willing at this point 

2  to let that child go with that mom if she didn't live at the 

3  ranch, are you? 

4      A.   No, ma'am. 

5                THE COURT:  Ms. Hennington, just for 

6  clarification, it's up to the Court. 

7                MS. HENNINGTON:  I know.  I'm asking their 
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8  recommendation, Judge.  I'm sorry. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

10      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Now, as to this issue of the boys, 

11  there's been no behavior.  I represent a father who has several 

12  boys up in -- up by Amarillo, the -- the Dockstader boys.  Do 

13  you know them at all? 

14      A.   I've seen their names. 

15      Q.   And their father and mother have told you who they 

16  are; he's been served.  Has anyone from the Department talked 

17  to him? 

18      A.   I don't know.  I have not. 

19      Q.   Do any of your notes indicate any father has been 

20  asked for information? 

21      A.   I'm sorry, if any father has been -- 

22      Q.   Do your notes that you've been testifying all 

23  afternoon from have any indication that any father has been 

24  asked what steps they're willing to take for the safety of 

25  their children?
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1      A.   My notes are about the investigation information 

2  gathered from the children.  So no, ma'am, they do not reflect 

3  that. 

4      Q.   As to the -- the Dockstader boys, is there any issue 

5  of any abuse, physical, other than this perception of grooming? 

6      A.   Not that I'm aware of. 

7      Q.   You stated earlier you talked to some experts.  Who 

8  are they? 

9      A.   Mr. Bruce Perry -- Dr. Perry.  There's a woman that 

10  has helped us significantly, Becky Musser. 
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11      Q.   So two individuals, is that it? 

12      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

13      Q.   Has anyone from the Department made any steps to 

14  investigate or determine the safety of any of the individual 

15  homes at -- at the ranch? 

16      A.   We have -- that I'm aware of, I don't believe CPS has 

17  been back to the ranch after the removal of the children. 

18      Q.   Okay.  Has the Department made -- what about the 

19  families from -- that have come forward and said:  I don't live 

20  there.  Can these children go home with those people today? 

21      A.   I'm not aware of any. 

22      Q.   What about the families that didn't live at the 

23  ranch?  Can the children go home with them today?  Will the 

24  Department recommend they go home? 

25      A.   Well, a family member would have to be home studied
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1  first to determine if the child could go live with them. 

2      Q.   The -- the statements you made earlier about the 

3  children believing that their role is to follow the prophet, 

4  those concerned you; is that right? 

5      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

6      Q.   Do -- is, then, the objection to their belief in their 

7  faith and that their faith is what's causing the environment? 

8      A.   It's -- it's -- it's that they get direction from the 

9  prophet who they identify as Warren Jeffs.  And whatever he 

10  says is what they will do. 

11      Q.   But you -- you've testified you talked to a couple of 

12  experts that the Department has filed as knowledgeable about 

13  persons of this faith.  So my question is that -- 
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14                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor.  I don't 

15  believe that that was her prior testimony.  I don't believe she 

16  said the experts were experts about this faith. 

17                THE COURT:  What were -- help us out.  What was 

18  it? 

19                MS. GRIFFITH:  She was asked if she -- how she 

20  made decisions and she said that she had consulted with experts 

21  in regards to the children in regards to the situation.  I'm 

22  not sure of the specifics.  But I do not believe that Ms. Voss 

23  ever stated that the experts were experts in this faith. 

24                MS. HENNINGTON:  May I respond, Judge? 

25                THE COURT:  Why don't you just ask her if that's
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1  what she meant when she said "experts." 

2      Q.   (MS. HENNINGTON) Ms. Voss, what did you mean when you 

3  said "experts" then? 

4      A.   What I meant is experts in child psychology, people 

5  that know much more than I do and persons that are much more 

6  educated and aware of how the belief system is at the ranch. 

7      Q.   Okay.  So one of the experts you're saying has advised 

8  this department about what the beliefs of the these -- these 

9  children or their mothers are? 

10      A.   No, ma'am. 

11      Q.   What did you mean then? 

12      A.   Okay.  What is your question? 

13      Q.   My question is, is that you're wanting -- what the 

14  Department is recommending today or stated earlier is that you 

15  believe, the Department believes, regardless of your personal 

16  opinion, the Department is saying that these boys should not go 
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17  home because they are being groomed to be perpetrators. 

18  The babies should not be going home because of the way the 

19  women seem to -- to be followers.  I think the girls -- there's 

20  a couple of different things, but the bottom line is they 

21  were -- should not go home until the parent can express the 

22  danger. 

23                And my understanding from your previous testimony 

24  is the danger is that their belief is to follow their prophet; 

25  is that right?
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1      A.   I think that that's part of the danger, yes. 

2      Q.   Well, what else is there? 

3      A.   The -- like I had shared earlier, that -- that we get 

4  false information regarding dates of birth, their names are 

5  changing.  We're having a hard time determining which child 

6  belongs to which parent, really.  And so there seems to be an 

7  overall- I don't know how else to explain to you- feeling that 

8  we don't yet know all the truth there is to know. 

9                What I can testify to and what I have is what I 

10  do know to be true, and that there are -- there is -- there are 

11  young girls that -- that feel the pinnacle of their existence 

12  is to become married at whenever the age is they're told and to 

13  have as many children as they're supposed to have. 

14      Q.   But, Ms. Voss, on the exhibit that was introduced on 

15  Number 26, you've identified one, two, three, four, five, five 

16  children out of four hundred that are -- are at that risk at 

17  this time, today, is that right, those five? 

18      A.   Those are the only ones I can be absolutely certain 

19  about, yes. 
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20      Q.   And other than those five, as far as an emergency -- I 

21  mean, not emergency, but having a -- a removal right now where 

22  the children can't be with their parents, the danger to these 

23  other children do not exist right now, do they? 

24      A.   Yes, it does. 

25      Q.   The danger of being sexually abused for most of these
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1  children that are four and under is not twelve years, ten 

2  years, or whatever down the road? 

3      A.   That's not a good reason to -- if we're going to delay 

4  the abuse, you don't put them back where they might be abused 

5  twelve, ten years later. 

6      Q.   But, if the Court is -- what is the danger today for 

7  these children that are not at thirteen, fourteen, fifteen, 

8  sixteen and seventeen years of age?  What is the danger today 

9  for these children? 

10      A.   The danger that I can see and that I have seen is that 

11  they'll continue to grow up in an environment where it will be 

12  accepted that there will be young girls having sex with older 

13  men, sometimes much older men.  And it will be accepted that 

14  the boys are to grow up in that belief that they will one day 

15  be adult men having sex with young children. 

16      Q.   So on the supposition by the Department that in the 

17  future this may happen, these other four hundred children 

18  should not be with their families? 

19      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

20                MS. HENNINGTON:  Your Honor, I'd pass the 

21  witness. 

22                THE COURT:  Thank you. 
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23                All right.  I'm going to hear from one ad litem. 

24  Ms. Motl is recognized. 

25                MS. MOTL:  Thank you, Your Honor.
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1                THE COURT:  I've recognized Ms. Motl.  Are you an 

2  ad litem? 

3                MR. GARCIA:  Yes, I'm an ad litem, Lawrence 

4  Garcia. 

5                THE COURT:  Have a seat.  I've recognized Ms. 

6  Motl. 

7                MS. MOTL:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

8                I'm Terri Motl.  I represent three of the alleged 

9  minors with children, Patricia Steed, Rosemary Johnson and 

10  Josephine Johnson Jessop. 

11                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

12  BY MS. MOTL: 

13      Q.   Ms. Voss, on Thursday April 3rd and Friday April 4th, 

14  did you observe any men from the YFZ Ranch armed or carrying 

15  guns? 

16      A.   No, ma'am. 

17      Q.   Do you have personal knowledge of any guns and 

18  ammunition were removed from the YFZ Ranch? 

19      A.   Only what I was told. 

20      Q.   As a part of your investigation were any of the YFZ 

21  children swabbed for DNA testing? 

22      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

23      Q.   Was that under the authority of CPS? 

24      A.   Yes, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Were there attorney ad litems informed that you were
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1  going to be doing those swabbings? 

2      A.   I believe so. 

3      Q.   And so you had authorization from the attorneys to do 

4  that? 

5                THE COURT:  I would ask you to share your jokes, 

6  but I'm afraid over there.  Just ask your question again, 

7  please. 

8      Q.   (MS. MOTL) So you believe you had authority from their 

9  attorney ad litems to do the swabbing for DNA? 

10      A.   Well, I wasn't in charge of this DNA swabbing.  That 

11  was not only for criminal purposes, but also for our purposes, 

12  Child Protective Services.  And my understanding is that 

13  attorney ad litems at some point were notified. 

14      Q.   So the CPS, the Department, did not actually do the 

15  swabbings? 

16      A.   No, ma'am. 

17      Q.   What entity did do the swabbing? 

18      A.   I'm not sure about that.  I -- I don't know. 

19      Q.   Have you been informed of any results from any DNA 

20  testing? 

21      A.   No, ma'am. 

22      Q.   Do you know how many of our children were swabbed for 

23  DNA? 

24      A.   No, ma'am. 

25      Q.   Do you know who will have that information?
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1      A.   No, ma'am. 

2      Q.   During your interviews with the children, either at 

3  the ranch or at the civic center in Eldorado, or at the 

4  coliseum or the pavilion or Fort Concho, wherever you conducted 

5  your observations and interviews, did you personally observe 

6  any behavior of a parent who did -- did identify themselves as 

7  a parent with their child to be inappropriate? 

8      A.   You know what sticks in my mind is, again, the event 

9  with Merrill Jessop on the cell phone.  I've never experienced 

10  anything like that with a room full of mothers who I've 

11  informed their children are coming with me and they're very 

12  upset, they're crying, they're saying, no, they are not going 

13  to allow that. 

14                But once he spoke, they became very cooperative. 

15  I have never seen something like that before. 

16      Q.   Other than that one incident, then, when you observed 

17  a -- a female who admitted to having a child and this is my 

18  child, whether we know if it truly is or not, did you observe 

19  any inappropriate behavior between that mother and supposed 

20  child? 

21      A.   No, ma'am. 

22      Q.   Do -- do the ones you have observed, are they showing 

23  adequate love and affection toward the one they say is their 

24  child? 

25      A.   Yes, ma'am.
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1      Q.   Ms. Voss, I'm really not sure about the Department's 

2  position right now.  And it may be really too early for you to 

3  say the real position, but you've got pleadings on what you're 
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4  alleging at this time. 

5                Do I understand you today to say, after Ms. 

6  Hennington's questions, that it's your position or the 

7  Department's position that you cannot recommend working up any 

8  safety plan with any parent for any one of these children out 

9  at the YFZ Ranch? 

10      A.   Not at this time, no, ma'am. 

11                MS. MOTL:  Nothing further, Your Honor.  I pass 

12  the witness. 

13                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, may other ad 

14  litems have the opportunity to be heard? 

15                THE COURT:  Hang on guys.  Give me a chance.  No, 

16  now it's the respondent's turn.  Mr. Stout. 

17                MR. STOUT:  Judge, I would like to make one 

18  statement on behalf of Ms. Dusek and myself. 

19                THE COURT:  Okay. 

20                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, we were not notified of 

21  any DNA swabbing as ad litems for all of the children, except 

22  for about six children that Ms. Dusek was notified and six 

23  women.  She notified each of those parties they didn't have to 

24  do it if they didn't want to. 

25                THE COURT:  Okay.  Now -- now, we're letting --
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1  I'm going to get to y'all, or a few of you. 

2                Mr. Hawkins, this is your chance. 

3                MR. HAWKINS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Then we're going to go over to the 

5  auditorium.  Don't jump in yet.  We'll get there in a second. 

6                MR. HAWKINS:  My name is Kirk Hawkins.  I'm the 
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7  attorney for Pauline Barlow -- 

8                THE COURT:  Mr. Hawkins, mumble up. 

9                MR. HAWKINS:  Okay.  Yes, ma'am.  I'm the 

10  attorney for Pauline Barlow, Dianabel Barlow and Megan Jessop. 

11                May I approach?  I need -- I would like to see 

12  Exhibit 3 and the last exhibit that was entered. 

13                THE COURT:  Exhibit 3? 

14                MR. HAWKINS:  Exhibit 3.  And the last one, the 

15  chart.  Thank you. 

16                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

17  BY MR. HAWKINS: 

18      Q.   Okay.  Ms. Voss, at the -- on the back page here. 

19                THE COURT:  Lean into the microphone, Kirk. 

20      Q.   (MR. HAWKINS) On the back page, the third page, very 

21  top, you listed -- 

22                THE COURT:  Of Exhibit 26, sir? 

23                MR. HAWKINS:  Yes, ma'am, of Exhibit 26. 

24      Q.   (MR. HAWKINS) And you changed the date to 199 -- 

25  1990 -- from November 28th, 1989 to 1990; is that correct?
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1      A.   Yes, sir. 

2      Q.   And I believe that in State's Exhibit 3 -- 

3                MR. HAWKINS:  May I approach, Your Honor? 

4                THE COURT:  All right. 

5                MR. HAWKINS:  Which is on Sarah Johnson. 

6                THE COURT:  Mr. Hawkins. 

7                MR. HAWKINS.   I'm sorry. 

8      Q.   (MR. HAWKINS) Exhibit 3 is for Sarah Johnson; is that 

9  correct?  And what is the date of birth on that exhibit? 
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10      A.   It says 11/28/89. 

11      Q.   And that Sarah Johnson, is that -- 

12                THE COURT:  Mr. Hawkins -- 

13                MR. HAWKINS:  Sorry. 

14                THE COURT:  -- get by a microphone. 

15      Q.   (MR. HAWKINS) And that's the same Sarah Johnson that 

16  is listed on the number one on the last page of Exhibit 26; is 

17  that right? 

18      A.   I believe it was. 

19      Q.   Okay.  Now, wasn't Sarah -- this Sarah Johnson, the 

20  one that y'all believed that was really the Sarah Jessop that 

21  had made the phone call? 

22      A.   I believe at one point the Texas Rangers focused on 

23  her, and then excluded her, yes, sir. 

24      Q.   Okay.  And that's after they took her and interrogated 

25  her overnight, right?
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1      A.   I don't know what occurred, but they've excluded her. 

2      Q.   And when you asked to see a Sarah Jessop who was 

3  sixteen, had a child, and was, I believe, the affidavit said 

4  she was also pregnant at the time with her next child and was 

5  married to a Dale Barlow, you were told -- or told by the men 

6  there that there was -- that person wasn't there; is that 

7  right? 

8      A.   I was told there were no Sarahs at all on the ranch. 

9      Q.   But there is not a Sarah that you've found that 

10  matched that description? 

11      A.   No, sir, not yet. 

12      Q.   Now you talked about -- I think the affidavit's also 
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13  mentioned seeing other young ladies that appeared to be minors 

14  who were pregnant; is that correct? 

15      A.   Yes, sir. 

16      Q.   And I believe according to the charts you found one 

17  that was under seventeen -- I mean, that was under eighteen 

18  that was pregnant, is that correct, one sixteen year old?  On 

19  the first page. 

20      A.   One minor that is pregnant and four minors that 

21  already have children, yes. 

22      Q.   Already have children, but the affidavits talk about 

23  several of them that appear to be too young? 

24      A.   Yes, sir. 

25      Q.   And were pregnant?
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1      A.   Yes, sir. 

2      Q.   As a general rule, don't these -- don't these people 

3  as a whole look younger than what they may really be? 

4      A.   I couldn't speak to that. 

5      Q.   Is it true that some have had identification that 

6  indicated that they were adults, but that the Department has 

7  unilaterally just ignored or counted as a forgery or not 

8  accurate? 

9      A.   I wouldn't say that the Department ignored their 

10  identification.  I certainly took the information off of it. 

11  But when you have a person that appears to be in her teens and 

12  is reporting she's in her late twenties with an identification 

13  that gives her a date of birth it makes her in her late 

14  twenties, yes, we did make the decision to treat her as a 

15  juvenile. 
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16      Q.   Well, and one of my clients was twenty and I saw her 

17  the first time I went out.  Next time she was on the disputed 

18  list saying that she was -- they thought she was a minor. 

19                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am? 

20                MS. DUSEK:  Your Honor, I would just simply ask 

21  for clarification.  I believe earlier in the day the Court 

22  requested -- and this is Carmen Dusek for the record. 

23                The Court requested that all attorneys not only 

24  identify themselves, but identify who they represent.  No 

25  appearance that has been provided to me by Mr. Hawkins
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1  regarding who his clients are, and I'm now confused.  He's 

2  referencing clients and I don't know who he represents, Your 

3  Honor. 

4                MR. HAWKINS:  I apologize.  I faxed my list to 

5  CPS last week and I filed answers and appearances.  I'm sorry. 

6                THE COURT:  Mr. Hawkins, just tell me who it is, 

7  say it loudly, so they can hear you. 

8      Q.   (MR. HAWKINS) On Mabel -- Mabel Jessop.  She indicated 

9  her birthday, she was twenty years old.  She has an 

10  eleven-month-old child.  And yet she was put -- later on put on 

11  the disputed list.  And I wasn't allowed to see her.  And 

12  that's just because she looked younger; is that right? 

13      A.   I don't know that person. 

14      Q.   Okay.  Wouldn't it be fair to say that all these 

15  children appear to be healthy? 

16      A.   There are some that have some, you know, 

17  childhood-type illnesses, but, yes, overall. 

18      Q.   Overall healthy.  Do they seem to be, except for 
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19  the -- well under the circumstances, probably not happy, but do 

20  they seem to be well bonded with their mothers that you've been 

21  able -- 

22      A.   I think so, yes. 

23      Q.   Okay.  Would it be fair to say that these people look 

24  younger than a lot of others because of the kind of lifestyle 

25  they live?  It's peaceful.
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1                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor. 

2                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am? 

3                MS. GRIFFITH:  Calls for speculation. 

4                THE COURT:  Sustained.  Mr. Hawkins, let's focus 

5  on the testimony of this witness and meeting the burden or 

6  rebutting the burden if the State's met it. 

7      Q.   MR. HAWKINS:  How many -- how many adults did you 

8  discuss their religious beliefs with? 

9                THE COURT:  I'm sorry, Mr. Hawkins, and that is 

10  relevant because of what? 

11                MR. HAWKINS:  Because of her testimony earlier 

12  about she talked to adults, she talked to expressing their -- 

13  their beliefs about marriage at any time and creating 

14  children. 

15      Q.   (MR. HAWKINS) How -- approximately how many adults did 

16  you speak with? 

17      A.   Throughout the investigation?  Maybe fifteen or 

18  twenty. 

19      Q.   Okay.  And did -- did all of them express that same 

20  view? 

21      A.   What they express is that they feel they've done 
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22  nothing wrong. 

23      Q.   Would it be possible that the families -- that each 

24  family unit has different dynamics?  Some families may not 

25  believe in allowing their children to be married at an early
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1  age, others may still adhere to that idea? 

2      A.   I don't think so, no. 

3      Q.   So you've talked to just a few, and you've gotten that 

4  impression you've applied that to the whole? 

5      A.   Myself, I've talked to just a few.  And during the 

6  investigation several others have been visited with.  And also 

7  in my -- you know, my contacts and discussions with the 

8  experts. 

9      Q.   Now, you also mentioned the Sarah Johnson in your 

10  discussion with the girls that night of April 3rd and early 

11  morning on April 4th and they mentioned Sarah Johnson, said she 

12  was sixteen with a child.  And obviously that wasn't accurate, 

13  because we've looked at Exhibit 3.  It shows that her birthday 

14  was in '89.  She was eighteen then, and she did have a child; 

15  is that right? 

16      A.   Well, again, we were dealing with Sarah Elizabeth 

17  Johnson, Sarah Steed, Sarah -- Sarah Bell, we had identified 

18  several Sarahs.  So you're asking me, specifically, about the 

19  interview with Sarah Elizabeth Johnson? 

20      Q.   No, not with her, with the other girl, I believe you 

21  said maybe she was number nine, that told you that Sarah was 

22  sixteen and had a child. 

23      A.   The girl did say that, yes. 

24      Q.   Okay.  And she was wrong.  There was only one Sarah 
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25  Johnson.
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1                MS. SLOAN:  Your Honor? 

2                THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Yes, ma'am? 

3                MS. SLOAN:  Objection.  As counsel for Ms. 

4  Johnson, I'm going to object to the relevance of this attorney 

5  who doesn't represent Ms. Johnson questioning further about Ms. 

6  Johnson's age.  That is something that is in dispute and that 

7  is going to have to get, as the Court knows, worked out down 

8  the road.  So I'm going to object on relevance grounds.  And I 

9  also think that he's mischaracterizing the witness's testimony. 

10                THE COURT:  The Court remembers the testimony. 

11  And I sustain the objection as to relevance.  Thank you. 

12                MR. HAWKINS:  Your Honor I pass the witness. 

13                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Hawkins. 

14                At the auditorium, and -- and, sir, in the brown 

15  suit, you're first on my list for ad litems when we come back 

16  over here.  But we are not going to have everybody ask 

17  questions, guys.  I like to work late, and I don't really get 

18  hungry, but, you know, this is kind of in your hands on this. 

19                Yes, ma'am, tell me who you are. 

20                MS. KEENUM:  Yes, Your Honor.  My name is Deborah 

21  Keenum.  I represent Martha Steed with the birthday of 

22  September 24th, 2000.  I have been asked to ask and question on 

23  behalf of some of the attorney ad litems here to Ms. Voss. 

24 

25
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1                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

2  BY MS. KEENUM: 

3      Q.   My question is, do you have any knowledge, based on 

4  the medical exams that were -- that took place once the 

5  child --  children were taken into custody, whether or not 

6  there were any broken bones, injuries or malnutrition, anything 

7  related to the care of those children at the ranch? 

8      A.   Yes, ma'am.  There were some suspected broken bones 

9  and some confirmed breaks. 

10      Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  And I also have a point of 

11  clarification, and it's related to the last item that was 

12  entered in as an exhibit.  But we didn't hear what exhibit 

13  number that was.  It is your list.  I believe it's 26.  It was 

14  the list that you prepared of the names of females who 

15  potentially were under age at the time that they conceived 

16  and/or had a child. 

17                Specifically I would like to refer you to page 

18  two.  And the clarification I'm seeking is related to the entry 

19  for Louisa Jessop Steed, date of birth 4/4/86.  It says she was 

20  interviewed by Tina Martinez.  Would that have happened at the 

21  ranch here or who is Tina Martinez? 

22      A.   I supervised Tina Martinez.  And let me look through 

23  the notes I made and I can tell you when she was interviewed. 

24                (Inaudible discussions at city hall.) 

25                MS. KEENUM:  Your Honor, I've been informed by
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1  my counsel that I was not supposed to identify any person on 
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2  that list.  So if that's the case, then I would withdraw my 

3  question. 

4                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Anymore questions? 

5                Do we have another ad litem or -- yes, sir. 

6                MR. SUTHERLAND:  Your Honor, my name's Richard 

7  Sutherland.  I'm in case number 2902.  I represent two 

8  children, Patricia Barlow, whose birth date is December 15th, 

9  2005, and Nephi Jessop, whose birth date is June 28th, 1998. 

10                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

11  BY MR. SUTHERLAND: 

12      Q.   Ms. Voss, have you or your department identified any 

13  male as a biological father who was seventeen years of age or 

14  younger at the time of conception of any child? 

15      A.   No, sir, I don't believe so. 

16      Q.   Have you or your department identified any male who 

17  was seventeen years of age or younger and who engaged in sexual 

18  intercourse with a girl seventeen years of age or younger? 

19      A.   I don't know.  I don't think -- I don't know. 

20      Q.   Have you or your department, or can you or your 

21  department, identify which household or households have the 

22  person who has abused or neglected another child in a manner 

23  that caused serious injury to or the death of the other child? 

24      A.   Yes, sir. 

25                THE COURT:  Next -- her answer was "yes, sir."
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1  Do you have another question, sir? 

2                MR. SUTHERLAND:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  I didn't 

3  hear her answer. 

4                THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir. 
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5                THE COURT:  The answer was "yes." 

6      Q.   (MR. SUTHERLAND) How many -- how many households have 

7  you so identified? 

8      A.   Sir, at this point each parent is held responsible for 

9  the sexual abuse concerns or possible physical abuse to their 

10  children. 

11      Q.   I'm asking you how many households are you -- is your 

12  answer that each parent is responsible for and viewed as being 

13  in charge of a single household for all four hundred children? 

14      A.   No, sir.  Each parent individually is responsible for 

15  their children. 

16      Q.   All right.  And can you tell me, then, how many 

17  parents that you have identified who have been involved in the 

18  abuse or neglect of another child in a manner that caused 

19  serious injury to or death of the other child? 

20      A.   No, sir. 

21                MR. SUTHERLAND::  Thank you, Judge.  No further 

22  questions. 

23                THE COURT:  Now, I've already picked up an ad 

24  litem over here. 

25                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge.
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1                THE COURT:  Yes, Sheri? 

2                DISTRICT CLERK:  We have three additional 

3  attorney ad litems over here that would like to speak -- 

4  actually four now. 

5                THE COURT:  Okay.  It's a growing problem. 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:  One respondent attorney. 

7                THE COURT:  We need to focus on the standard that 

Page 270



4-17-08 
8  the Legislature has set and the issues related to a 14-day 

9  hearing.  This is not a total discovery case.  That is not 

10  what this is.  It's not a formal deposition of the witnesses. 

11  Let's try to remember that and resist that temptation. 

12                Let's try to focus on what I'm required to 

13  consider for this 14-day hearing.  If you-all can do that, this 

14  might actually move along a little bit.  I don't want to cut 

15  any of you-all off, but you're developing a lot of information 

16  that may be relevant sometime down the road, but is not 

17  relevant for the Court to consider at a 14-day hearing. 

18                So get your Family Codes out, read them.  Now you 

19  have someone over there that wants to address something that is 

20  relevant for the Court to decide in a 14-day hearing. 

21                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Judge, I have an 

22  objection. (Inaudible). 

23                THE COURT:  Your objection to the Court? 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  To the Court's belief 

25  that the prior ad litem's question is not in the Code.  It's
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1  Subsection D, Subsection 1 of 262.201. 

2                THE COURT:  I didn't say this was, did I?  I just 

3  ask everyone in the future to do it.  I didn't overrule his 

4  question, did I?  I sure didn't mean to. 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Only there was no 

6  insinuation, the prior ad litem had no right to ask the 

7  questions -- 

8                THE COURT:  I didn't say that.  If y'all took it 

9  that way -- I'm just asking future ad litems to keep in mind 

10  where we need to go.  I do not want to do that. 
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11                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Thank you. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you.  I have someone here at 

13  the podium over at the city auditorium.  We're going to do 

14  that.  Then when I come back here, there's a fellow, and I have 

15  forgotten your name, but your arm's in a sling, so you're the 

16  next one up.  Come stand at the rail. 

17                Yes, sir.  Go ahead at the city auditorium. 

18                MR. BALE:  Thank you.  Your Honor. 

19                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

20  BY MR. BALE: 

21      Q.   Ms. Voss, my name is Larry Bale.  I represent, first, 

22  Versaree Ann Barlow with a date of birth August 26th, 2003.  I 

23  believe your testimony is you are familiar with the standard 

24  this Court is looking at in this hearing today; is that 

25  correct?
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1      A.   Yes, sir. 

2      Q.   I believe the reasons, as I wrote them down, you gave 

3  for taking these children were that they follow their religion 

4  with respect to following the advice of their prophet as far as 

5  marrying at whatever age is appropriate, is felt by the 

6  prophet; that these parents were giving false information about 

7  dates of birth of their children and the parents of their 

8  children; and I believe that was pretty much it, unless I 

9  missed something.  Is there anything else that you testified to 

10  that I do not recall at this time? 

11      A.   I just want it to be clear, it's not about religion. 

12  It's about child abuse. 

13      Q.   I believe the issue is, is there a continuing danger 
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14  to the physical health or safety of a child?  My child is 

15  four-and-a-half years old.  My obligation is to meet with that 

16  child and meet with her parents, if I can.  I met with her 

17  parents and I met with her father yesterday.  Her father's 

18  Donald Robert Barlow.  He advised me that he had birth 

19  certificates for -- 

20                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor. 

21                THE COURT:  Wait.  Mr. Bale, hang on.  I know 

22  you can't see it, but there's an objection over here. 

23                Oh, somebody's phone.  Mine now. 

24                Well, we've been making lots of long distance 

25  phone calls.  It will help us.
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1                Yes, ma'am, your objection? 

2                MS. GRIFFITH:  I don't hear a question, Your 

3  Honor. 

4                THE COURT:  Oh, speaking question?  Could you 

5  just sharpen it up as a question, Mr. Bale? 

6                MR. BALE:  Yes, ma'am.  I'll do it as quick as I 

7  can. 

8      Q.   (MR. BALE) Donald Robert Barlow advised me he had 

9  birth certificates for his four children. 

10                MR. BALE:  Your Honor, I would ask you to show 

11  Ms. Voss the petition filed in cause number 2902 on April 4, 

12  2007, and in the order signed by this Court in cause number 

13  2902 on April 7, 2008. 

14                THE COURT:  For what purpose, Mr. Bale? 

15                MR. BALE:  The petition lists approximately 

16  eighty children, Your Honor, whose names are listed, but their 
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17  dates of birth are unknown, their parents are unknown, except 

18  for my child and her three siblings.  Their -- her parents and 

19  those three siblings parents are listed by first, middle and 

20  last names of the parents, dates of birth, places of birth. 

21                I suspect that may have come from the birth 

22  certificates that were taken from these parents for those four 

23  children.  Otherwise, I don't see why, of the eighty children 

24  listed in this petition, those four children are the only ones 

25  listed by parents, dates of birth, and places of birth.
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1                So my question is, is Ms. Voss absolutely certain 

2  she did not give or the officers who executed those warrants 

3  did not get the birth certificates for Versaree Ann Barlow? 

4                If one of the standards for taking the child was 

5  the parents did not disclose who the child was born to, or the 

6  date of birth, yet they had the birth certificate for this 

7  child, Your Honor, I believe this child, perhaps, should be 

8  released. 

9                So my question is, it's Ms. Voss -- 

10                THE COURT:  You -- we've been waiting for the 

11  question, sir. 

12                MR. BALE:  -- she does not have -- 

13                THE COURT:  The question is? 

14      Q.   (MR. BALE) Is Ms. Voss absolutely certain CPS does not 

15  have a birth certificate for Versaree Ann Barlow, date of birth 

16  August 26th, 2003? 

17      A.   Sir, I do not know if we have that date of birth or 

18  that birth certificate. 

19      Q.   If you have that birth certificate and if the parents 
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20  have been truthful about the child, where she was born, when 

21  she was born, and who she was born to, and if they testify 

22  there has been no abuse in that household, would your 

23  recommendation be that this child be returned to their parents? 

24      A.   No, sir. 

25      Q.   At what age is a four-year-old child indoctrinated
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1  into this religion where they are then in the immediate danger 

2  of becoming whatever it is that you're afraid of they're going 

3  to become in ten or eleven years? 

4      A.   Sir, I couldn't answer that question. 

5      Q.   What about a two-year-old?  Are they in immediate 

6  danger of being inducted into this religion? 

7      A.   It's -- it's just like any other investigation, that 

8  when you find one child that's a victim in a home, you have 

9  concerns for all of them.  And the ranch is considered one 

10  large home, one large community.  I would have concerns for any 

11  children there. 

12      Q.   What about a six-month-old child? 

13      A.   Any children, sir. 

14                THE COURT:  Yes, Ms. Dusek? 

15                MS. DUSEK:  Objection.  Asked and answered, Your 

16  Honor.  It's also not relevant to the issue before the Court 

17  today. 

18      Q.   (MR. BALE) And do you believe that's the standard this 

19  court should go by then, Ms. Voss? 

20                THE COURT:  You know, just so that -- and I'm 

21  sure that there's someone will correct me if they think I'm 

22  wrong.  But I really think that what y'all's duty is to give me 
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23  the evidence that I need so I can make the decision. 

24                I really don't think there's any witness that's 

25  going to come on the witness stand that's going to tell the
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1  Court what the law is or what the Court's duty is. 

2                So if that's the line of questions -- and if I'm 

3  wrong, y'all tell me.  But if that's the line of questions you 

4  want to develop, you're not giving me information I need. 

5  You're, within limits, going to be allowed to do that.  But I 

6  really want y'all to look at Rule 611 where it says the Court 

7  does have the right to kind of control some of these 

8  questioning and how we're going. 

9                I really want to make sure everybody gets a 

10  question or questions that are meaningful that will help me. 

11                With that in mind, Mr. Bale, your question. 

12                MR. BALE:  May I rephrase the question, Your 

13  Honor? 

14      Q.   (MR. BALE) If Versaree Ann Barlow's parents have a 

15  valid birth certificate for her and there is no evidence of 

16  abuse in her household, is that the standard the Court will 

17  look to to consider releasing the child to her parents at the 

18  conclusion of this hearing? 

19                THE COURT:  Mr. Bale, this witness would not 

20  presume to tell you what the standard is this Court will use. 

21  I don't think that's a proper question. 

22                Do you have another question? 

23                MR. BALE:  That's all, Your Honor. 

24                THE COURT:  Now we're going to come back over 

25  here.  And I told a fellow that he can ask a question, if he
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1  wants.  If you don't want to, you don't have to. 

2                Thank you.  Yes, sir, that -- you're the one that 

3  I've been trying to recognize. 

4                MR. GARCIA:  Lawrence Garcia, Your Honor.  I 

5  represent Sterling Johnson.  He was born on 4/11/07. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MR. GARCIA: 

8      Q.   Ma'am, you have a background in psychology; is that 

9  correct? 

10      A.   Yes, sir. 

11      Q.   And you are aware that removing a child from a parent 

12  can be very emotionally traumatic to the child? 

13      A.   Absolutely, yes, sir. 

14      Q.   And can provide a -- a serious emotional damage to 

15  that child? 

16      A.   It can. 

17      Q.   You have seen these moms with those young children; is 

18  that correct? 

19      A.   Some, yes, sir. 

20      Q.   And do you not have the concern that some of these 

21  children, should they be removed from these moms, are going to 

22  suffer emotionally, physical or emotional trauma? 

23      A.   Any time I'm involved in any case where a child's 

24  removed from their parent, I'm concerned for them, yes, sir. 

25      Q.   And you don't feel that there's some kind of safety
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1  plan that could allow you to have some level of protection and 

2  put the -- just some of the children, I'm only talking at this 

3  point about the infant boys, you -- you don't think there's a 

4  way you could put the infant boys back into this situation with 

5  strong monitoring? 

6      A.   The Department's recommendation at this point is to 

7  give us time to make that consideration to determine if the 

8  parents or if these moms are going to be protective and are 

9  going to be safe for even their infant children. 

10                MR. GARCIA:  Thank you, Judge. 

11                THE COURT:  We're going to take -- 

12                MR. TABET:  I know... (Inaudible.) 

13                THE COURT:  You know, just because you stand up, 

14  you don't have a right to talk. 

15                MR. TABET:  I'm sorry. 

16                THE COURT:  I will recognize you.  Now, thank 

17  you. 

18                Yes, sir, you in the yellow tie, you may come 

19  forward.  I've asked you-all repeatedly if you want to be 

20  recognized to form a line at the bar.  No more than two people 

21  at a time.  And I'm going to tell you, I'm going to take about 

22  four more questioners, and then we're going to look at whether 

23  or not you-all are really introducing any new evidence.  And 

24  we'll decide whether or not I'm going to take anymore stuff. 

25                Now, there's someone over at the city hall, and
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1  I'm not ignoring you, but we just had a questioner from there. 

2  It's their turn over here. 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, Your Honor. 
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4                THE COURT:  Please, sir. 

5                MR. JARVIS:  Yes, Your Honor. 

6                My name is Billy Britt Jarvis.  I represent 

7  Ammon Steed, 2903, 11/11/90; Brandon Steed, 2902, 4/23/90; 

8  Leslie Steed, 2875, 6/15/90; Samson Jessop, 5/10/91, 2902; Levi 

9  Steed, 12/27/92, 2876. 

10                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

11  BY MR. JARVIS: 

12      Q.   What is the number of boys that were taken? 

13      A.   Sir, I don't know. 

14      Q.   Okay.  I do not have any type of good numbers, but the 

15  number of girls to boys is tremendously dispaired. 

16      A.   Yes, sir. 

17      Q.   Do you have any information that shows why this has 

18  occurred? 

19      A.   I can only guess.  I do not know. 

20      Q.   What were the boys' activities at the compound -- at 

21  the ranch? 

22      A.   Sir, I -- I don't know what all of them did.  I know 

23  what some, if they were school age, go to school.  But I 

24  don't -- do you mean like chores in the home or -- 

25      Q.   Or the cheese factory?
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1      A.   The cheese factory, in the garden or -- 

2                THE COURT:  Louder, please. 

3      Q.   (MR. JARVIS) Tell me, the older boys, the fifteen 

4  through seventeen, what were they doing, what were -- what 

5  activities did they have? 

6                MS. HEIL:  Your Honor, we have objections that 
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7  I've been asked to stand for and say we object.  I object. 

8  Patricia Heil, attorney ad litem.  Object to the relevance of 

9  this line of questioning about what activities of the boys have 

10  to do with this hearing as to whether they should be returned 

11  to the parents. 

12                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Sustained.  Next line of 

13  questions. 

14                MR. JARVIS:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

15                THE COURT:  You're welcome. 

16                Ms. Sloan? 

17                MS. SLOAN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I will be 

18  very brief. 

19                THE COURT:  Promise? 

20                MS. SLOAN:  I promise, I really will. 

21                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

22  BY MS. SLOAN: 

23      Q.   I just -- I just feel, Ms. Voss, like I need to 

24  follow-up on one of the questions that Ms. Motl asked on behalf 

25  of all of the girls who are minors with children.
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1                And I think you told Ms. Motl that right now the 

2  Department's taking a position that -- or what is the -- with 

3  that group in particular, what is the Department's current 

4  position with respect to minor mothers? 

5      A.   The Department wants to maintain custody of minor 

6  mothers and their children.  If we can find placements for them 

7  together, that would be a most appropriate, helpful thing. 

8      Q.   What are the Department's current plans with respect 

9  to attempting to separate the legal rights of the minor mothers 
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10  from their children? 

11      A.   I don't think I can answer that at this juncture. 

12  It's a 14-day hearing.  It's temporary orders that we're 

13  asking for. 

14      Q.   Okay.  So what is the Department's position with 

15  respect to whether or not the minor mothers are victims or 

16  perpetrators? 

17      A.   In -- in my investigation, at this point, I see them 

18  as both. 

19      Q.   Okay.  Can you give me a little more explanation about 

20  that? 

21      A.   I think it's clear regarding the concern that they're 

22  a victim.  My concern regarding them being possibly unsafe, 

23  unprotected parents is that they have been raised and they are 

24  raising their children in -- in the belief that it will be okay 

25  for their young children, also, to have -- have babies when
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1  they're at just adolescence. 

2      Q.   If the Department attempts to exercise a right to 

3  remove these minor children from their parents by terminating 

4  those rights, would those minor children be able to return to 

5  the ranch if their right -- if the minor children have their 

6  rights terminated from their -- 

7                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor. 

8                THE COURT:  Wait.  Yes, ma'am. 

9                MS. SLOAN:  It's a hypothetical. 

10                THE COURT:  Now, wait.  I -- I'm not sure that 

11  that has anything to do with a 14-day hearing.  We're talking 

12  about termination and that's -- so that y'all understand, 
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13  termination is not on the table today, guys.  That's just not 

14  an issue.  May be, may not be. 

15                MS. SLOAN:  Okay. 

16                THE COURT:  Anything else? 

17      Q.   (MS. SLOAN) So for now, in the event that the Court 

18  decides to keep all the children in custody, is it the 

19  Department's position that you will try to keep the babies with 

20  the minors? 

21      A.   I'm not -- I don't play a role in the placement.  But 

22  that is always the hope, yes. 

23                THE COURT:  All right.  You've been very, very 

24  patient, but I've got this lady here.  We're going to give her 

25  a couple of shots, okay?  This -- you're --
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1                MS. LOCK:  Just one shot, Judge. 

2                THE COURT:  Your two best questions. 

3                MS. LOCK:  I'm sorry.  My name is -- okay.  My 

4  name is Paula Lock.  I represent James Steed, born 11/25/05 

5  under cause number 2902. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MS. LOCK: 

8      Q.   Ms. Voss, you made a glancing reference to children 

9  being kept in their rooms and deprived of meals.  What did you 

10  learn about that and did that cause you concern? 

11      A.   Yes, it has caused me concern.  Children reporting 

12  that, as a form of punishment, they are kept in their rooms and 

13  if it -- if they are in trouble and it's a mealtime, they 

14  aren't allowed to eat. 

15      Q.   Did you learn whether this was over an extended period 
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16  of time or repeated meals or was it just a fairly isolated 

17  situation? 

18      A.   I don't have any more clarification than that. 

19      Q.   Okay.  So that wasn't a major factor in the removal of 

20  the children? 

21      A.   No, ma'am, it was -- no, it was just information 

22  gathered. 

23                MS. LOCK:  Thank you. 

24                THE COURT:  All right.  At the auditorium, do we 

25  have another one?  And we're going to try this with just give
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1  us your two best questions. 

2                Yes, sir. 

3                MR. GREGG:  Your Honor, my name is Tom Gregg. 

4  I'm attorney ad litem for Ezra Barlow, a child under four years 

5  of age, in cause number 2803. 

6                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

7  BY MR. GREGG: 

8      Q.   Ms. Voss, I'd like to direct your attention to Exhibit 

9  Number 26.  I just need to clarify a couple of things. 

10                The very last item, did you say on page three -- 

11  did you say you deleted that because that person is -- you had 

12  the wrong date of birth? 

13      A.   No, sir.  On -- on the last person on the chart, I 

14  miscalculated.  She would have just become an adult when she 

15  had her child. 

16      Q.   All right.  If you'd look at page two, the second item 

17  from the top is -- is that not the same person? 

18      A.   It could be.  I specifically remember this -- this 
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19  person, because the first time she -- this person is listed on 

20  the chart, that is the name she was going by.  And so when we 

21  went back to talk to her, she gave the name that I wrote at the 

22  bottom, the last entry. 

23      Q.   All right.  Well, is -- is 2/26/87, are you satisfied 

24  that is her -- her date of birth? 

25      A.   I -- I can't be sure.
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1      Q.   All right.  (Inaudible)... my -- client is my client, 

2  Ezra.  In -- in that -- in section you give his date of birth 

3  as 6/16/04.  And in the entry that you deleted, you gave it as 

4  6/17/04.  You know which is correct? 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection, Your Honor. 

6                THE COURT:  Yes.  There's an objection, Mr. 

7  Gregg, as to the relevance of this.  Your concern is they've 

8  missed the birthday by one day? 

9                MR. GREGG:  Well, it's relevant as to the 

10  accuracy of this chart. 

11                THE COURT:  I understand your point.  Do you have 

12  another question, Mr. Gregg? 

13                MR. GREGG:  No.  No, ma'am. 

14                THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  Thank you.  All 

15  right. 

16                We've taken two.  We'll take over here and we're 

17  going to have your two best questions. 

18                MS. FLANIGAN:  Your Honor, my name is Rebecca 

19  Flanigan.  I represent four of the respondent-mothers, Carlene 

20  Jessop, Faithann Jessop, Loretta Jessop and Kathryn Jeffs. 

21                         CROSS EXAMINATION 
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22  BY MS. FLANIGAN: 

23      Q.   Ms. Voss -- 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Louder. 

25                THE COURT:  You need to lean into the microphone
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1  for me.  They can't hear you in the back. 

2      Q.   (MS. FLANIGAN) Striking language that dictates what 

3  findings the Court would have to make, were the Court to rule 

4  that the children should remain in the Department's care, I 

5  would ask you, taking notes of the four clients that I 

6  represent, who are not teenage mothers, who don't have teenage 

7  children, who one, in fact, is in her thirties and has a 

8  two-year-old.  As to my clients, Ms. Voss, would you please 

9  identify to the Court what evidence you have or are aware of 

10  indicating that my client's children were in immediate danger 

11  that necessitated their immediate removal from their home, 

12  which danger the Department alleges continues today? 

13      A.   I think that -- 

14                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection, Your Honor. 

15  Asked and answered. 

16                THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am, I think I've answered 

17  that. 

18                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  Let the lawyers make 

19  the objections. 

20                THE WITNESS:  Sorry. 

21                THE COURT:  Whoever said that, sustained.  I -- I 

22  understand your point, but she did -- 

23                MS. FLANIGAN:  Your Honor, in all the exhibits 

24  that have been admitted to the Court, none of them involve my 

Page 285



4-17-08 

25  clients or their children.  None of the Department's pleadings
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1  address my clients or their children. 

2                With all respect, Your Honor, I don't think 

3  anyone has addressed my clients who are ostensibly before the 

4  Court, because they're detained at the coliseum with their 

5  children.  So with all respect, I don't believe the Department 

6  has asked and answered my question. 

7                THE COURT:  Okay. 

8                MS. FLANIGAN:  Has been asked. 

9                THE COURT:  Thank you.  Let me understand, did I 

10  hear you say that -- that -- your clients are clearly named in 

11  the petition somewhere, right? 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No. 

13                MS. FLANIGAN:  No, Your Honor.  My firm 

14  represents forty-six mothers, most of whom -- excuse me, a good 

15  many of whom -- the names or the names of their children do not 

16  appear in any of the suits filed by CPS. 

17                THE COURT:  Could they be under the unknown 

18  children names? 

19                MS. FLANIGAN:  Not if you rely on the partial 

20  names and dates of birth and other identifying -- there's first 

21  names listed in the attachment to the 330 suit.  There's -- 

22  there's unknown babies listed by age, none of which match my 

23  client's children.  So, no, Your Honor. 

24                THE COURT:  But currently the Department is the 

25  temporary managing conservator of your client's children?
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1                MS. FLANIGAN:  I don't -- I don't mean to argue 

2  with the Court, Your Honor, but I don't see how this suit 

3  applies to my client, since they aren't included in the suit, 

4  haven't been served with notice of the suit, the order issued 

5  by the Court doesn't address my client or their children, so I 

6  don't understand how, again, with all respect, Your Honor, my 

7  clients are affected.  Nevertheless they're detained at the 

8  coliseum. 

9                THE COURT:  That's what I'm trying to get at. 

10  They are detained? 

11                MS. FLANIGAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

12                THE COURT:  I didn't understand your question to 

13  be going to their detention.  I thought you asked a different 

14  question. 

15                MS. FLANIGAN:  (Inaudible.) 

16                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  We have two problems we 

17  need -- we need to address.  If your client's children are over 

18  there and they're not listed anywhere, we need to figure out 

19  how that's going to be addressed.  And that's probably a 

20  procedural issue that we need to address. 

21                MS. FLANIGAN:  Yes, Your Honor.  For the Court's 

22  edification, we have filed applications for Writs of Habeas 

23  Corpus. 

24                THE COURT:  Okay.  Thanks for edifying me.  Now, 

25  how do you plan for us to take care of that today?  What can I
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1  do for you today? 
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2                MS. FLANIGAN:  Your Honor, I'm present before the 

3  Court, because my clients are involved in this lawsuit, even 

4  though not by name, but as a matter of practice.  The Court 

5  directed counsel, and the two questions were permitted -- 

6                THE COURT:  I've obviously expanded that. 

7                MS. FLANIGAN:  -- to address the -- to address 

8  Your Honor's statutory burden under the Code. 

9                And so I'm directing this witness to answer the 

10  questions that pertain to my client, that are part of the 

11  findings that the Court would have to include in its order 

12  retaining possession of the children, or having the Department 

13  retain possession of the children. 

14                THE COURT:  All right. 

15                MS. FLANIGAN:  I appreciate the global necessity, 

16  Your Honor. 

17                THE COURT:  And -- and trust me when I say this. 

18  I really mean it.  I'm delighted that you stepped forward to 

19  bring this to the Court's attention.  This has been a fear the 

20  Court has had since we got started in this, is that we had 

21  folks that were not identified, that were not brought to the 

22  Court so that I knew that they were there. 

23                You were doing exactly what you should do as the 

24  lawyer.  If I implied any other way, I apologize.  What I don't 

25  know, exactly the procedure that should be taken.  One thing
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1  that comes to my mind, so that we're clear that your clients 

2  are here, so that I can make whatever ruling is appropriate, 

3  would be a trial amendment on behalf of the Department to add 

4  them in. 
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5                Now, that is one -- one way.  And I wouldn't 

6  suggest that.  I can't take up your writ here right now.  I 

7  don't -- I don't have your -- a writ for the children before me 

8  right now.  I will set it.  But I want to make one thing very, 

9  very clear.  There is no mother at the coliseum or at the Wells 

10  Fargo that is an adult that everyone agrees is an adult that is 

11  detained.  They are free to go. 

12                The Department has said they may stay and provide 

13  care for their children, should they choose.  So your clients, 

14  the mothers, are not being held by this Court.  Now you look 

15  like you want to respond, so go ahead. 

16                MS. FLANIGAN:  It'll get me in trouble, Your 

17  Honor, so I won't. 

18                THE COURT:  No, no. 

19                MS. FLANIGAN:  I'm supposed to tell the mother of 

20  my two-year-old she's free to go, the two-year-old gets to 

21  stay.  That's detention, Your Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  I'm sorry? 

23                MS. FLANIGAN:  That -- my client's being 

24  detained.  That's the practical effect of it. 

25                (Applause in courtroom.)
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1                THE COURT:  Well, the side effect, and were this 

2  an individual case, it is oftentimes the practice of the 

3  Department to not allow the continued contact of any of the 

4  parents when they remove them.  That solves the problem of 

5  parents being detained without a court order, which you have 

6  just said is a problem. 

7                Would you like for me to instruct the Department 
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8  that, unless they have an order, they should get voluntary 

9  releases from any of the women out there because I -- I will be 

10  the first person to tell you, I will not hold someone against 

11  their will if they're an adult.  And if you want to take the 

12  position that these women are being held by this Court, I want 

13  you to go tell them they can leave.  If they want to stay, 

14  they're going to have to sign something saying they want to 

15  stay. 

16                MS. FLANIGAN:  Your Honor, a good many of our 

17  objections, which have to do with real fundamental stuff, the 

18  Court has indicated it'll take up at the -- at -- when the 

19  State rests.  And a good many of our concerns, which include 

20  why we even have to be here today, are addressed in the motions 

21  that are pending before this Court, that the Court will get to 

22  in due course, as we've been assured. 

23                It's really difficult, Your Honor, to work under 

24  these circumstances when you don't have things, like access to 

25  your client, notice to your client, clients who haven't been
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1  served with anything, but they and their children are in 

2  detention. 

3                It's difficult to work under those circumstances. 

4  And I appreciate the burden on the Court, Your Honor, but I 

5  represent parents who have children who are not a part, at all, 

6  in any way, of any of the global -- of the global allegations. 

7  If the Department is focusing its case on underaged marriages 

8  and teenage pregnancies, none of that applies to my clients. 

9  And the Court, despite the global approach in resolving this 

10  case, has to apply individual attention -- 
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11                THE COURT:  Absolutely. 

12                MS. FLANIGAN:  -- to the Department's burden of 

13  proof against -- that they have for my clients and my client's 

14  children. 

15                That's what I'm trying to get at.  I've used up 

16  too much of the Court's time.  I have no more questions of the 

17  witness. 

18                THE COURT:  Ma'am, it's the Court's time -- it's 

19  my job to hear this case and to give every party a fair 

20  hearing.  And that's what I'm trying to do. 

21                MS. FLANIGAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

22                THE COURT:  And I need y'all's help to do it. 

23  And I've tried to impose some structure to this free-for-all. 

24                MS. FLANIGAN:  Yes, Your Honor. 

25                THE COURT:  And emotions are on the very edge for
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1  the parties, for the attorneys, for the children, for the 

2  caseworkers.  In a perfect world, I could have had one child or 

3  one family before me today.  Can you tell me how I can live 

4  with the 14-day hearing statutory requirement and do that? 

5                MS. FLANIGAN:  It would get me in trouble, Your 

6  Honor, so no. 

7                THE COURT:  Go for it. 

8                MS. FLANIGAN:  I wouldn't have, after the fact, 

9  orders issued by the Court that would provide for 

10  after-the-fact approval of children on the basis of evidence 

11  which has yet to be alleged, much less established to the 

12  Court. 

13                THE COURT:  Well, I'm not going to agree with 
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14  necessarily what you've said.  Anything else? 

15                MS. FLANIGAN:  No, Your Honor. 

16                THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Fuller. 

17                MR. FULLER:  My name is Ken Fuller.  I represent 

18  Benjamin Nielsen, Fredrick Merrill, (Inaudible) and -- pardon 

19  me, David Steed and Isaac David Steed. 

20                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

21  BY MR. FULLER: 

22      Q.   Ms. Voss, let's you and I try to help the Judge. 

23                THE COURT:  Thank you. 

24      Q.   (MR. FULLER) She has asked us for something specific. 

25  In order to offer her something specific, I have a couple of
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1  points I want to clear up.  And once we do that, I think that's 

2  where the rubber meets the road. 

3                Now I want to clarify one point for openers. 

4  You're acquainted with the petition that's filed in this case 

5  and the supporting affidavit, I would assume, since your 

6  department, I suppose, supplied the information for this; is 

7  that correct? 

8      A.   (Nodded head.) 

9      Q.   You're -- you're familiar, not -- not in detail, but 

10  generally with the allegations that are made in this petition 

11  and in this affidavit? 

12      A.   Yes, sir. 

13      Q.   All right.  In both the affidavit and in paragraph, I 

14  believe it's number eight of the petition, you folks have told 

15  this Judge and told these people out here and these lawyers 

16  that you did -- you considered everything else possible and you 
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17  did everything possible other than ask for removal.  Are we in 

18  agreement on that? 

19      A.   If that's what paragraph eight says, yes, sir. 

20      Q.   And what -- that's what the paper says, isn't it? 

21  Shall I read it to you? 

22      A.   No, sir, I believe you. 

23      Q.   You believe me, don't you, that you said you 

24  considered everything else, other than this removal? 

25                Now, I want you to tell me everything else that
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1  you considered doing prior to asking that Judge to go out there 

2  without a hearing, without any due process, and have the police 

3  go out to back you up -- 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  Object. 

5      Q.   -- and attach those children.  Now what did you do? 

6                THE COURT:  I think there's an objection. 

7                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor.  The 

8  standard of a 14-day hearing is not that the Department prove 

9  every possible thing that could possibly be done, but only 

10  reasonable efforts were made to keep the children in the home. 

11                MR. FULLER:  Very well, I'll reform the question. 

12                THE COURT:  He's going to rephrase his question. 

13      Q.   (MR. FULLER) Tell me all the reasonable things that 

14  you did to keep from having to go out there and take these 

15  children out of their home and move them out and put them over 

16  here at the coliseum and wherever else you did.  I want to know 

17  what else you did. 

18                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection.  Asked and 

19  answered. 
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20                THE COURT:  I'll allow him to answer the 

21  question.  Thank you for the objection, though. 

22                THE WITNESS:  Sir, when we went to the ranch and 

23  were interviewing children we discovered more information than 

24  we could have possibly imagined about the care of those 

25  children and others there.
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1                And we asked then that the children that were 

2  removed were taken initially for interview.  And that's what 

3  we -- 

4      Q.   (MR. FULLER) Okay.  You're done interviewing now, 

5  right? 

6      A.   Yes.  So during more interviewing, became clear more 

7  concerns.  So is your question what -- 

8      Q.   I want to know what you -- 

9      A.   -- we did to address? 

10      Q.   -- did, what you considered doing rather than the 

11  death penalty, move them.  That's -- supposedly that's the last 

12  thing we're supposed to consider.  What else did you consider 

13  doing? 

14      A.   Sir, I was at the ranch working under a team of people 

15  that were advising me how to act and where to direct my 

16  attention.  And what I found when I was there at the ranch was, 

17  yes, a global concern for the children there -- 

18      Q.   Now, wait a minute.  I believe you're the supervisor, 

19  aren't you? 

20      A.   I am a supervisor, yes, sir. 

21      Q.   So I assume by that, you're the one that made this 

22  decision? 
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23      A.   No, sir. 

24      Q.   Oh, who made it? 

25      A.   With the information I provided my program director,
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1  my program administrator, our regional director and I believe 

2  several persons from our State office came. 

3      Q.   So nobody made this decision other than "they," that's 

4  what you're telling me? 

5                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection, Your Honor, this is 

6  argumentative. 

7                THE COURT:  The objections's:  argumentative. 

8  Mr. Fuller, get -- please. 

9                MR. FULLER:  Very well.  I'll move on.  I'll 

10  withdraw that question. 

11      Q.   (MR. FULLER) Now then, let me ask you this.  I believe 

12  you're taking the position, are you not, that because there are 

13  some underaged marriages out there, or purported marriages 

14  might be a better word, that that constitutes sexual abuse of 

15  these two-, three-, four-month, two-year-old children, is 

16  that -- is that your position? 

17      A.   Sir, the Department is required -- 

18      Q.   No, you, not the Department.  I'm asking you. 

19      A.   Okay.  My -- my requirements are to assess risks to 

20  children, not just incident based, what did happen, but risk. 

21      Q.   Tell me this, then.  Let's say you hadn't moved them 

22  that night, and that you had a hearing first.  And let's say it 

23  even took -- say it took a month to get a hearing.  What 

24  irreparable harm would have happened to those children if we'd 

25  have had a hearing first to see whether or not this was done?
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1                MS. GRIFFITH:  Objection. 

2      Q.   For instance, let's take my client. 

3                THE COURT:  Wait.  Wait.  She's got -- yes, 

4  ma'am? 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, there's an 

6  objection. 

7                THE COURT:  All right.  I -- I understand there's 

8  probably lots of objections.  We're going to recognize the one 

9  for the Department, then we'll see if we want to -- if you-all 

10  need to object. 

11                You need to come over here so they can hear 

12  you. 

13                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, the standard for 

14  removal is not irreparable harm.  The standard at this hearing 

15  is not irreparable harm.  The standard at this hearing is 

16  whether or not there was an immediate danger that justified the 

17  removal of the children.  And there has been sufficient 

18  questions, answers and testimony on that issue, therefore, the 

19  question is not relevant. 

20                THE COURT:  All right.  Wait.  Wait.  More 

21  objections from the city hall? 

22                MR. FOSTER:  Your Honor, my name is Steven 

23  Foster.  I represent Mr. Abram Jeffs, two-year-old boy.  And my 

24  objection is to relevance.  I don't know if the Department did 

25  a good or bad job, but right now I have a very specific...
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1  (inaudible).  And I don't think this line of questioning is 

2  relevant. 

3                THE COURT:  How is it, your line of questioning, 

4  about things, facts that have already occurred, actions that 

5  they've already done, how does that get to today? 

6                MR. FULLER:  Well, Judge, it's my understanding 

7  that they're taking the position that that's a continuum and, 

8  therefore, it still exists and they're using the very same 

9  reasoning saying:  We shouldn't send them back.  And I think 

10  it's very, very relevant. 

11                THE COURT:  If you will phrase it in the 

12  continuing part, that -- that I can understand. 

13                MR. FULLER:  Very well, Judge. 

14                THE COURT:  You know, Monday morning 

15  quarterbacking is going to happen a lot.  But let's try to stay 

16  on this. 

17                MR. FULLER:  Granted.  It's late and we're all 

18  tired.  I'll try to move along. 

19                THE COURT:  I didn't say move along. 

20      Q.   (MR. FULLER) What harm do you think will have 

21  resulted, if any, to these children if, rather than removing 

22  them, we'd had a hearing first? 

23                THE COURT:  Mr. Fuller. 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Objection, asked and 

25  answered.
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1                MR. FULLER:  May I finish my question? 

2                THE COURT:  Let me -- let me just make sure that 

3  I understand.  We -- your question is:  What harm would have 
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4  happened had we had a hearing?  Is that anything -- 

5                MR. FULLER:  What harm would have happened if we 

6  hadn't removed them and we had this hearing first. 

7                THE COURT:  What does that have to do with where 

8  we are today? 

9                MR. FULLER:  What it has to do is this.  They're 

10  -- they're taking the position, as I understand it, that what 

11  the conditions were then is what should prevent them from going 

12  back now. 

13                Now if they've got another reason, I would like 

14  to hear about it.  I've been here all day listening and that's 

15  all I've heard. 

16      Q.   (MR. FULLER) Why -- why should they not go back now? 

17  Let's make it simple.  Why should they not go back now? 

18      A.   As I'd said before, I'd be concerned for any child in 

19  that environment.  I think we just discovered the tip of the 

20  iceberg.  And I think that it is too soon for any children to 

21  ever be reunited there right now.  We just don't know enough 

22  information to clearly indicate that these parents would be 

23  safe. 

24      Q.   Okay.  Because -- because you don't have enough 

25  information, you think they should not go back, is that what I
 

330 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  hear you say? 

2      A.   No, sir, we have enough information to determine that 

3  there is abuse and there is neglect and there is emotional 

4  concerns for these children while they're there at the ranch. 

5      Q.   Now let's clarify what we're talking about when we're 

6  talking about abuse.  If I understood you correctly, your 
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7  version of what sexual abuse is, insofar as my four-year-old 

8  client, is that the underaged sex is taking place and underage 

9  marriage is taking place and that, you say, is harmful to my 

10  four year old. 

11                THE COURT:  I -- wait.  Wait.  I see an objection 

12  in the background.  Yes, ma'am? 

13                MS. BEATY:  I have an objection, Your Honor. 

14  The -- Mary Ann Beaty, representing Lisa Bar- -- Lisa Marie 

15  Barlow in 2902.  And the objection that I'm raising, with 

16  regards for the purpose of the hearing, in determining whether 

17  there is a continuing danger to the physical health of, and 

18  safety of the children, under 262.202 (d) -- subpart D and part 

19  2, whether or not that the household to which the children 

20  would be returned would include someone who has sexually abused 

21  another child. 

22                THE COURT:  The household issue. 

23                MS. BEATY:  The household issue. 

24                THE COURT:  All right.  That's -- that's an 

25  objection.  Do I have anybody else that wants -- and -- that
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1  wants to comment?  You've been very patient and very polite. 

2  Do you want to make an objection or do you want to ask 

3  questions? 

4                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I have some questions. 

5                THE COURT:  Okay.  Hang in there. 

6                City hall, do we have objections? 

7                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No, I have a question. 

8                THE COURT:  Hang in there. 

9                Mr. Fuller, tell me how it is that this issue of 
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10  household and neglect in the statutory definition of abuse and 

11  neglect, how is it that that doesn't apply in this situation? 

12                MR. FULLER:  Well, let me address this as far as 

13  my client's concerned. 

14                THE COURT:  I'm -- it says household, which is -- 

15  is really a global, broad, but chosen by the Legislature. 

16                MR. FULLER:  Chosen by the Legislature? 

17                THE COURT:  It's in the statute.  They write this 

18  stuff. 

19                MR. FULLER:  I -- I understand.  And they also, 

20  in the statute -- 

21                THE COURT:  Don't get started on that. 

22                MR. FULLER:  -- this -- they say also that you 

23  should try everything else before you take the removal, too. 

24  So if we're going to rely on front legs, let's -- let's give 

25  them the whole book. (sic)  Now --
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1                THE COURT:  Mr. Fuller, I plan to give them the 

2  whole book.  Can you tell me how, if the allegation is from 

3  what she has said and the objection is, is that under the 

4  definition of neglect and abuse, if neglect and abuse is going 

5  on as to one child in the household, then the Department is 

6  justified by exercising its position of removal of the children 

7  for the protection of all the children, because one child is 

8  being abused or neglected and the adults in that household are 

9  allowing that to happen. 

10                MR. FULLER:  Judge, I will justify it in this 

11  respect.  That I can't believe that the Court, in its wisdom, 

12  believes -- 
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13                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor. 

14                THE COURT:  Sir? 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, that's 

16  argument. 

17                THE COURT:  Argument?  No, not tonight. 

18                Mr. Fuller. 

19                MR. FULLER:  I can't believe that the Court, in 

20  its wisdom, can believe that because some member of a household 

21  of, say, thirty-odd people, I gather is a good round number to 

22  use, is married to an underaged person, that that is sufficient 

23  danger to justify ripping a child from its mother's arms and 

24  giving it to someone else. 

25                Now, Your Honor, if you do, that's your
 

333 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  prerogative. 

2                THE COURT:  Now, you are kind of getting into 

3  argument.  And I'm sure I'm going to get lots of that when we 

4  finish putting on evidence.  But, you know, that's just it; 

5  the State hasn't -- or the Department hasn't finished putting 

6  on evidence.  This is our third witness, I think. 

7                MR. FULLER:  Your Honor, let me -- 

8                THE COURT:  And I'm really going to ask you -- 

9                MR. FULLER:  Let me help this along. 

10                THE COURT:  You did that thirty -- 

11                MR. FULLER:  I am not -- 

12                THE COURT:  -- minutes ago. 

13                MR. FULLER:  I'm not -- I'm not taking the 

14  position that the Department can't.  I'm taking the position 

15  that the Department should. 
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16                THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Fuller -- 

17                MR. FULLER:  It doesn't -- 

18                THE COURT:  -- you've gone to argument.  Have a 

19  seat. 

20                MR. FULLER:  Thank you. 

21                THE COURT:  Now, Mr. Edwards. 

22                MR. EDWARDS:  Ma'am? 

23                THE COURT:  I know that as a gentleman you would 

24  never stand in the way of a lady that's trying to ask a 

25  question and who has been extremely polite.
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1                MR. EDWARDS:  Your Honor, that's absolutely 

2  correct.  I rise simply to make the Court aware that I would 

3  like a chance to cross examine.  The respondents weren't 

4  through.  I know there's a lot more -- 

5                THE COURT:  There's lots and there's a line 

6  that's forming.  Have a seat and get in line. 

7                MR. EDWARDS:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                MS. NUGENT:  Laura Nugent, Your Honor, 

9  representing Rose Richter and Marilyn Keate, case number 2902. 

10  Ms. Voss -- 

11                THE COURT:  Wait a minute.  The one person that 

12  controls the whole system, my Court Reporter, says she wants a 

13  break.  We're in recess. 

14                (Recess.) 

15                THE COURT:  While everybody's being seated, 

16  everybody's cued up and we're going to take numbers.  I 

17  personally am happy to work till midnight, but my staff has 

18  told me that that's probably unreasonable.  Go figure. 
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19                We have made arrangements for the parish hall at 

20  Emmanuel Episcopal.  And I'm not real sure where the parish 

21  hall is exactly over there.  Ms. Dusek. 

22                MS. DUSEK:  It is -- Emmanuel Episcopal is where 

23  we've had lunch for the attorney ad litems.  For people that 

24  have not been over there today, it is this beautiful old 

25  court -- old church that's built out of our original courthouse
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1  bricks, directly across the street, directly west of this 

2  courthouse.  You will actually go to the parish hall, which is 

3  on the west side of that facility.  There's a covered drive 

4  area and that's where you will enter the parish hall for what 

5  Judge Walther is talking about. 

6                THE COURT:  Carmen, I've been told that not 

7  everybody understands west or east.  Tell them right or left. 

8                (Multiple people talking at once.) 

9                MS. CARMEN:  I'm sorry.  I don't know.  It's 

10  called the great room. 

11                THE COURT:  Okay.  The Department is going to 

12  make copies of the exhibits that were 5 through 8 and 9 through 

13  25. (sic)  Are there other documents that you might anticipate 

14  giving out or having admitted that you could make copies of 

15  tomorrow for them?  Not saying I'm admitting them, but just let 

16  them have copies of them. 

17                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, as far as documents, I 

18  believe we have offered everything that we know of at this 

19  moment. 

20                THE COURT:  Splendid.  This is the game plan. 

21  You-all are to go home, take -- leave a list of the lawyers 
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22  standing in line here and the list of the lawyers over there. 

23  You're to go home and eat -- yes, ma'am. 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I just have one thing 

25  that I need to bring up before we go home.  One -- one thing,
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1  real quick. 

2                THE COURT:  Okay. 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I have a three-year-old 

4  girl who is at the coliseum who has not seen her mom, because 

5  her mom just happened to not be there when everybody -- 

6                DISTRICT CLERK:  Your Honor, we cannot hear. 

7                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  And I know that this 

8  mom -- 

9                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge, we can't hear. 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  -- is here -- 

11                THE COURT:  Okay.  Sheri, this doesn't really 

12  apply.  It's a particular individual case. 

13                So you're trying to make sure that the mother of 

14  this three-year-old child -- 

15                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Can at least go -- in 

16  case there's not a removal, this child has -- has seen all 

17  these kids now for all this time with their moms.  And this mom 

18  has tried to get in and be with her child and she can't get in 

19  there.  And I'm just asking that my three-year-old get her mom 

20  back and be able to spend the night with her and go back -- 

21  just get into the coliseum and be with her. 

22                THE COURT:  So you want me to add another adult 

23  to my detention list? 

24                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes.  She is very 
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25  willing.  I actually spoke to the mom yesterday and she's been
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1  trying to get to her child.  And I just feel awful that this 

2  three-year-old has no -- 

3                THE COURT:  Just so that you're sure that she's a 

4  voluntary surrender. 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor -- 

6                THE COURT:  Just -- guys, now really, I know 

7  we're tired and y'all have been wonderfully good sports.  And 

8  I'm proud of every one of you. 

9                I'm going to let you -- this is something CPS can 

10  work with.  It's really not something that -- you stay.  You 

11  stay.  We'll take care of you. 

12                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  You promise?  Because CPS 

13  told me they wouldn't work with me, so I'm asking the Court. 

14  I've already tried that route. 

15                THE COURT:  You stay.  Your mother should stay. 

16  Somebody from CPS will stay. 

17                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I have -- 

18                THE COURT:  You stay. 

19                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor. 

20                THE COURT:  Yes, sir? 

21                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I have a mother of the 

22  child, (inaudible) but hasn't seen her in several weeks. 

23                THE COURT:  Now, wait.  Wait.  Wait.  Wait.  All 

24  right.  We're going to do this, because it will have -- and it 

25  will pertain to those of you over there.  Can you hear me over
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1  there, Sheri? 

2                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Judge. 

3                THE COURT:  If you have a mother that is the 

4  mother of a child that is under four that is being currently 

5  housed at the coliseum or at the Wells Fargo pavilion, and your 

6  mother has not seen that child, and that mother is willing to 

7  take up residence in those buildings, I'm not saying that it's 

8  going to be ordered, but you should stay and we'll visit. 

9  Okay? 

10                Mr. Butler, you have a mother that you're 

11  representing? 

12                MR. BUTLER:  I do not have a mother. 

13                THE COURT:  Yes, you do have a mother, but not 

14  that you're representing. 

15                MR. BUTLER:  I would like to point out to the 

16  Court, I believe that it may be possible, there are some 

17  mothers present who do not have counsel that may have the same 

18  situation. 

19                THE COURT:  Mr. Butler, I know y'all think I 

20  probably can't get through my checklist.  And y'all have done a 

21  really good job of keeping me from doing that today. 

22                First announcement, there are going to be 

23  documents available for those of you that want to look at 

24  documents.  They will be available at 7:30.  I am taking the 

25  bench at 9:30.  You figure out how long you need to stay, but
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1  the church is going to run you out at -- 
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2                MS. DUSEK:  9:00, Your Honor. 

3                THE COURT:  At 9:00.  So thirty minutes to go 

4  across the street over here, guys.  That's it.  And over to the 

5  auditorium, if necessary. 

6                That takes care of the documents.  So that you 

7  don't lose your place in line, Sharon, can you get a piece of 

8  paper and have these folks sign their names on -- on lists so 

9  you will be first up. 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  I'm -- 

11                THE COURT:  Just wait a second.  Sheri, you need 

12  a list over there of people that are going to speak. 

13                Yes, Ms. Dusek? 

14                MS. DUSEK:  With regard to in the morning, may I 

15  approach? 

16                THE COURT:  Now, wait a minute.  I want to make 

17  it clear to everybody that this is not an ad litem only 

18  document.  It applies to the respondents' lawyers -- lawyers. 

19  If you are here and do not have a lawyer as a respondent, you 

20  have a couple of choices.  You should have received this 

21  morning a copy of the lawyer referral number.  You may also, I 

22  am under the impression, contact the legal aid folks.  Is there 

23  a place that I should announce that these folks should meet 

24  you-all? 

25                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Your Honor, I can leave
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1  you a telephone number to our San Angelo office. 

2                THE COURT:  Telephone numbers? 

3                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes. 

4                THE COURT:  How about you take up residence on 
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5  the front steps out here and write down names and numbers when 

6  they leave. 

7                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, ma'am. 

8                THE COURT:  Do you-all have someone over at the 

9  city auditorium, as well? 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  Yes, ma'am. 

11                THE COURT:  Sheri, if we have any -- 

12                DISTRICT CLERK:  Yes, Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  If we have any respondents over 

14  there, parent-respondents that do not have a lawyer, and they 

15  are seeking to have a lawyer, someone over there that is with 

16  the legal aid services will volunteer there to stand in the 

17  foyer and take their names and talk to them about that.  Okay. 

18                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge, may -- we have another 

19  question that's been asked. 

20                THE COURT:  Okay. 

21                DISTRICT CLERK:  The local attorneys want to know 

22  if there's going to be additional hearings for divorce court 

23  tomorrow and things like that, not that you're doing them, of 

24  course. 

25                THE COURT:  Yes, there will be the regular
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1  court's docket being held in other courtrooms.  However, I'm 

2  not stopping the rest of this for them to go to another deal. 

3  This is a hearing that is ongoing.  If there's a lawyer that 

4  they're having trouble getting continuances on that's not in 

5  this courtroom, and not in this case, I suspect that they can 

6  see the Judge that's been designated to hear those orders 

7  tomorrow, which would be -- Judge Woodward will be a good 
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8  person to deal with tomorrow.  And that will be one of the 

9  things to do by 9:00 tomorrow, because by 9:30 we're starting 

10  in here. 

11                Now, wait just one second.  Sheri, let him say -- 

12  Yes, Carmen? 

13                MS. DUSEK:  I just want to make sure everyone's 

14  clear.  We've had -- the attorneys ad litem for the children 

15  have been over at Emmanuel Episcopal having breakfast and lunch 

16  today.  This is a no food provided.  And I believe the church 

17  would appreciate it if people didn't bring food in.  It's just 

18  to go look at the documents, Your Honor. 

19                THE COURT:  We have imposed on the hospitality of 

20  the church.  Please, folks, remember that.  Clean-up after 

21  yourselves.  Don't leave your cover fee cups.  You do not want 

22  the good sisters of the alter guild over there visiting with 

23  you.  They make my bailiffs look tame.  They're serious enough 

24  they've only agreed to do this if I provide them security. 

25  That concerns me.  They don't think you're going to behave
 

342 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  well.  Please teach those folks that we can treat each other 

2  nicely. 

3                Now -- 

4                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge, just one more comment 

5  that Mr. Lewis would like to make. 

6                THE COURT:  Okay. 

7                MR. LEWIS:  Judge, I'm Vernon Lewis with legal -- 

8  with Legal Aid of Northwest Texas.  And with regard to -- in 

9  regard to the Court's request earlier that Legal Aid stand 

10  outside and get the names of the respondents, Legal Aid is 
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11  representing mothers in these actions and, Your Honor, I feel 

12  that that would create conflicts of interest if we were to 

13  undertake representations of the fathers, as well. 

14                THE COURT:  Very good point.  I will remind 

15  everyone that under the rules of 14-day hearings, often lawyers 

16  are not available for the parents.  If you cannot afford to 

17  hire an attorney and you do not fall within one of the 

18  catagories already has an attorney, you should have been given 

19  a form to fill out for you to set out your indigency. 

20                I think that was done.  Wasn't it done, ladies? 

21  It was done.  You should have that in your packet.  The law 

22  does not require that the Court provide you with an attorney at 

23  this hearing.  The lawyers are going over and above -- above 

24  the duties to try to make sure that parties -- contrary to what 

25  some of you may have said today, that parties are given the
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1  opportunity to have representation. 

2                I can't do any more on that guys.  If you can't 

3  get a lawyer, if you don't qualify for West -- for -- Legal Aid 

4  has said that they will provide services.  Please fill out the 

5  information.  I can't promise you I can have one -- in fact, I 

6  can promise you, I cannot have a lawyer for you tomorrow 

7  morning.  But I will, as the law requires, see that you have 

8  one, should I keep your children, before the next hearing. 

9                So please fill out the forms if you have them. 

10  If you're a mother and you do not want West Texas Legal Aid to 

11  provide services for you, and if you qualify, and if you're 

12  indigent, the Court will appoint an attorney. 

13                It should be very clear, you must be indigent 
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14  before the Court can appoint an attorney for you.  Anything 

15  else? 

16                Mr. Hawkins, this better be about room 

17  arrangements for tonight and tomorrow. 

18                MR. HAWKINS:  It is.  That's -- Your Honor, some 

19  of us have clients that are out at the pavilion, out at the 

20  coliseum that we may want to have here tomorrow to be able to 

21  testify.  And our question is:  Will they be allowed to leave 

22  and then go back there?  Are they allowed to leave and come to 

23  the courthouse and then go back? 

24                THE COURT:  Mr. Haralson, are you working for the 

25  Department now?  You're shaking your head yes.
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1                MR. HARALSON:  I'm offering encouragement, Your 

2  Honor. 

3                THE COURT:  I don't need help with my rules. 

4                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor, certainly the 

5  Department is not holding any adults and preventing them from 

6  appearing.  As to whether or not they would be a allowed to 

7  return, we certainly would not want to be accused of not 

8  allowing them to attend a court hearing of this magnitude. 

9                Not conceding, Your Honor, that the arrangement 

10  would continue, certainly for the purposes of a court hearing, 

11  the Department would not take the position that leaving is 

12  abandoning their children. 

13                THE COURT:  If they leave to come to this 

14  hearing, they will be allowed to return? 

15                MS. GRIFFITH:  Yes, ma'am. 

16                THE COURT:  You know, I just want to anticipate 
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17  another question. 

18                MR. HAWKINS:  Yes, ma'am. 

19                THE COURT:  And here it is:  It is not their duty 

20  to bring them, Mr. Hawkins.  If you want your client here, 

21  you're going to have to make arrangements to get your client 

22  here. 

23                MR. HAWKINS:  That's what I understand.  And I'm 

24  wondering if it would be permissible if somehow we can get the 

25  names out there, they can let them walk to the gate, and
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1  someone can pick them up at the front gate and bring them. 

2                THE COURT:  Someone pick them up.  Now who would 

3  that someone be? 

4                MR. HAWKINS:  Probably one of their family 

5  members pick them up and bring them. 

6                THE COURT:  Mr. Hawkins -- 

7                MR. HAWKINS:  Yes. 

8                THE COURT:  This is not something the Court has 

9  to work on. 

10                MR. HAWKINS:  I know. 

11                THE COURT:  Great.  Have a seat. 

12                MS. GRIFFITH:  Your Honor. 

13                THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am? 

14                MS. GRIFFITH:  There may be a security issue in 

15  regards to DPS.  And, of course, I do not represent the DPS, 

16  but in regards to identifying people who leave and then attempt 

17  to come back, I have no control over that, Your Honor.  The 

18  Department is not going to prevent anyone from coming back. 

19                DISTRICT CLERK:  There's nothing being said. 

Page 312



4-17-08 
20                THE COURT:  Okay.  Guys -- 

21                DISTRICT CLERK:  It's just the attorneys talking. 

22                Judge, they're telling me they can't hear over 

23  here.  They're saying they have clients at the coliseum and 

24  they need to hear what these people are saying. 

25                THE COURT:  Right now we're not saying anything.
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1  That's why you can't hear anything. 

2                DISTRICT CLERK:  That's what I said, Judge. 

3                THE COURT:  Mr. Hawkins. 

4                MR. HAWKINS:  Yes, ma'am. 

5                THE COURT:  What is it you want me to do? 

6                MR. HAWKINS  I don't know.  It seems like we've 

7  got a catch twenty-two.  I don't know if we could talk to 

8  whoever out there's in charge, let them give a slip of paper to 

9  the ladies who are going to come -- who are parties to this and 

10  who may be witnesses, allow them to walk to the front gate so 

11  they don't have to clear -- the people coming and getting them 

12  won't have to clear security, and just meet them there, take 

13  them.  And they could bring them back to the front gate. 

14                MR. STOUT:  Your Honor, we made a big effort to 

15  get -- make sure every attorney, and we worked really hard to 

16  get every attorney who wants one an ID, and they have 

17  information.  If the lawyer wants their client, I would suggest 

18  they go there, they pick up their client and they bring them 

19  back. 

20                THE COURT:  I think you-all are in the taxicab 

21  service business.  If the lawyer vouches that this is the 

22  person that they took out and this is the person that they 
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23  brought back in, I -- we will talk with DPS about the security. 

24                Now I understand that there will be some issues 

25  that DPS has about taking it into a secured facility.  And
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1  that's -- it's for the children's sake.  Y'all are going to 

2  have to kind of work with us on this and try to think a little 

3  bit outside the box.  Yes?  What? 

4                MS. MOTL:  Judge -- 

5                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  May I approach, Your 

6  Honor? 

7                THE COURT:  Ms. Motl's got the -- you know, I 

8  never met a bunch of folks that were told they could go home 

9  that just refused to go home. 

10                UNIDENTIFIED ATTORNEY:  No.  Your Honor -- 

11                THE COURT:  If you don't have a problem, you can 

12  go home.  If you need to stay and talk, you can.  We'll stay. 

13                DISTRICT CLERK:  Judge. 

14                THE COURT:  Yes, Sheri.  Yes, Sheri, what is it? 

15                DISTRICT CLERK:  There are some -- 

16                THE COURT:  Now, wait a minute.  Guys.  Ladies 

17  and gentlemen, you may not talk on your way out, because there 

18  are people that still want to see and have relief from the 

19  Court, and you're messing it up.  Go quietly. 

20                If somebody over there needs to talk to me, 

21  Sheri, tell them to have a seat.  We'll get to them. 

22                DISTRICT CLERK:  No, I just wanted to let the 

23  Court know that there are attorneys coming over with some 

24  clients that have children under four, so they want to be 

25  included in that discussion over in the courtroom, if people
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1  are leaving. 

2                MS. MOTL:  And, Judge Walther, my question is 

3  involving the attorney ad litems.  I have been approached by 

4  many of the mothers that are here as respondents tonight that 

5  are wanting to meet with the attorney ad litems for their child 

6  and haven't had an opportunity to do that.  I was out at the 

7  ranch yesterday to meet with the mother of my child and was 

8  denied access to talk to that mother. 

9                I've told the mothers that I -- that they've 

10  asked me and I wasn't representing their child.  So I said we 

11  do have a list and we can get you a name, but procedurally, 

12  Your Honor, when we have four hundred kids and four hundred 

13  attorney ad litems, I don't know all these attorney ad litems 

14  to even point them out. 

15                Procedurally, I've told them they have to -- if 

16  they're represented by an attorney they have to have their 

17  attorney present if they're going to meet with us, if the 

18  attorney wants to be there.  But how can we put the attorney ad 

19  litems with the parents?  That's our duty to talk with them 

20  about our client. 

21                THE COURT:  I have no idea.  What would you 

22  suggest? 

23                MS. MOTL:  I just came up with the question. 

24  Hadn't thought outside the box yet for the answer yet. 

25                THE COURT:  Outside the box.  I mean, I don't
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1  know, Terri, tell me. 

2                MS. MOTL:  I mean, if we're -- if we have certain 

3  areas that we're meeting for the legal aid to talk with parents 

4  who are wanting to sign up, if we could have an area, if you're 

5  an attorney ad litem that you have not talked with your 

6  parents, and the parent wants to talk with you, they haven't 

7  met with an attorney ad litem, that we could meet somewhere 

8  that those ad litems could talk with parents. 

9                THE COURT:  We're not on the record. 

10                (Hearing recessed for the day.) 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25
 

350 

UNCERTIFIED COPY 

1  THE  STATE  OF TEXAS ) 

2  COUNTY OF SCHLEICHER ) 

3 

Page 316



4-17-08 

4       I, Debbie Harris, Official Court Reporter in and for the 

5  51st Judicial District Court of Schleicher County, State of 

6  Texas, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing contains 

7  a true and correct transcription of all portions of evidence 

8  and other proceedings requested to be included in this volume 

9  of the Reporter's Record, in the above styled and numbered 

10  cause, all of which occurred in open court or in chambers and 

11  were reported by me. 

12       I further certify that this Reporter's Record of the 

13  proceedings truly and correctly reflects the exhibits, if any, 

14  admitted by the respective parties. 

15 

16      WITNESS MY OFFICIAL HAND this the __th day of May, 2008. 

17 
______________________________________ 

18                      Debbie Harris, Texas CSR #3879 
Expires December 31, 2008 

19                      Official Court Reporter, 51st District 
Tom Green County, Texas 

20                      112 W. Beauregard 
San Angelo, Texas 76903 

21                      (325) 659-6574 

22 

23 

24 

25
 

Page 317


